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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
The directors are responsible for the maintenance of proper 

accounting records and the preparation, integrity and fair 

presentation of the group annual financial statements 

of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited and its 

subsidiaries. The annual financial statements, presented 

on pages 3 to 108 have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in 

the manner required by the Companies Act in South Africa 

and include amounts based on judgements and estimates 

made by management.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 

responsible for the process of risk management and the 

system of internal financial control established by the group 

and place considerable importance on assessing the control 

environment and addressing any weaknesses should 

they be identified. To enable the directors to meet these 

responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control 

aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective 

manner. These standards include the proper delegation of 

responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 

accounting procedures, adequate segregation of duties and 

focused intervention to identify and correct weaknesses, if so 

identified, to ensure an acceptable level of risk. The controls 

are monitored throughout the group and all employees 

are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 

ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner 

that above reproach. The focus of risk management in the 

group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 

all known forms of risk across the group. Whilst operating 

risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to 

minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 

controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and 

managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

Internal audit provides the board with assurance on the 

group’s system of internal control, and this assurance 

was delivered by an outsourced internal auditor firm who 

provided comfort over the control environment at various 

of the group’s businesses. Management and internal audit 

are responsible for assessing the adequacy of the control 

environment of these entities. The board has considered the 

results of the internal audit reports and takes reliance on the 

systems of internal control based upon the results of these 

reviews. The Consolidated Power Projects business (Conco) 

did not undergo a traditional internal audit assessment. 

Instead “Project Visibility”, a business intervention with a 

focus on ensuring improved effectiveness and addressing 

the financial health on a number of areas including financial 

reporting, governance and control was implemented. 

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the 

financial statements. Refer to note 1 for the assessment 

performed by the directors. The directors believe that the 

group is a going concern in the foreseeable future based on 

forecasts and available cash resources. 

The annual financial statements have been audited by the 

independent accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 

which has been given unrestricted access to all financial 

records and related data, including minutes of all meetings 

of shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the 

board. The directors believe that all representations made 

to the independent auditors during their audit were valid 

and appropriate. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.’s unmodified 

audit report is presented on pages 10 to 15. The annual 

financial statements were prepared by the chief financial 

officer CA(SA) and approved by the board of directors on  

29 November 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

MS Wilkerson RG Gamsu
Chairman  Chief executive officer

29 November 2019
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DECLARATION OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY
For the year ended 31 August 2019, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such 

returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and all such returns are true, correct 

and up to date in respect of the financial year reported on.

G Prestwich 
Company secretary 

29 November 2019
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited (CIG) is an 

infrastructure-focused company listed on the JSE Main 

Board in the ‘Electrical Equipment’ sector. In the year under 

review the group operated through the following reportable 

divisions: Building Materials, which supplies heavy building 

materials to the construction industry; Power, which 

supplies high voltage infrastructure and metering to the 

energy sector; Oil & Gas, which provides waste management 

services for the industrial and natural resources exploration 

sectors; and Rail, which provides maintenance solutions and 

railway electrification.

GROUP RESULTS
The group incurred a loss per share of R3,98 compared with 

a restated F2018* loss of R8,53 (F2018 previously reported 

loss per share of R10,30).

After adjusting for the impairment of goodwill and intangible 

assets, the headline loss per share is R3,66 compared with 

a restated F2018* loss per share of R6,12 (F2018 previously 

reported loss per share of R7,21).

During the year the group successfully concluded a rights 

issue, raising net proceeds of R765 million by issuing  

200 million shares. This resulted in an increase in the 

weighted number of issued shares from 196 million to  

334 million on which the current loss per share is based. 

Group revenue remained largely unchanged at R3,169 million, 

compared with the restated F2018*: revenue of R3,137 million 

(F2018 previously reported revenue of R2,706 million). 

The financial statements on pages 3 to 108 set out fully 

the financial position, results of operations and cash flows 

for the group for the financial year ended 31 August 2019. 

Segmental information as approved by the directors relating 

to the business of the group is set out on note 35.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The group’s performance for the year was materially below 

expectations. 

The results were impacted by a tough macro-economic 

environment with pressure on most of the group’s 

operations, especially in the engineering, procurement and 

construction (EPC) businesses within the Power and Rail 

segments which includes Consolidated Power Projects 

Proprietary Limited (Conco). 

The results were also impacted by impairments to 

unrecoverable work in progress and receivables, mainly 

in the Conco business, as well as impairments to goodwill 

and intangibles and the reassessment of deferred taxation 

assets made in the first half of the financial year. These 

impairments and adjustments did not represent future cash 

outflows and therefore do not impact the group’s liquidity 

forecasts. 

The performance of the group’s CBM segment and Conlog 

business improved in the second half of the financial 

year and continue to show signs of improvement in their 

respective businesses going into calendar year-end.

FINANCIAL POSITION
Included in the statement of financial position is amounts 

due from contracts relating to contract debtors of  

R869,5 million and contracts work in progress of  

R490,0 million (F2018: R815,5 million and R940,1* million 

respectively) and amounts due on contracts in the form of 

advance payments of R168,4 million and amounts due to 

contract customers of R286,7 million (F2018: R255,6 million 

and R501,1* million respectively). These represent a decrease 

over the prior year due to both the decreasing volume of trade 

in the period and as a result of the accounting impairments 

processed in H1 F2019. 

CASH FLOW
The group reports net cash of R98,3 million (F2018:  

R40,7 million) at financial year end. 

Despite the significant operating loss, only R326,4 million of 

cash was utilised in operations due to the non-cash nature of 

a material portion of the losses reported in the year (F2018: 

R38,2* million generated). 

Although still cash positive, the group has limited free cash 

at year end. 

This is mainly due to the funding requirements of Conco, the 

group’s largest business. The group’s free cash was applied 

to fund the following:

• completion of contracts ahead of cash expected to be 

received on final certification on contracts nearing 

completion;

• a change in the group’s working capital cycle following 

a reduction and removal of external credit guarantee 

insurance available to suppliers. This necessitated 

*  Restated for the adoption of certain standards and interpretations which became effective during the current year, in particular the 
adoption of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, the adoption of IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and the correction of 
various errors and reclassifications as reflected on note 25.5.10 
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upfront and advance payments by the group to suppliers 

and shorter credit terms afforded to the group;

• a decreasing order book due to market conditions. This 

resulted in the unwind of the businesses’ working capital; 

and

• an under recovery of overhead costs as a result of lower 

than expected rate of trade.

All the group’s EPC businesses were impacted by the 

removal of credit insurance cover and under recovery of 

overhead costs which has absorbed free cash in the year. 

To address the risk of short-term cash pressure, management 

has prepared budgets for the remaining 2019 year as well 

as 2020 – 2022, as well as a robust liquidity model which 

includes cash flow forecasts covering a minimum period of 

12 months from the date of these financial statements.

Refer to note 1, the going concern note, for detailed disclosure 

on liquidity management and going concern assumptions.

Details on capital expenditure by segment are set out 

on Annexure B of these consolidated annual financial 

statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 
AND ASSOCIATES
The interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements and 

associated companies, are set out on pages on note 14, 15, 

19 and Annexure A of these consolidated annual financial 

statements.

STATED CAPITAL
The movements in the number of shares during the year 

under review are summarised in the note 23 of this group 

annual financial statements.

The authorised and issued share capital is as follows:

AUTHORISED

600 million no par value shares (F2018: 600 million) (F2017: 

300 million).

ISSUED

402 091 069 ordinary shares of no par value (F2018:  

202 091 069) (F2017: 202 091 069).

On Tuesday, 4 December 2018, the Company declared its 

intention to undertake a non-renounceable rights offer, fully 

underwritten by Fairfax Africa Investments Proprietary to 

Qualifying CIG Shareholders, as defined in a Rights Offer 

circular dated Wednesday, 12 December 2018, to raise  

R800 million.

The Rights Offer consisted of an offer of 200 million new 

ordinary CIG shares issued in the ratio of 1,01958098 

Rights Offer Shares for every 1 ordinary CIG share held on 

the record date for the Rights Offer, at a subscription price 

of R4,00 per Rights Offer Share. Following the rights offer 

R800 million in proceeds was raised with 10,5% of the rights 

offer uptake by existing CIG shareholders and 89,5% Rights 

Offer uptake by Fairfax Africa Investments Proprietary.

All shares have been fully paid up. 5 932 055 shares (F2018: 

5 932 055) (F2017 6 093 900) are held as treasury stock in 

terms of the trust deeds.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
Other than the authorisation to repurchase shares, approval 

of non-executive directors’ remuneration and authority 

to provide financial support to subsidiary companies, 

no special resolutions relating to the capital structure, 

borrowing powers or any other material matter that affects 

the understanding of the group were passed.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties to the group are identified as the group’s 

directors and prescribed officers, subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and associates. Disclosure of transactions with these parties 

during the year is provided on note 33 of the group annual 

financial statements.

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
Details of shareholder categories are set out on Annexure C 

of these annual financial statements. 

DIVIDEND DECLARATION
No dividend was declared in the year. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued

DIRECTORS 
Name Designation Change in directorship in the current financial year 

F Boner Outgoing chairman of the board Resigned 30 January 2019

K Bucknor Independent non-executive director

A Darko Independent non-executive director Resigned 30 January 2019

A Dixon Independent non-executive director Resigned 30 January 2019

K Ojah Independent non-executive director Resigned 30 January 2019

M Wilkerson Chairman of the board Appointed 30 January 2019

J Beck Independent non-executive director Appointed 30 January 2019

C Hess Independent non-executive director Appointed 30 January 2019

Resigned 15 November 2019

R Hogarth Lead independent non-executive director Appointed 1 August 2018

T Hudson Non-executive director Appointed 1 August 2018

K Kariuki Independent non-executive director

A Mazar Non-executive director Appointed 30 January 2019

Q McLean Non-executive director Appointed 30 January 2019

S Melnick Non-executive director Appointed 30 January 2019

J Nwokedi Independent non-executive director

R Gamsu Chief executive officer

I Klitzner Outgoing chief financial officer Resigned 6 November 2018

S Jelley Interim chief financial officer Appointed 7 November 2018

Resigned 1 April 2019

C Teixeira Chief financial officer Appointed 2 April 2019

Further information on the directors, including their interest 

in the shares of the company and share-based remuneration 

schemes are provided in Annexure C and note 6 of the 

annual financial statements.

No contracts in which the directors share an interest were 

entered into.

Appointments to the board are recommended by the 

nominations committee and considered by the board as a 

whole. This involves evaluating the existing balance of skills 

and experience against the needs of the group.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
At 31 August 2018, the number of ordinary shares held 

beneficially and non-beneficially by the current directors 

was 9 352 894 and 66 636 703 shares respectively. There 

has been no material change in their holdings between the 

year end and the date of this report. Refer to Annexure C 

in the annual financial statements for additional disclosure.

BORROWING POWERS
In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, the company 

has unlimited borrowing powers. The revised memorandum 

of incorporation was approved by the shareholders at a 

general meeting of the shareholders held on 29 August 2018.

GOING CONCERN
The directors believe that the group has adequate financial 

resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable 

future and accordingly, the annual financial statements 

have been prepared on a going concern basis. Refer to note 

1 in the annual financial statements for the going concern 

assessment. The board is not aware of any new material 

changes that may adversely impact the group. 

The board is not aware of any material non-compliance 

with statutory or regulatory requirements. The board is not 

aware of any pending changes in legislation in any of the 

major countries in which it operates that may affect the 

group. Refer to going concern note 1 for detailed disclosure 

on liquidity management and going concern assumptions.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
On 5 December 2019 the group announced that it had entered 

into various agreements with Wearne Aggregates Proprietary 

Limited to purchase the latter’s quarry business, property and 

mining rights for an aggregate compensation of R50 million.

Negotiations with the group’s lenders referred to under 

borrowings are ongoing.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Details of the group’s share option schemes are set out on 

note 36.
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BORROWINGS
The group maintains the following interest-bearing borrowings: 

R’000 F2019 F2018

Secured loan bearing interest at rates ranging from 3% to 12% 848 865 887 243

Unsecured loans bearing interest at rates ranging from 10% to 11% 928 402 928 402

Instalment sales 25 871 32 894

1 803 138 1 848 539

Current liabilities 1 409 714 939 687

Non-current liabilities 393 424 908 852

1 803 138 1 848 539

Board of directors is pleased to announce that it and Conco 

are in the process of finalising binding legal agreements 

for the restructure of portion of this interest-bearing debt, 

which agreements will be subject to normal conditions 

precedent. It is anticipated that the legal agreements will 

be concluded by 31st December 2019, or such later date as 

agreed between the relevant parties. The restructured debt 

will provide the group with an improved liquidity profile. 

Certain assets held by the company will be provided as 

security for the revised term debt.

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was appointed during 

the current financial year and will continue in office in 

accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act. At the 

annual general meeting shareholders will be requested 

to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the group’s 

auditors for the 4 months year ending on 31 December 

2019 and it is noted that AJ Rossouw will be the individual 

registered auditor who will undertake the audit.

CHANGE IN YEAR END AND ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
Shareholders are advised that CIG has changed its financial 

year-end from 31 August to 31 December. The reason 

for the change in the financial year-end is to align the 

company’s financial reporting periods with those of its 

major shareholder.

To comply with paragraph 3.15 of the JSE Listings 

Requirements, CIG will: 

• publish reviewed summarised annual financial 

statements for the 12 months ended 31 August 2019 

within three months of 31 August 2019;

• publish and distribute audited  annual financial statements 

for the 12 months ended 31 August 2019 within four 

months of 31 August 2019;

• publish audited summarised annual financial statements 

for the four months ended 31 December 2019 within 

three months of 31 December 2019;

• distribute the audited annual financial statement for 

the four months ending 31 December 2019 within four 

months of 31 December 2019; and

• publish interim results for the six months ending  

30 June 2020 within three months of 30 June 2020.

Given that the change of financial year end results in a four-

month financial year end to 31 December 2019, CIG sought, 

and obtained, a dispensation from the JSE from compliance 

with the corporate governance disclosures typically found 

in an annual report and from the requirement to distribute 

the notice of annual general meeting within four months of 

year end. An annual report containing the audited annual 

financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 

and the year ended 31 December 2019 will be distributed to 

shareholders by no later than 29 February 2020. The notice 

of annual general meeting will also be distributed by no 

later than 29 February 2020 and will include the resolutions 

required for both the 31 August 2019 and the 31 December 

2019 financial year ends.

DOMICILE, COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION 
AND REGISTERED OFFICE
The company is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa, 

its domicile and registered offices are:

First Floor, 30 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2196.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 August 2019

This report is provided by the Audit and Risk Committee in 

compliance with The Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 (South 

Africa) and as recommended by King IV.

MEMBERSHIP 
The members of audit and risk committee at the beginning 

of the year comprised A Dixon as Chairman, F Boner,  

A Darko, and R Hogarth who was appointed to the board and 

audit and risk committee on 1 August 2018. As announced 

to shareholders on 30 January 2019, A Dixon, F Boner 

and A Darko resigned as non-executive directors and as 

members of the audit and risk committee. R Hogarth was 

appointed as lead independent non-executive director 

to the main board and as chairman of the audit and risk 

committee along with C Hess who was appointed to the 

main board and as member of audit and risk committee.  

K Kariuki, an independent member of the board since 2016, 

was appointed to the audit and risk committee. Subsequent 

to year-end, C Hess resigned from the board of directors 

and audit and risk committee. J Nwokedi, an independent 

director was appointed to the audit and risk committee as 

announced on 2 December 2019. 

All members are independent non-executive directors 

who have the requisite financial skills and experience to 

contribute to the committee’s deliberations. 

MEETINGS
The committee meets at least three times a year with  

ad hoc special meetings when required. The chief executive 

officer, the chief financial officer and representatives 

from external and internal audit and risk function, attend 

meetings by invitation. 

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the 

content of the consolidated annual financial statements, and 

met on 29 November 2019 to consider the group financial 

results. 

STATUTORY DUTIES
The committee adopts a work plan annually in advance in 

order to manage the discharge of its responsibilities under 

the Companies Act, King IV, its own charter and the JSE 

regulations. In addition, the audit committee focuses on 

areas of significant judgement, including contract claims 

and profit as well as assessments of uncertain taxation 

positions, due to the number of tax jurisdictions in which the 

group operates across Africa.

During the current year, the committee also paid particular 

attention to the adoption of IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers, as well as to the areas that required 

restatement in the annual financial statements as reflected 

in note 2 to the annual financial statements and the group’s 

going concern and liquidity assessments and statements 

reflected in note 1 to the annual financial statements. 

The members of the audit and risk committee are satisfied 

that they have acted with the necessary degree of care, skill 

and diligence in the recommendation of the annual financial 

statements to the board of directors.

The external and internal auditors have unfettered access to 

the audit committee and its members, and both presented 

formal reports to the committee. The chairperson of the 

audit and risk committee met with the outsourced internal 

audit service providers who were responsible for assessing 

the control environment within their scope. The external 

auditors meet independently with the committee at least 

once annually. The committee has satisfied itself that the 

external auditor was independent of the company, as set out 

in section 94(8) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, which 

includes consideration of compliance with criteria relating 

to independence or conflicts of interest as prescribed by the 

Independent Regulatory Board of Auditors. The committee, 

in consultation with executive management, agreed to the 

engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted fees for 

the 2019 year. The committee has reviewed and agreed the 

nature and value of non-audit services that the external 

auditor may provide and this is monitored at each meeting.

INTERNAL CONTROL
Internal audit provides the board with assurance on the 

group’s system of internal control, and this assurance 

was delivered by an outsourced internal auditor firm who 

provided comfort over the control environment at various 

of the group’s businesses. Management and internal audit 

are responsible for assessing the adequacy of the control 

environment of these entities. The audit committee has 

considered the results of the internal audit reports and 

takes reliance on the systems of internal control based 

upon the results of these reviews. The Consolidated Power 

Projects business (Conco) did not undergo a traditional 

internal audit assessment due to the specific weaknesses in 

controls identified during the prior financial year as well as 

the restructuring of the business. Instead “Project Visibility”, 

a business intervention with a focus on ensuring improved 

effectiveness and addressing the financial controls in a 

number of areas including financial reporting, governance 

project management was implemented. 
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CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Following our review, and having regard to all material 

factors and risks that may impact on the integrity of the 

consolidated annual financial statements, we accordingly 

recommend the consolidated annual financial statements 

of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited for the year 

ended 31 August 2019 to the board of directors for approval 

on 29 November 2019.

EVALUATION 
The board was satisfied that the committee members 

collectively have sufficient appropriate academic 

qualifications or experience as required by section 94(5)

of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (as amended), read with 

Regulation 42. 

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the audit and 

risk committee have considered and satisfied itself of the 

appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the chief 

financial officer, Cristina Teixeira.

R Hogarth
Lead independent non-executive director and chairperson of 

the audit and risk committee

29 November 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS   

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) 

as at 31 August 2019, and  its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 

Act of South Africa.

What we have audited

Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 16 to 104 comprise:

• the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 August 2019;

• the consolidated and separate income statements for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of cash flow for the year then ended;

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies;

• Annexure A: Interest in principal subsidiaries; and

• Annexure B: Group segmental analysis. 

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 

Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board 

for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 

independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements 

applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 

Standards) respectively.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of R1,343 million 

during the year ended 31 August 2019 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by R701 

million. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material 

uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 

modified in respect of this matter. 
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Overview

Overall group materiality

• Overall group materiality: R63.97 million, which represents 5% of loss before taxation.

Group audit scope

• The group comprises 50 business units of which 16 units require full scope audits and 7 units 

require specified procedures. The remainder were insignificant components.

Key audit matters

• Estimation uncertainty involved in accounting for construction contracts

• Adoption of IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers and prior year restatement in 

the Conco segment relating to construction contract revenue, work in progress and provision 

for onerous contracts 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated 

and separate financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for 

example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events 

that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 

including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud. 

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They 

are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group 

materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative 

considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to 

evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality R63,97 million

How we determined it 5% of loss before taxation

Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied We chose loss before taxation as the benchmark because, in 

our view, it is the benchmark against which the performance 

of the Group is most commonly measured by users, and is a 

generally accepted benchmark. We chose 5% which is consistent 

with quantitative materiality thresholds used for profit-oriented 

companies in this sector.

Materiality

Group 
scoping

Key audit 
matters
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT continued

How we tailored our group audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates.

In-scope business units were identified based on scoping benchmarks such as the business unit’s contribution to key financial 
statement line items (consolidated profit before tax, consolidated revenue and consolidated total assets) and risks associated 
with the business unit.

In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed by us, as 
the Group engagement team to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis 
for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

The audits undertaken for Group reporting purposes are in respect of the key reporting business units of the Group, equating to 
full scope audit procedures being performed at 16 business units. We  performed limited scope audit procedures at a further  
7 business units and analytical procedures on all non-significant business units.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty relating to going concern 
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

We have determined that there are no key audit matters in respect of the separate financial statements to communicate in our 
report.

Key audit matter (Group) How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Estimation uncertainty involved in accounting for construction 
contracts 

Refer to the following accounting policies and notes to the financial 
statements:

• Note 2.11, Contracts work in progress and amounts due to 
contract customers;

• Note 2.17, Revenue

• Note 2.25, Significant judgements: Construction contracts; and 

• Note 35, Segmental information.

Revenue relating to construction contracts with customers 
contributes to a significant portion of the Group’s revenue. Revenue 
from construction contracts with customers is recognised over time, 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable 
and includes variations and claims approved by the client. To determine 
the progress towards the satisfaction of the performance obligations 
on each contract, the group uses an input method, measuring the costs 
incurred to date relative to the total estimated cost of the contract. 
Anticipated losses to completion are immediately recognised as an 
expense in contract costs.

Construction contract revenue within the Group results from Cost-
plus, Re-measurable and Fixed Price contracts. Recognition of these 
revenues involves a higher degree of estimation uncertainty and 
complexity.

The assumptions and estimates used by management in the input 
method calculations include:

• Total estimated project costs; 

• Progress towards the satisfaction of performance obligations; and

• The profit margins on the contracts.

These assumptions and inputs represent the basis for the calculation 
of construction contract revenue, work-in-progress and amounts due 
to contract customers including the onerous contract provision to be 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures, as noted below, included an evaluation of 
the relevance and application of the significant assumptions and 
estimates within the Group’s input method calculations for all types 
of construction contracts (Cost-Plus, Re-measurable and Fixed 
Price contracts).

We performed the following procedures for a sample of construction 
contracts:

• Assessed the reasonableness of significant assumptions and 
estimates relating to the final cost of completion of the contract, 
final estimated revenue, claims recognised and penalties 
recognised, through inspection of contract documentation 
(e.g. bill of quantities, tender budgets and forecasts and 
correspondence between the contractor and client). We did not 
find any material exceptions;

• Utilised our internal quantity surveying expertise to assess the 
reasonableness of total contract costs through performance of 
site visits and inspection of contract documentation (e.g. tender 
budgets and forecasts and bills of quantities). We did not identify 
any material exceptions;

• We obtained corroborating evidence regarding the total contract 
revenue by examining signed contracts, enforceable contract 
penalties, management’s costing per contract and signed 
variation order documentation. We further discussed the status 
of contracts with management, directors, finance and technical 
staff and noted  material life to date differences on individual 
projects in the Conco business which resulted in a prior year 
restatement as a result of the adoption of IFRS 15;

• We tested a sample of costs incurred to date from  a selection 
of contracts by agreeing them to supporting documentation. No 
material differences were noted;

• We compared the estimated progress towards the satisfaction of 
the performance obligations on each contract (cost to date as a 
percentage of total estimated costs) to work certified to date by 
contract engineering experts with no material exceptions noted.
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Key audit matter (Group) How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We considered the accounting for construction contracts to be a matter 
of most significance to our current year audit due to the following:

• Management’s assessment involves making significant estimates 
about the profit margin and cost to completion; and

• Given the magnitude of the contract revenue recognised and the  
work-in-progress and provision for onerous contracts balances, 
the accounting treatment of construction contracts could have a 
significant impact on the financial statements.

• We assessed the competency of management’s contract 
engineering experts by obtaining evidence relating to their 
qualifications and professional memberships; 

• We tested profit margins from year to year on projects running 
over the current financial year end. Deviations in margins were 
identified and evaluated against explanations from management 
and other supporting evidence (e.g. documents to support 
external factors such as sub-contractors delays). We found the 
deviations to be reasonable in line with our expectations as 
supported by evidence obtained; and

• We recalculated the revenue per contract based on the input 
method calculations. Based on our recalculation, we agreed the 
adjustments between certified progress revenue and revenue 
recognised to the work-in-progress, provision for onerous 
contracts and retentions recognised in the financial statements. 
We found material differences which resulted in a prior year 
restatement of revenue, contracts work in progress and onerous 
contracts relating to the Conco business.

Adoption of IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers and 
prior year restatement in the Conco segment relating to construction 
contract revenue, work in progress and provision for onerous 
contracts. 

(Refer Note 2.26.2, Restatement)

In prior years most of Conco’s construction projects were treated as 
multiple performance obligation contracts divided into the different 
lines of business that delivered different services to the project. These 
different services recognised revenue at different percentages of 
completion and different profit margins. 

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts from Customers (IFRS 15) provides 
guidance as to whether a construction project should be treated as 
one performance obligation or multiple performance obligations. In 
applying the IFRS 15 guidance most of the Conco projects are seen 
as single performance obligations and for group purposes were 
treated on a consolidated basis. The revised treatment resulted in a 
single percentage of completion  per project, a single profit margin 
for the project and appropriate elimination of inter business line profit 
margins.

IFRS 15 requires revenue to only be recognised when it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The “highly 
probable” criteria meant that revenue recognised to date had to be 
reassessed for potential penalties for late completion of contracts 
and potential onerous contracts as a result of a decreased revenue. 
Resultant work in progress and onerous contract positions for the 
comparative periods were also assessed.

The revenue recognition exercise using information and estimates  
available at the time of finalising the 2017 and 2018 financial years 
was reperformed using the IFRS 15 criteria. 

Management calculated the adjustment to 2018 opening retained 
earnings, work in progress and onerous contract provisions as well as 
the revenue for 2018. 

We considered the adoption of IFRS 15 and the resulting prior year 
restatement in Conco to be a matter of most significance to our current 
year audit due to the magnitude of the prior year restatement, the 
judgements and estimates applied by management discussed above 
and the effort in determining the adjustment.

We assessed the performance obligations for each specific 
construction project taking into account the guidance provided by 
IFRS 15. 

We critically assessed the “highly probable” criteria for amounts 
included in contracts work in progress and concurred with the 
amounts management deemed not to comply with the criteria and 
which were reversed. 

We reperformed 100% of the calculations of the percentage of 
completion per external project applying the IFRS 15 principles. The 
re-performance of the calculations corroborated management’s 
adjustment of the 2018 opening retained earnings, work in progress 
and onerous contracts as well as revenue for 2018.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 

document titled “Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 August 2019”, which 

includes the Directors’ Report, the Report of the Audit and Risk Committee report and the Declaration of the Company Secretary 

as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the consolidated or the separate 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s 

internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or Company 

to cease to continue as a going concern. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT continued
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide  the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 

the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS  

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. are the newly appointed auditors of Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited for the 2019 

financial year. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: AJ Rossouw

Registered Auditor

4 Lisbon Lane

Waterfall City

17 December 2019
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INCOME STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2019

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

Notes 2019
Restated

2018 2019
Restated*

2018

Sale of goods 35  976 425  1 150 032  –    –   

Construction contracts 35  2 192 149 1 986 486  –    –   

Management fees – –  20 247  24 529 

Revenue  3 168 574  3 136 518  20 247  24 529   

Materials  (1 424 406)  (1 207 438)  –    –   

Subcontractor  (652 172)  (336 998) – –

Plant cost  (177 170)  (240 205)  –   

Payroll cost 5  (946 108)  (1 096 134)  (31 623)  (27 044)

Depreciation 11  (70 654)  (78 279)  (474)  (426)

Amortisation 13 (34 831) (37 467) – –

Legal and professional fees  (144 392)  (118 160)  (16 940)  (31 854)

Audit and accounting fees  (12 430)  (11 747)  (1 298)  (1 986)

Site and office costs  (149 321)  (187 121)  (1 895)  (2 373)

Transport  (165 575)  (122 070) – –

Travel  (50 498)  (48 781) – –

Machinery and equipment  (90 257)  (236 898) – –

Impairment of trade and contract receivables  (162 796)  (59 651) – –

Other administration expenses  (33 584)  (105 255)  (22 160)  (17 237)

Operating expenses 4  (4 114 194)  (3 886 204) (74 390) (80 920)

Other income  61 564  39 616  –    –   

Dividend received – – 109 495 –

Loss from equity-accounted investments 15  (29 056)  (85 421)  –    –   

Impairment of intangible assets 13  (39 387) –  –    –   

Impairment of loans in subsidiaries – – (1 908 649) (582 661)

Impairment of goodwill 12  (66 241)  (472 491)  –    –   

Finance income 7  36 066  26 212  53 438  30 334 

Finance cost 8  (296 708)  (248 341)  (152 150)  (134 872)

Loss before taxation  (1 279 382)  (1 490 111) (1 952 009) (743 590)

Taxation 9  (63 603)  (187 882)  878  –   

Loss for the year  (1 342 985)  (1 677 993) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Loss attributable to:

Equity shareholders of CIG Limited  (1 331 228)  (1 672 408) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Non-controlling interest  (11 757)  (5 585)  –    –   

 (1 342 985)  (1 677 993) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Loss per share (Rands)

Basic 10  (3,98) 8,53 (5,83) 3,79

Diluted 10  (3,98) 8,53 (5,83) 3,79

The income statement line items have been presented by nature for more useful information. Comparative line items have been 
reclassified. There is no impact on the statement of financial position.

*  Expenses were incorrectly recorded within the company financial statements in 2018. This has been corrected with a restatement. 
Refer to note 2.26.9.
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 August 2019

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

Notes 2019
Restated

2018 2019 2018

Loss for the year  (1 342 985)  (1 677 993) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Other comprehensive income (gross and net of taxation):

Items that may not subsequently be reclassified to profit or 

loss

–  Remeasurements of net defined benefit obligation 27  838  3 272  –    –   

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit  

or loss    

–  Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  40 443  19 708  –    –   

Other comprehensive income for the year – net of taxation  41 281  22 980  –    –   

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1 301 704)  (1 655 013) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Equity shareholders of CIG Limited  (1 290 006)  (1 648 684) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Non-controlling interest  (11 698)  (6 329)  –    –   

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1 301 704)  (1 655 013) (1 951 131) (743 590)
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 August 2019

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

Notes 2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11  521 068  526 984  513 660  1 084  1 559 
Goodwill 12  613 237  679 478  1 151 969  –    –   
Intangible assets 13  111 144  161 881  163 373  –    –   
Investments in subsidiaries 14 –  –    –    1 156 181  1 156 181 
Investments in joint arrangements 15  562 184  599 655  598 876  –    –   
Loans and receivables at amortised cost 16  7 900  7 393  14 007  –    100 
Loans to group companies 19 – – – 298 617 –
Deferred taxation 17  3 444  32 374  140 293  –    424 

  1 818 977  2 007 765  2 582 178  1 455 882  1 158 264 

Current assets
Inventories 18  312 208  327 996  232 208  –    –   
Loans to group companies 19  –    –    –   –  1 638 435 
Loans and receivables at amortised cost 16  –    796  7 191  –    –   
Current taxation receivable  38 250  51 328  73 334  1 910  1 910 
Contract and related debtors 21  869 498  815 477  1 104 512  –    –   
Contract work in progress 20  490 004  940 056  1 133 946 – –  
Trade and related receivables 21  527 839  617 067  453 833  13 946  10 416 
Cash and cash equivalents 22  765 668  571 444  360 218  491 116  292 545 

 3 003 467  3 324 164  3 365 242 506 972  1 943 306 
Total assets  4 822 444  5 331 929  5 947 420 1962 854  3 101 570 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital 23  3 094 759  2 328 926  2 328 926  3 085 400  2 319 567 
Foreign currency translation reserve  105 118  64 734  44 282 – –
Share-based payment reserve 36  60 958  60 958  49 410  24 318  24 318 
Accumulated (loss)/income  (2 686 193)  (1 355 803)  313 332 (2 642 293)  (691 162)
Equity shareholders  574 642  1 098 815  2 735 950 467 425  1 652 723
Non-controlling interest  (22 437)  (8 239)  (1 910) – –

 552 205  1 090 576  2 734 040 467 425  1 652 723

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24.1 393 424  908 852 25 592 294 125  781 000 
Contingent consideration (vendor loan) 24.7 74 828 71 975 87 143 – –
Operating lease liability  2 182  1 765  6 569  –    –   
Retirement benefit obligation 27  14 439  13 971  15 292 –  –  
Deferred taxation 17  65 382  72 270  87 512  –    –   
Provisions 25  15 174  6 625  6 905  –    –   

 565 429  1 075 458  229 013  294 125  781 000 

Current liabilities
Loans from group companies 19  –    –    –    217 464  164 357 
Borrowings 24.1 1 409 714 939 687 1 397 536  924 000  443 000 
Current taxation payable  50 698  11 760  6 040  –    1 302 
Operating lease liability –  4 804  3 377  –    –   
Trade and other payables 26  1 121 405  921 572 1 066 289  59 840  59 189 
Provisions 25  419  589  589  –    –   
Amounts received in advance 28  168 439  255 626  79 325  –    –   
Amounts due to contract customers 28  286 755  501 075  60 437  –    –   
Bank overdraft 22  667 380  530 782  370 774  –    –   

 3 704 810  3 165 895  2 984 367  1 201 304  667 848 
Total liabilities  4 270 239  4 241 353  3 213 380  1 495 429  1 448 848

Total equity and liabilities  4 822 444  5 331 929  5 947 420 1 962 854  3 101 570 
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 31 August 2019

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

Notes 2019
Restated

2018 2019 2018

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash (utilised)/generated from operations 29  (326 388) 38 243  (62 320)  (22 467)

Finance income  36 066  26 212  53 438  30 334 

Finance costs  (296 708)  (247 292)  (152 150)  (134 872)

Taxation 30  (26 493)  (69 913) –   1 216 

Cash effect from operating activities  (613 523) (252 750)  (161 031)  (125 789)

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11  (89 030)  (91 774)  –    (1 514)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment  24 178  4 433  –    –   

Development of intangible assets 13  (23 481)  (35 976)  –   –

Acquisition of investment in joint arrangement  –    (29 672)  –    –   

Distributions from investment in joint arrangements 15  29 635 36 383  –   –

Proceeds from loans receivable from group 

companies  –    –   51 453  164 332 

Advances to group companies  –    –   (605 972)  (128 379)

Sale of financial assets  –    5 672  –    –   

Dividends received* –  –   40 000 –

Cash effect from investing activities  (58 698) (110 934)  (514 519)  34 439 

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds on share issue 23  765 833  –    765 833  –   

Borrowings raised  –    430 612 108 289  300 000 

Repayment of borrowings  (21 463)  (35 892)  –    –   

Repayment of instalment sale liabilities  (9 579)  (12 736)  –    –   

Instalment sale liabilities raised  925  3 686  –    –   

Cash effect from financing activities 735 716  385 670 874 122  300 000 

Effect of exchange rates on cash balances  (5 869)  29 232  –    –   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 57 626  51 218  198 571  208 650 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  

of the year  40 662  (10 556)  292 545  83 895 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the year 22  98 288  40 662  491 116  292 545 

*  Additional non-cash dividend was received.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 August 2019

GROUP

R’000
Share

capital

Foreign 
currency

translation
 reserve

Share-
based

payment 
reserve

Accu-
mulated 
income/

(loss)

Equity
share-

holders

Non-
controlling

interest
Total

 equity

Balance as at 1 September 2017 
restated  2 328 926  44 282  49 410  313 332  2 735 950  (1 910)  2 734 040 

Loss for the year  –    –    –    (1 672 408)  (1 672 408)  (5 585)  (1 677 993)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  –    20 452  –    3 272  23 724  (744)  22 980 

Share-based payments  –    –    11 548  –    11 548  –    11 548 

Balance as at 1 September 2018 
restated  2 328 926  64 734  60 958  (1 355 803)  1 098 815  (8 239)  1 090 576 

Loss for the year  –    –    –    (1 331 228)  (1 331 228)  (11 757)  (1 342 985)

Other comprehensive income  –    40 384  –    838  41 222  59  41 281 

Issue of shares  765 833  –    –    –    765 833  –    765 833 

Distribution to non-controlling 

interest  –    –    –   – – (2 500)  (2 500)

Balance as at 31 August 2019  3 094 759  105 118  60 958  (2 686 193)  574 642  (22 437)  552 205 

COMPANY

R’000
Share

capital

Share-
based

payments 

Accu-
mulated 
income/

(loss)
Total

equity

Balance as at 1 September 2017  2 319 567  24 318  52 428  2 396 313 

Loss for the year  –    –    (743 590)  (743 590)

Balance as at 1 September 2018  2 319 567  24 318  (691 162)  1 652 723 

Loss for the year  –    –   (1 951 131) (1 951 131)

Issue of shares  765 833  –    –    765 833 

Balance as at 31 August 2019  3 085 400  24 318 (2 642 293) 467 425
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated and company financial statements 

are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting 

Standards Board and the IFRS Interpretations Committee 

(IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, the 

JSE Listings Requirements, the Companies Act of South 

Africa and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued 

by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 

Reporting Pronouncement as issued by the Financial 

Reporting Standards Council. 

The accounting policies are consistent with the prior year other 

than the adoption of certain standards and interpretations 

which became effective during the current year, refer to  

note 3 – adoption of new accounting standards and 

interpretations, and in particular as indicated on note 2.26, 

the adoption of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, the adoption of  

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and the 

correction of various errors and reclassifications. 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost 

basis unless otherwise stated in the policies, and incorporate 

the principal accounting policies set out below.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern 

basis. 

GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT 

Introduction

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the 

annual financial statements, the directors are required to 

consider whether the group can continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.

Trading conditions during the year

The financial performance of the group is impacted by the 

wider economic environment in which the group operates, 

as well as internal conditions. The group reported a net loss 

of R1,343 million (F2018*: R1,678 million loss). Material 

losses reported by Conco in the last few financial years, 

have resulted in the group reporting accumulated losses 

at 31 August 2019 of R2,7 billion. Even after a successful 

rights issue during the financial year which introduced 

R765 million net cash proceeds into equity, the group’s 

net equity reduced to R574,6 million at  31 August 2019  

(F2018*: R1,1 billion). 

*  Restated for the adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, and the correction of various errors and 
reclassifications as reflected on note 2.26.10  of the annual 
financial statements.

During the year the board of directors, working with an 

external corporate finance advisor, completed an interim 

assessment of the group’s key investments including the 

groups Conlog business, its investment in AES and the 

carrying value of its building material segment. This has 

been used to confirm the recoverability of the group’s 

carrying value and that no further impairments are required. 

Although still cash positive, the group has limited free cash 

at year end.  

This is mainly due to the funding requirements of Conco, the 

group’s largest business. The group’s free cash was applied 

to fund the following:

• completion of contracts ahead of cash expected to be 

received on final certification on contracts nearing 

completion;

• a change in the group’s working capital cycle following 

a reduction and removal of external credit guarantee 

insurance available to suppliers. This necessitated 

upfront and advance payments by the group to suppliers 

and shorter credit terms afforded to the group;

• a decreasing order book due to market conditions. This 

resulted in the unwind of the businesses’ working capital; 

and

• an under recovery of overhead costs as a result of lower 

than expected rate of trade.

All the group’s EPC# businesses were impacted by the 

removal of credit insurance cover and under recovery of 

overhead costs which has absorbed free cash in the year. 

Liquidity management 

The first half of the financial year saw an underperformance 

by all businesses in the group as a result of a mixture of both 

market conditions and internal factors. This led to several 

initiatives being implemented, which are regularly reported-

on to CIG management and the board. 

These initiatives include:

• business re-engineering programmes where required; 

• critically assessing budgets for the four months to 

December^ 2019, 12 months to December 2020, 2021 

and 2022; and

• robust liquidity models which includes cash flow 

forecasts covering a period of 12 months from the date 

of these financial statements.

# Engineering, procure and construct.
^  The group is changing its year end to from August to 

December with the first year-end being December 2019.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION continued

GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT continued

Business recovery interventions

Non-EPC# businesses 

The Conlog business implemented a revenue growth and 

diversification strategy coupled with a cost reduction focus 

with short-term delivery deadlines. These interventions 

were successfully implemented and the improvement in 

earnings and cash flow was demonstrable in the second half 

of the financial year. The team continued to focus on country 

diversification and the development of a  product with a 

distinct demand in South Africa and the rest of Africa. The 

growth strategy is being pursued balanced by a conservative 

credit risk assessment process and the business has 

demonstrated its willingness to sacrifice revenue and 

margin to better manage credit risk by deferring the 

manufacturing and despatch of product until it had received 

appropriate payment guarantees. The budgets and free cash 

flow expected to be generated by this business have been 

critically assessed for the short-term and medium-term. 

The building materials businesses operate in a very difficult 

market as it supplies into a depressed South African 

construction market. The CBM businesses implemented a 

focused recovery programme, which addressed both costs 

and the enhancement of market share and product mix. The 

benefits of this programme have also been evident in the 

second half of the financial year, with improved earnings 

and cash performance by the segment. The budgets and free 

cash flow expected to be generated by this business have 

been critically assessed for the short-term and medium-

term. 

The AES business provides  steady cash flow to the group.

EPC businesses 

The EPC or related businesses consist of the power 

businesses Conco and Consolidated Power Maintenance 

(CPM)  and the rail business (Tractionel). 

The CPM business was assessed, with planned restructuring 

initiatives logged for implementation during the first quarter 

of calendar 2020. These initiatives include a reduction in 

cost and improved risk management. 

The Tractionel business’ profitability and cash generation 

in the next 12 months was critically assessed. A sizeable 

cost cutting and restructuring plan was developed. This is 

currently being implemented with a completion date of the 

first quarter of calendar 2020. 

The Conco business continued to be the business under 

the most pressure, being affected by the extremely slow 

roll out of expected infrastructure programmes in South 

Africa and the rest of Africa. Although this business has a 

strong pipeline of projects it currently has a high level of 

unrecovered overheads, requires rightsizing and to date has 

required sizeable cash injections by the group, as discussed 

earlier. 

To address this CIG and Conco senior management 

implemented Project Visibility, a targeted turnaround 

programme, which is now into its second phase. The project 

focuses on four streams namely:  

• Stream 1: reliability and accuracy of Conco’s financial 

reporting including contract profit recognition; 

• Stream 2: operational contract delivery including 

contract execution, commercial management and 

contract tendering; 

• Stream 3: liquidity management and forecasting; and

• Stream 4: business sustainability. 

To assist management with the implementation of Project 

Visibility, CIG appointed independent construction experts 

with a track record of successful contract management and 

construction business leadership. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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The key focus areas for the project are as follows: 

Project streams Key deliverable Status 

Stream 1: financial 
reporting including 
contract profit 
recognition

Reliable financial reporting that will inform 

liquidity forecasts and business sustainability 

decisions. 

Critical assessment of profit recognition. 

Significant work performed to date on both 

balance sheet assessment and contract profit 

recognition culminating with the conclusion 

of a successful year end external audit 

supporting the balance sheet asset and liability 

recognition.

The profit recognition is based on the 

independently assessed expected contract 

performance and thus the liquidity models 

incorporate the same independently assessed 

contract cash forecasts. 

The balance sheet as reported at year is 

incorporated into Conco liquidity model.

Stream 2: operational 
contract delivery

Critical assessment of contract performance, 

programme, commercial position, cost and 

revenue to complete forecast, penalty risk 

assessment, schedule management, contract 

cash flows by independent construction 

experts – addressed for Top 23 contracts 

determined by materiality and risk profile.  

The outcome of these reviews to be 

incorporated into the group’s forecasts.

Completed prior to year-end. 

Stream 2’s initiatives identified certain 

adjustments which were made to various 

contract’s total estimated profit recognition 

which reflected a charge against earnings 

in the period. Although a material portion of 

these charges are not expected to convert 

into cash outflow, they have been included 

into the Group’s liquidity models to ensure 

a more conservative approach to liquidity 

management. 

Arising from the review, key remedial action 

plans have been implemented, to mitigate 

any negative cashflow impact and any 

further earnings impact. These actions are 

monitored weekly  by CIG management 

and the Conco CEO. Phase 2 of Project 

Visibility has commenced which includes 

active management of these action plans. 

Any positive recovery against the positions 

recorded to date will significantly  enhance 

both earnings and cash forecasts.

Phase 2 also focuses on the management 

of commercial claims in favour of the group. 

These have not been included in the profit 

recognition or the cash liquidity model to-date 

and present an opportunity to enhance cash 

and earnings if successful.

Phase 2 includes continued monitoring 

execution of contracts and continuous, 

planning and re-scheduling where required of 

active contracts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Project streams Key deliverable Status 

Stream 3: liquidity 
management

Long term liquidity model that can be utilised 

to assess business sustainability in terms of 

cash generation per contract.

Liquidity model that can be utilised to assess 

company 12-month profile. 

13th week cash forecast that can be used to 

manage daily debtor and creditor movements. 

Implemented and monitored monthly with 

appropriate level of depth to support business 

and contract decisions. This model has also 

been utilised to determine the long-term cash 

flows that can be used to honour long term 

debt profile agreed upon with current banking 

partners in the conversion of overdrafts into 

term debt.

Implemented and monitored, cash model 

currently runs from reporting date to 

December 2022 by month. 

Implemented. Active management of debtors 

aligned to cash forecast. Implementing 

improved creditor management.

Stream 4: business 
sustainability

The result of Stream 1, 2 and 3 forms the basis 

of assessing Stream 4.

In addition to embedding the contract 

enhancement opportunities listed above, 

Phase 2 consists of a focused intervention 

on business restructure, rightsizing of 

organisation and aligning support services to 

structures and business requirements. This 

will be implemented in the first quarter of 

2020 with some business reengineering on the 

operations complete. 

A rightsizing of the organisation would have 

the impact of enhancing both earning and 

especially the businesses currently liquidity 

forecast as these opportunities have not been 

factored into current forecasts.

Focus on business development and winning 

the appropriate level of work across diversified 

on the right terms and the right clients are a 

key driver of the sustainability. 

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION continued

GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT continued

Business recovery interventions continued

EPC businesses continued

Cash liquidity forecast models

Two separate cash models are maintained by the group, 

namely the non-EPC business cash model and the EPC 

business cash model. The non-EPC cash model is updated 

quarterly due to the nature of the business cash flows 

included in the model and their relative stability. The EPC 

business cash model is updated and assessed monthly. 

Non-EPC business liquidity model

The non-EPC business liquidity model consolidates the free 

cash flow available to the group from the non-EPC businesses 

assuming a portfolio approach to cash management. 

Budgets including performance projections and cash flow 

statements are determined by each business leadership 

team. These are critically assessed for reasonableness by 

the CIG management team. 

The sources of cash for the non-EPC business liquidity 

model is

• the free cash deemed available for distribution by the 

Conlog, Building Materials and the AES businesses is 

consolidated into a group cash flow;

• along with a value on proceeds of disposal of assets; and 

• a refinancing of remaining debt in the long term.
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Which is used to service: 

• the South African and Mauritius corporate office costs;

• external finance costs; and 

• debt capital repayments.

The EPC business liquidity model 

This model is a monthly consolidation of the following inputs: 

Input Nature Source 

Secured contract cash 
flow

Secured contract cash flow Contract forecasting system which is 

validated at individual project review 

meetings presented by project managers and 

assessed for appropriateness by independent 

construction experts prior to input into the 

cash model

A variance analysis between forecasted 

cash flows to actual cash flow by contract 

is performed monthly by CIG with variations 

explained

Overhead costs Cash incurred on non-project related 

overheads, including salaries and other 

overheads is included in the cash model

Based on projected overheads costs. A monthly 

comparison between actual costs incurred 

and forecasted cost is performed by CIG for 

reasonableness

Balance sheet unwind The collection of incurred working capital, 

including the collection of client billings 

previously raised less payment of creditor 

liabilities*

The cash model maintains the full debtors age 

analysis value and collections are monitored 

daily with the forecasted collection timing 

included in the short-term portion of the model 

and monitored

Creditors are now based on the full creditors 

age analysis payable and payment profile 

confirmed by contract managers and the 

construction advisors

This  net cash flow therefore reflects the cash generation or absorption prior to any further contract awards

Unsecured cash flow Cash billings and cost outflow forecast are 

included per contract  as potential unsecured 

work to be awarded and are individually 

assessed with a  key focus on timing of 

expected cash inflow and outflow

Forecasting system of submitted tenders, 

tenders in preparation and future tenders 

being targeted individually assessed against 

probability and timing. This includes  further 

“offset” on expected timing of award to trade to 

cash collection

Forecast cash flow and its required timing 

can be monitored against expectations and 

updated monthly. In addition, the levels of 

guarantees/bonds can be ascertained and 

planned for

*   Note that the collection of retention balances due to the business and the unwind of the advance payment due on contracts are 
included in the secured contract cash flow described above.

This  liquidity model is also the key input into the financial 

covenants negotiated with lenders for the establishment of 

a longer-term debt profile. The non-EPC model generates 

enough cash to maintain the covenant levels required with 

the service of the debt repayments and interest payments.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION continued

GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT continued

Cash liquidity forecast models continued

The EPC business liquidity model  continued

The liquidity model is prepared and presented to CIG monthly, 

evaluated against forecast expectations and variances 

monitored. An update on progress and performance is 

presented to the group’s financial committee (Fincom) 

which is the operating group of CIG’s Investment Committee. 

The forecasts and any variances are presented to the board 

of directors at least on a quarterly basis or more frequently, 

as required. 

This  liquidity model is also the key input into the financial 

covenants negotiated with current lenders for the 

establishment of a longer-term debt profile at Conco. The 

EPC model currently generates enough cash to maintain 

the covenant levels required for the service of the debt 

repayments and interest payments. 

Performance and liquidity operational improvement 
initiatives

Certain improvement initiatives have been identified which, 

if successful, can enhance the business liquidity profile and 

have not been included in the base case liquidity model on 

which the business’ going concern is based. These are listed 

as follows:

Secured contract cash flow

• Enhanced contract execution following implementation 

of corrective action identified by construction specialists 

and being implemented as part of Phase 2 of Project 

Visibility.

• Accelerating the realisation of claim opportunities and 

other short-term cash opportunities in favour of the 

group.

Overhead costs

• The benefit of a reduced cost structure and the savings 

flowing from this, net of the costs to be incurred to realise 

these, have not been included in the base case model and 

are expected to be material for the business. 

Balance sheet unwind

• Recovery of specific contract debtors where the debtor 

has been provided for due to the difficulty in obtaining 

cash settlement although the debt due to the group is 

deemed valid and recoverable. 

Converting long term assets in the group to short term

• Cash flow from the disposal of long-term assets 

either within the EPC businesses or from the non-EPC 

businesses has not been included within the EPC cash 

forecast.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Estimates, assumptions and judgements considered 
within the group’s liquidity assessment

As would be expected, the group’s liquidity model forecasts 

the timing and quantum of key drivers of cash flow. These 

forecasts therefor include a considerable number of 

estimates, assumptions and judgements.

The material assumptions are:

Secured EPC contracts trade at their forecasted tendered 

margin 

• A key assumption to the EPC businesses liquidity forecast 

is that contracts will be executed in line with forecast 

contract margins.

• Contract performance is re-forecasted on a monthly 

basis and the liquidity model constantly updated with 

current contract conditions.

• Any contract losses or any reduction in cash profitability 

from secured work would therefore have a direct impact 

on the liquidity model.

Secured EPC contracts can recover on provisioning raised in 

the current year 

• Included in forecasts is certain adjustments which 

were made to various contracts’ total estimated profit 

recognition which reflected a charge against earnings in 

the period.

• Although a material portion of these charges are not 

expected to convert into cash outflow, they have been 

included in the group’s liquidity models to ensure a more 

conservative approach to liquidity management.

• Any saving or recovery on this position would have a 

direct positive impact on the liquidity model.

Balance sheet forecast collections and payment not realised 

in line with forecast 

• Delayed receipt of debtors’ payments or accelerated 

creditors’ payments that are different to the forecast 

could impact the immediate and short-term cash 

forecast and funding position of the business.

Unsecured construction contracts identified are secured and 

traded in the forecast period 

• Some risk to the certainty of the timing and profitability 

of these awards exist as the group has experienced a 

delay in contract awards which impacted the budgeted 

profit, with unsecured work not materializing in F2019.

• In addition, the group is experiencing an increase in the 

cost of doing business with input costs to contract bids 

increasing significantly.

• In response to these factors, the group has included a 

low level of cash profits from unsecured work within 

the short-term liquidity model. The liquidity model 

is therefore not materially impacted by unsecured 
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contracts. The probability rating assigned is based on 

the next 12 months liquidity profile. The dependency on 

unsecured work being awarded and traded naturally 

becomes more significant to the liquidity forecasts in 

later years as the current order book winds down.

• The level of unsecured work to be earned is dependent 

on the group continuing to be supported by its lenders 

for guarantee facilities as envisaged once the group 

concludes its debt restructuring agreement.

Overhead reduction strategies are implemented and achieved

• The group has forecasted only limited overheads 

reduction strategies within its current liquidity model.

• The intended rightsizing of the EPC business, via a 

reduction of overheads and costs, therefore presents a 

material opportunity to enhance the liquidity profile of 

the EPC businesses. 

Secured contract cash flow – acceleration of claim opportunities 

• Accelerating the realization of claim opportunities and 

other short-term cash opportunities in favour of the 

group will enhance the liquidity forecasts.

Recovery of debtors 

• Recovery of specific contract debtors where the debt has 

been provided for due to the difficulty in obtaining cash 

settlement, although the debt due to the group is deemed 

valid and recoverable is assessed as a low probability for 

the short term/next 12-month profile. 

• Should this be realised, it will enhance the liquidity 

forecast and profile of the business as it has not been 

included in forecasts.

The group also reports contingent liabilities of R2,1 billion 

in the form of financial institution-backed performance 

guarantees provided to third parties. The group does not 

expect any of these to convert into an actual claim that isn’t 

already recognised as a contract liability in the financial 

statements.

Solvency and liquidity position at 31 August 2019

At 31 August 2019 the group’s total assets exceeded total 

liabilities by R574,6 million. However, current liabilities 

exceeded its current assets by R701,3 million. This is an 

indication that the group may require further funding 

to settle its current obligations and continue as a going 

concern. The higher than expected current liabilities include 

certain adjustments which were made to various contracts’ 

total estimated profit recognition. This reflected a charge 

against earnings in the period. The group is managing the 

contracts with active remedial plans to mitigate the risk of 

a material portion of these charges converting into cash 

outflow. Although actively managed, it has been included in 

the group’s liquidity models to ensure a more conservative 

approach to liquidity management. Any saving or recovery 

on this position would have a direct positive impact on the 

liquidity model. 

To address this:

• Key remedial action plans have been implemented to 

recover against these contract adjustments and mitigate 

on any cash outflows. These actions are monitored 

regularly by CIG management and the Conco CEO. Phase 

2 of Project Visibility has commenced, which includes 

active management of these action plans. 

• The company has engaged with its lenders, being the 

bond holders of the previously listed CIG DMTN bond 

programme and the local bank lenders at Conco to 

restructure short term debt. This restructuring would 

result in a substantial value of the short-term debt owed 

by the company, and a portion of the debt owed by Conco, 

to be converted to term debt. A value of R1 billion will be 

reclassified from short-term debt to long term debt. In 

addition, the lenders support the group by maintaining 

other short term debt facilities in place under the group’s 

current term agreement and conditions. In return, the 

group would provide certain assets as security for the 

term debt. 

 –  The group is pleased to announce that it and Conco are 

in the process of finalising binding legal agreements, 

which will be subject to normal conditions precedent. 

It is anticipated that the legal agreements will be 

concluded by 31 December 2019, or such later date 

as agreed between the relevant parties.

Conclusion

The events, conditions, judgements and assumptions 

described earlier inherently include material uncertainty 

and may therefore cast significant doubt on the group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern and its ability to realise 

assets and discharge liabilities in the normal course of 

business. The directors have considered the financial plans 

and forecasts, the actions taken by the group, and based 

on the information available to them, are therefore of the 

opinion that the going concern assumption is appropriate in 

the preparation of the financial statements.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Set out below are the principal accounting policies used 

consistently throughout the group.

2.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life

Land Indefinite 

Buildings 20 years 

Leasehold improvements Lease period 

Plant and machinery

–  Earthmoving equipment 6 years

–  Plant and equipment 4 – 15 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 – 5 years 

Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years 

Office equipment 3 – 5 years 

IT equipment 3 years 

Computer software 1 year

Mobile site offices 10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the 
change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

2.2 GOODWILL

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the cost of the business combination over the company's 
interest of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated 
impairment.

The excess of the company’s interest in the net fair value 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over the cost of the business combination is immediately 
recognised in profit or loss.

2.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and 
subsequently at amortised cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred. An intangible asset arising from development 
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale;

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell it;

• it will generate probable future economic benefits;

• there are available technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the development and to use or 
sell the asset;

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

• Software and patents are recognised at cost and 
subsequent measured at amortised cost; and

• Brand names and mining rights were recognised on 
business combination and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end, any 
changes thereto are accounted for as changes in estimate 
in terms of IAS 8.

Amortisation is provided to write-down the intangible assets, 
on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life

Mining rights life of mine 

Brand names 10 years 

Product design 3 – 6 years

Patents 15 – 20 years

Computer software 1 year

Meters under development 3 – 6 years

2.4 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated annual financial statements

The consolidated annual financial statements include 
those of the holding company and its subsidiaries who 
are those entities which the group controls. The results 
of the subsidiaries are included from the effective date of 
acquisition. Subsidiaries are de-consolidated on the date 
that the group ceases to control.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is 
the sum of:

• the consideration transferred measured in accordance 
with IFRS 3;

• the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
measured in accordance with IFRS 3; and

• in a business combination achieved in stages, the 
acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer's previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree.

All acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred.

On acquisition, the group recognises the subsidiary’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair 
value.
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In the company’s separate annual financial statements, 
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment.

Company annual financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
impairment provision.

2.5 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Group annual financial statements

The group’s joint ventures are accounted for using the 
equity method after initially being recognised at cost in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments 
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognize the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits 
or losses of the investee in profit or loss and the group’s 
share of movements in other comprehensive income of 
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends 
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures 
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the 
investment.

When the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted 
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, 
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, 
the group does not recognise further losses unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
other entity. Unrealised gains on transactions between the 
group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the group’s interest in these entities. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have 
been changed, where necessary, to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the group. The carrying amount of 
equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36: Impairment of Assets.

Initial recognition and measurement

Where the carrying value of short-term financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost approximate their amortised 
cost values, discounting is not applied as the effects thereof 
are considered immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

At each statement of financial position date, the group 
assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair 
value through profit or loss, to determine whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets has been impaired.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in 
the financial asset's recoverable amount can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying 
amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment 
is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 
profit or loss within operating expenses. When such assets 
are written off, the write off is made against the relevant 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (2017 AND 2018 IN 
TERMS OF IAS 39)

Loans to/(from) group companies

These include loans to and from subsidiaries and are 
recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Loans to group companies are classified as loans and 
receivables which are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Loans to/(from) group companies

These include loans to and from subsidiaries and are 
recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Loans to group companies are classified as loans and 
receivables which are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Loans from group companies are classified as financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund

These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables 
and measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (2017 AND 2018 IN 
TERMS OF IAS 39) continued

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at 

fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 

amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is 

objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant 

financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 

will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default 

or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are 

considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. 

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 

interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 

use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within 

operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 

it is written off against the allowance account for trade 

receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited against operating expenses in the 

statement of comprehensive income.
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Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 

receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus 

transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. These are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction 
costs and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 

rate method. Amortised cost approximates fair value.

Bank overdraft, borrowings and instalment sale liabilities

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at 

fair value, including transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net 

of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of 

borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowing in 

accordance with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing 

costs.

The following table illustrates the transition impact of IFRS 9.

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

At amortised
cost

At 
1 September

2018

Loans and receivables At amortised
cost

At 
1 September

2018

Loans and 
receivables

2018
Restated

2018
Restated

2017

Loans and receivables 

– non- current  7 393  7 393  14 007  100  100 

Loans and receivables 

– current  796  796  7 191 – –

Trade and related receivables 617 067 617 067 458 833 – –

Contract and related debtors 815 477 815 477 1 104 512 – –

Cash and cash equivalents  571 444  571 444  360 218  292 545  292 545 

 2 747 171  2 747 171  2 984 641  298 723  298 723 
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2.7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (2019: IFRS 9)

Financial instruments held by the group are classified 

in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9: Financial 

Instruments.

The classification possibilities, which are adopted by the 

group,as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets which are equity instruments:

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or

• Designated at fair value through other comprehensive 

income. (This designation is not available to equity 

instruments which are held for trading or which are 

contingent consideration in a business combination).

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

• Amortised cost. The group uses this category only when 

the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on 

specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on principal, and where the 

instrument is held under a business model whose 

objective is met by holding the instrument to collect 

contractual cash flows);

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. The 

group automatically applies this classification to all debt 

instruments which do not qualify at amortised cost or at 

fair value through other comprehensive income; or

• Designated at fair value through profit or loss. The group 

only uses this classification option when it eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Financial liabilities

• Amortised cost. The group uses this category when 

the business model and the contractual terms of the 

instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flow 

outflows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on principal;

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. This 

applies to contingent consideration in a business 

combination or to liabilities which are held for trading; or

• Designated at fair value through profit or loss. This 

classification option is applied when it eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Note 34 Financial instruments indicate the financial 

instruments held by the group based on their specific 

classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, 

recognition and measurement of each type of financial 

instrument held by the group are presented below:

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

At amortised
cost

At 
1 September

2018

Financial liabilities  
at amortised cost

At amortised
cost

At 
1 September

2018

Financial
 liabilities

at amortised
 cost
2018

Restated
2018

Restated
2017

Borrowings – non-current  999 529  999 529  138 215  443 000  443 000 

Borrowings – current  953 879  953 879  1 413 374  781 000  781 000 

Trade and other payables  917 086  917 086  1 063 242  148 189  148 189 

Bank overdraft  530 782  530 782  370 774 – –

 3 902 351  3 902 351  3 046 043  1 372 189  1 372 189 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (2019: IFRS 9)  
continued

Loans receivable and other receivables at amortised cost

Classification

Loans to group companies and other receivables (note 19 

and 21) are classified as financial assets subsequently 

measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the 

contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified 

dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group’s 

business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on 

these loans.

Recognition and measurement

Loans receivable and other receivables (loans) are 

recognised when the group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the loans. The loans are measured, 

at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs,  

if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable are included 

in the specific notes and financial instruments and risk 

management (note 34).

Trade receivables

Classification

Trade receivables, excluding, when applicable, value added 

taxation and prepayments are classified as financial assets 

subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 21).

They have been classified in this manner because their 

contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal outstanding, and the group’s business model is to 

collect the contractual cash flows on trade receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade receivables are recognised when the group becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. 

They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus 

transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Impairment

The group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit 

losses on trade receivables, excluding value added taxation 

and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is 

updated at each reporting date.

The group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables 

which do not contain a significant financing component at 
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an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“lifetime 

ECL”). The loss allowance for all other trade receivables is 

measured at lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit 

risk on these receivables has not increased significantly 

since initial recognition, then the loss allowance for those 

receivables is measured at 12-month expected credit losses 

(“12-month ECL”).

The expected loss rates are based on the revenue 

payment profiles over a 12-month period before 31 August 

2019 together with the corresponding historical credit 

losses experienced within these periods per customer 

classification. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 

current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic 

factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 

receivables.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will 

result from all possible default events over the expected life 

of a loan. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion 

of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 

on a loan that are possible within 12 months after the 

reporting date.

Definition of default

For purposes of internal credit risk management, the group 

considers that a default event has occurred if there is 

either a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty, 

or if internal or external information indicates that the 

counterparty is unlikely to pay its creditors in full (without 

taking collateral into account). Irrespective of the above 

analysis, the group considers that a significant increase in 

credit risk has occurred when a receivable is more than  

90 days past due unless there is reasonable and supportable 

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 

criterion is more appropriate. Measurement and recognition 

of expected credit losses.

The group makes use of a simplified approach as a practical 

expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on 

trade receivables. The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified 

approach to measure expected credit losses, which uses a 

lifetime expected credit loss allowance, for trade receivables. 

Trade receivables that are more than 90 days past-due are 

assessed to have an increase in credit risk. The simplified 

approach is based on historic credit loss experience, 

adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 

economic conditions and an assessment of both the current 

and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 

including the time value of money, where appropriate.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 

with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of 

trade receivables through use of a loss allowance account. 

The impairment loss is included in operating expenses in 

profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance.
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Investments in equity instruments

Classification

Investments in equity instruments are classified as 

mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. As an 

exception to this classification, the group may make an 

irrevocable election, on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis, and on initial recognition, to designate certain 

investments in equity instruments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income. The designation at fair value 

through other comprehensive income is never made on 

investments which are either held for trading or contingent 

consideration in a business combination.

Recognition and measurement

Investments in equity instruments are recognised when 

the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 

the instrument. The investments are measured, at initial 

recognition, at fair value. Transaction costs are added to the 

initial carrying amount for those investments which have been 

designated at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

All other transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in equity instruments are subsequently 

measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised 

either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income 

(and accumulated in equity in the reserve for valuation of 

investments), depending on their classification. 

BorrowIngs and loans from related parties

Classification

Loans from group companies (note 19) and borrowings 

(note 24) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently 

measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Borrowings and loans from related parties are recognized 

when the group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial 

recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. The effective interest method 

is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments (including all 

fees and points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to 

the amortised cost of a financial liability. Interest expense, 

calculated on the effective interest method, is included in 

profit or loss in finance costs (note 8).

Borrowings expose the group to liquidity risk and interest 

rate risk. Refer to note 34 for details of risk exposure and 

management thereof.

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 26), excluding value added 

taxation and amounts received in advance, are classified 

as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised 

cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the group becomes a party to 

the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial 

recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. They 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. The effective interest method is 

a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments (including all 

fees and points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to 

the amortised cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing 

component, and the effective interest method results in the 

recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit 

or loss in finance costs (note 8). Trade and other payables 

expose the group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest 

rate risk. Refer to note 34 for details of risk exposure and 

management thereof.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount 

which is deemed to be fair value.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method.

2.8 TAXATION

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred 

taxation asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset 

or liability in a transaction that:

• is not a business combination; and

• at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 

profit (loss) nor taxable profit (taxation loss).

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for the carry forward 

of unused taxation losses to the extent that it is probable 

that future taxable profit will be available against which the 

unused taxation losses can be utilised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.8 TAXATION continued

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities continued

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at 

the taxation rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on 

taxation rates (and taxation laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Taxation expenses 

Current taxation and deferred taxes are charged or credited 

to other comprehensive income if the taxation relates to 

items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different 

period, to other comprehensive income.

Current taxation and deferred taxes are charged or credited 

directly to equity if the taxation relates to items that are 

credited or charged, in the same or a different period, 

directly in equity.

2.9 LEASES

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership to the lessee. A lease is classified as an operating 

lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 

between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 

contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 

asset or liability which is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are 

incurred.

2.10 INVENTORIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

Inventories are disclosed net of any allowances for slow 

moving, damaged and obsolete inventories. The allowance 

is based on estimates made by management of the net 

realisable value of certain inventory items.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 

sale.

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, 

costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition.
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2.11 CONTRACT WORK IN PROGRESS AND AMOUNTS 
DUE TO CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

The group’s construction activities, which result in 

contracting revenue being recognised over time from 

contracts with customers, give rise to contract assets and 

contract liabilities.

Contract assets and contract liabilities are determined 

on a contract by contract basis and represent the group’s 

progress towards the satisfaction of the performance 

obligations stipulated in the terms of each of its construction 

contracts.

To determine the progress towards the satisfaction of our 

performance obligations on each contract, the group uses 

an input method, measuring the costs incurred to date 

relative to the total estimated cost of the contract.

This method requires the group to estimate the cost of 

construction services and activities performed to date as 

a proportion of the total cost of services and activities to 

be performed. The group considers this method to be the 

most faithful depiction of the transfer of goods and services 

to the customer as the group has a right to payment for 

performance to date which is most reliably measured 

using to costs incurred to date. In addition, judgements are 

required when recognising and measuring any variable 

considerations, claims or uninstalled materials on each 

contract. Refer note 2.25 for further details on judgements 

required when recognising revenue.

The costs of construction services and activities are initially 

recognised at cost when incurred and include all costs that 

relate directly to the fulfilment of the specific contract, and 

allocated overheads relating to the fulfilment of contracts 

in general.

The group presents as a contract asset, the gross amount 

due from customers for contract work for all contracts in 

progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits 

(less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, included 

in contracts work in progress. Progress billings not yet paid 

by customers and retentions are included in contract and 

related debtors. The invoicing of progress billings is done 

either as costs are incurred on a monthly basis or to match 

major capital outlay or on the achievement of milestones, 

dependent on the arrangement with customers in terms of 

the contract.

The group presents as a contract liability, amounts due to 

contract customers and amounts received in advance, for 

contract work for all construction contracts in progress 

for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus 

recognised profits (less recognised losses).

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, 

at any stage, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent 

of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. 
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When the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably 

and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, contract 

revenue is recognised over the period of the contract using the 

above mentioned method to determine the progress towards 

the satisfaction of the group’s performance obligations. 

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total 

contract revenue (onerous contracts), the expected loss is 

recognised as an expense immediately to the extent that the 

remaining contract costs are deemed to be unavoidable in 

terms of IAS 37.

Contract revenue within the group results from “cost-plus”, 

“re-measurable” and “fixed price” contracts.

Refer to note 2.26 for judgements and estimates related 

to contract work in progress and amount due to contract 

customers.

2.12 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The group assesses at each end of the reporting period 

whether there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, the group estimates 

the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, 

the group also:

• tests intangible assets not yet available for use for 

impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount 

with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is 

performed during the annual period and at the same 

time every period; and

• tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for 

impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 

recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 

the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 

acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating 

units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected 

to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units 

if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying 

amount of the units.

2.13 SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 

residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 

all of its liabilities.

2.14 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods 

or services were received in an equity-settled share-based 

payment transaction or a liability if the goods or services 

were acquired in a cash-settled share-based payment 

transaction.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the 

goods or services received are measured, as well as the 

corresponding increase in equity, at the fair value of the 

goods or services received unless that fair value cannot be 

estimated reliably.

If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot 

be estimated reliably, their value and the corresponding 

increase in equity are measured by reference to the fair 

value of the equity instruments granted.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the 

fair value of the equity instruments granted is measured 

at grant date and is not subsequently remeasured. At each 

reporting date, up to and including vesting date, an estimate 

of the number of options expected to vest is carried out at 

each reporting date. Any adjustments are made through the 

statement of comprehensive income with a corresponding 

adjustment to equity.

If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the 

counterparty completes a specified period of service, the 

company accounts for those services as they are rendered 

by the counterparty during the vesting period (or on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period).

2.15 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable 

within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 

vacation leave and sick leave and bonuses), are recognised 

in the period in which the service is rendered and are not 

discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as 

an expense as the employees render services that increase 

their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating 

absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments 

is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 

constructive obligation to make such payments as a result 

of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 

are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or State plans) 

retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 

contribution plans where the group’s obligation under 

the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined 

contribution retirement benefit plan. The group has no 

further obligation once the payments due have been settled.
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2.15 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS continued

Defined benefit plans

For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing the benefits 

is determined using the projected unit credit method.

The defined benefit liability is determined on an annual 
basis by independent actuaries.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent 
that the benefits are already vested, and are otherwise 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period 
until the amended benefits become vested.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the year in 
which they arise, in other comprehensive income.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined 
benefit plan is recognised when the group is demonstrably 
committed to curtailment or settlement.

Any asset in the form of fund surpluses is limited to 
unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs, plus 
the present value of available refunds limited to the changes 
in the present value of those available funds.

Net interest is calculated as the net interest expense related 
to the defined benefit obligation less the corresponding 
return on plan assets (using the rate to discount the defined 
benefit obligation). There are no plan assets to fund the 
liability. The net interest cost is recorded in profit and loss in 
the year in which it arises.

Remeasurements comprise of actuarial gains or losses on 
the defined benefit obligation. These are recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income.

2.16 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

The amount of a provision is the present value of the 

expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

The discount rate used is in line with the length of the particular 

mining operation. Discounting is only performed when the 

effects of time value of money are considered to be material.

2.17 REVENUE

Revenue is recognised at the amount that reflects the 

consideration to which the group expects to be entitled for 

transferring goods or services to its customers based on the 

satisfaction of performance obligations, either over time or 

at a point in time, in the normal course of business. Revenue 

is recognised net of value added tax and inter-company 

revenues are eliminated on consolidation. Revenue is 

measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 

with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf 

of third parties. Transaction prices are not linked to any 

changes in a recognised index of interest rates. The terms 
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granted to customers facilitate the preparation of payments 

and the group does not expect to have any contracts where 

the period between the transfer of the goods or services to 

the customer and payment by the customer exceed one year. 

Therefore no element of financing is deemed to be present 

and no adjustment for the time value of money is made to 

the group’s transaction prices. 

Variable considerations 

It is common for the group’s contracts with customers to 

include variable considerations based on certain industry-

related KPIs, such as bonuses or penalties based on 

specifications, timeliness of completion or minimum volume 

targets. Any variable consideration contained in a contract 

is only recognised to the extent that the group deems it 

highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 

cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The estimate 

is based on all available information including historic 

performance. Where modifications in design or contract 

requirements are entered into, the transaction price is 

updated to reflect these. 

Contract assets and liabilities 

Contract assets and liabilities arise due to a number of 

different factors during the execution of contracts with 

customers. Contract assets represent the group’s right to 

consideration for services provided to customers but which 

have not yet been invoiced. Contract liabilities arise where 

payment is received prior to work being completed. Refer 

note 2.11: Contract work in progress and amounts due to 

contract customers, for further details in this regard. 

Revenue is recognised from the group’s activities, as 

described below: 

Contracting revenue 

The group recognises revenue over time by measuring 

the progress towards the satisfaction of performance 

obligations stipulated in its contracts with customers for 

the construction of assets. Progress is measured using the 

costs incurred to date over the total estimated construction 

cost of the contract (input method). Refer note 2.11 for 

further guidance. 

Revenue from the sale of building materials 

The group recognises revenue at a point in time, being when 

the customer takes possession of the goods. 

Sale of manufactured goods 

The group recognises revenue at a point in time, being 

when the customer takes possession of the manufactured 

products; or 

Operating and maintenance revenue

The group recognises revenue over time by measuring 

the progress towards the satisfaction of performance 

obligations for services provided to customers. 
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2.18 COST OF SALES

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 

inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 

which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any 

write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all 

losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the 

period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any 

reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an 

increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction 

in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in 

the period in which the reversal occurs. The amount of 

any reversal of any write-down of inventories is limited 

to the original carrying amount had no write-down been 

recognised.

2.19 OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon 

utilisation of the service or as incurred.

2.20 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 

are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such 

time as the asset is ready for its intended use.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in 

the period in which they are incurred.

2.21 TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in functional currency of the entity, by applying 
to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate 
between the functional currency and the foreign currency 

at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency balances

At each statement of financial position date:

• Foreign currency monetary items are translated using 
the closing rate; and

• Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items or on translating monetary items at rates different 
from those at which they were translated on initial 
recognition during the period or in previous annual financial 
statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

Foreign operations

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none 
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the group's 

presentation are translated into the functional currency as 
follows:

• Assets and liabilities for each reporting period presented 
are translated at the closing rate ruling at the financial 
year-end date; and

• Income and expenses for each statement of 
comprehensive income item are translated at average 
exchange rates for the year to the extent that such 
average rates approximate rates ruling at the date of 
transactions.

Exchanged differences arising on the translation are 
recognised directly in a separate component of other 
comprehensive income (foreign currency translation 
reserve). When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 
differences are reclassified in profit or loss as part of the 
gain or loss on sale.

2.22 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share is based on the attributable profit for the 

year divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share 

is presented when the inclusion of potential ordinary shares 

has a dilutive effect on earnings per share.

2.23  HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

Headline earnings per share is based on the same calculation 
as in earnings per share above except that attributable profit 
specifically excludes items as set out in Circular 04/2018 
Headline Earnings issued by the South African Institute for 
Chartered Accountants. Diluted headline earnings per share 
is presented when the inclusion of potential ordinary shares 
has a dilutive effect on headline earnings per share.

2.24 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The group has the following operating segments: Building 
Materials, Power (which includes Conco, Conlog and Other), 
Oil & Gas and Rail. In identifying these operating segments, 
management generally follows the group’s service lines 
representing its main products and services.

The chief operating decision maker manages each of these 
operating segments separately as each requires different 
technologies, marketing approaches and other resources. 
Operating segments are not differentiated based on 
geographical location.

In addition, corporate assets which are not directly 
attributable to the business activities of any operating 
segment are not allocated to a segment. This primarily 
applies to the group’s corporate headquarters.

2.25 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 

is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 

and related disclosures. 
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2.25 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS continued

These judgements include:

Property, plant and equipment

Judgement is required in determining the residual value 

and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment. 

The estimation is done at each reporting date and revised 

accordingly.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock

An allowance to write stock down to the lower of cost or net 

realisable value is made at each reporting date. Management 

has made estimates of the selling price and direct cost to 

sell on certain inventory items. The write-down is included 

in the operating profit note.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and 

individual assets have been determined based on the higher 

of value in-use calculations and fair values less costs to 

sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 

assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the future cash 

flows may be different to the current projections which may 

then impact our estimations and may then require a material 

adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill, tangible and 

intangible assets.

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets 

when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, 

goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. 

Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable 

cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other 

assets and liabilities.

If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, 

estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for 

each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to 

determine the value in use of goodwill, tangible and intangible 

assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change 

over time. Additional disclosure of impairments is included 

in note 12 – Goodwill.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 

estimate based on the information available. Additional 

disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in 

note 25 – Provisions.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for 

income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are 

many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate 

taxation determination is uncertain during the ordinary 

course of business. The group recognises liabilities for 

anticipated taxation audit issues based on estimates of 

whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final taxation 

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 

that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 

the income taxation and deferred taxation provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made.

Assessing the recoverability of deferred income taxation 

assets requires the group to make significant estimates 

related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates 

of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows 

from operations and the application of existing taxation laws 

in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and 

taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability 

of the group to realise the net deferred taxation assets 

recorded at the reporting date could be impacted.

Retirement benefit obligations

The company engages the services of an actuary to 

measure its post-health care benefit liability at the end of 

each financial reporting period. The valuation model used to 

measure the liability is the projected credit unit method. This 

method is sensitive to the assumptions made by the actuary 

in performing the valuation. The significant assumptions 

and sensitivity of the valuation to those assumptions are 

detailed in note 27.

Remeasurements comprise either actuarial gains or losses 

on the defined benefit obligation. These are recognised 

directly in other comprehensive income.

Construction contracts

The group uses the input method in accounting for its 

construction contracts.

Performance obligations

IFRS 15 provides guidance as to whether a construction 

project should be treated as one performance obligation or 

multiple performance obligations. The group has to apply 

judgement to determine the performance obligations. In 

applying the IFRS 15 guidance most projects are seen as 

single performance obligations and for group purposes 

were treated on a consolidated basis   

Total estimated cost

Use of the input method requires the group to estimate the 

cost of construction services and activities performed to 

date as a proportion of the total estimated cost of services 

and activities to be performed. 
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Variable considerations

It is common for the group’s contracts with customers to 

include variable considerations based on certain industry-

related KPIs, such as bonuses or penalties based on 

specifications, timeliness of completion or minimum 

targets. Any variable consideration contained in a contract 

is only recognised to the extent that the group deems it 

highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 

cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The estimate 

is based on all available information including historic 

performance. 

Contract profit margin and onerous contract provisions

The total expected contract profit margin is dependent on 

the total estimated revenue and the total estimated cost. 

Where total estimated cost exceeds total estimated revenue, 

the unavoidable expected loss is provided as an onerous 

contract provision.

Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets and liabilities arise due to a number of 

different factors during the execution of contracts with 

customers. Contract assets represent the group’s right to 

consideration for services provided to customers but which 

have not yet been certified or invoiced. Contract liabilities 

arise where payment is received prior to work being 

completed.

2.26 RESTATEMENT NOTE

The accounting policies are consistent with the prior 

year other than the adoption of certain standards and 

interpretations which became effective during the current 

year, refer to note 3 – adoption of new accounting standards 

and interpretations, and in particular as indicated in this 

note, the adoption of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, the 

adoption of IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 

and the correction of various errors and reclassifications. 

2.26.1 Application of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

The group has adopted IFRS 9: Financial Instruments as 

at 1 September 2018. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39: Financial 

Instruments and introduces new requirements for 1) the 

classification and measurement of financial assets and 

financial liabilities and 2) impairment for financial assets.

The adoption of IFRS 9 had the following impact on the 

group:

• Change from the IAS 39 incurred loss model to the 

expected credit loss (ECL) model to calculate impairments 

of trade receivables; and

• Change in classification of the measurement categories 

for financial instruments. 

IFRS 9 introduces new measurement categories for financial 

assets. From 1 September 2018 the group classifies financial 

assets in each of the IFRS 9 measurement categories based 

on the group’s business model for managing the financial 
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

The group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the 
transition provisions set out in IFRS 9. The group has elected 
not to restate the prior periods, with any material difference 
between the previous carrying amount and the carrying 
amount at the beginning of the current year going through 
retained earnings.

After assessing the trade and other receivables including 
contract debtors and trade debtors and their provisions, no 
material impact was noted on the financial statements. The 
adoption of IFRS 9 from 1 September 2018 therefore had an 
immaterial impact on the financial statements. Therefore no 
restatement was done for prior periods. 

Reclassification into the new measurement categories of 
IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on the group.

2.26.2 Application of IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 18: Revenue, IAS 11: Construction 
Contracts and related interpretations for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 applies to 
all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless 
those contracts are in the scope of other standards.

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised, providing additional guidance in many areas not 
covered in detail under the previous revenue standards and 
interpretations. The standard requires entities to exercise 
judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts 
and circumstances when applying the framework to the 
contracts with customers. The standard also specifies the 
accounting treatment for the incremental costs of obtaining 
a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a 
contract. IFRS 15 further includes extensive new disclosure 
requirements.

During the first half of F2019, the group adopted the modified 
retrospective approach to account for IFRS 15 which did not 
adjust comparative numbers, however due to the eventual 
magnitude of the adjustment at R670 million, management 
decided to perform a fully retrospective adoption to 
account for IFRS 15 as it would provide the user with more 
meaningful information.

In assessing contract positions an individual project basis, 
as required by IFRS 15, contract assets recognised under 
IAS 11, were not regarded as contractually receivable and 
were therefore reversed under IFRS 15 into cost of sales. 
The effect of the application on the group is reflected within 
the table in 2.26.10 of this note.

The group derives revenue from contracts with customers 
for the supply of goods and services. Below is the group’s 

revised revenue treatment of each product type. 
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Segment Type of revenue stream
Treatment under
IAS 11 or IAS 18 Treatment under IFRS 15

Building Materials Revenue generated from the 
sale of crushed stone, rock and 
aggregates for the construction 
industry for application in roads, 
ready mix, concrete and for 
stabilisation

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
delivering of goods (IAS 18)

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
delivering of goods – revenue 
recognised at a point in time

Revenue generated from the 
manufacture and sale of a range 
of clay bricks and concrete roof 
tiles for the building sector 
including developers, contractors 
and wholesalers

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
transfer of goods (IAS 18)

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
transfer of goods – revenue 
recognised at a point in time

Power – Conco Revenue generated from the 
construction of high voltage 
turnkey electrical substations, 
overhead power lines, renewable 
energy – wind and solar – and 
related products

Individual contract with revenue 
recognised based on percentage 
completion (IAS 11) of different 
components of overall project

Individual contract treatment with 
revenue recognised over time for 
one performance obligation

Power – Conlog Revenue generated from 
manufacturing and distribution of 
pre-paid electricity meters along 
with related applications and 
support services

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
transfer of completed unit and 
provision of support service  
(IAS 18)

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
transfer of completed unit – 
revenue recognised at a point in 
time

Power – Other Revenue generated from 
long-term operational and 
maintenance services to wind 
farms, solar parks, municipalities 
and utilities – often on projects 
constructed by Conco

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised over the 
period of maintenance services 
being provided (IAS 18)

Individual contract treatment with 
revenue recognised over time 
as the maintenance services are 
being rendered for the customer

Oil & Gas in Associate Revenue from waste 
management services provided 
to the oil and gas industry. This 
encompasses the collection, 
recycling and disposal of oil-
based waste created during the 
drilling process

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised over 
the period of waste management 
services being provided (IAS 18)

Individual contract treatment 
with revenue recognised over 
time as the waste management 
services are being rendered for 
the customer

Rail Revenue generated from 
provision of transmission lines, 
substations up to 132 kV as well 
as installation and maintenance 
of electrical lines for railway lines

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue recognised on 
percentage completion (with 
reference to cost incurred as a 
percentage of total cost) for the 
construction of the transmission 
lines and substations (IAS 11), 
on installation for the customer 
(IAS 18) and over the period of 
maintenance of electrical lines 
(IAS 18)

Individual contract per customer 
with three performance 
obligations.

Revenue recognised on 
installation for the customer at a 
point in time. 

Revenue on construction 
of transmission lines and 
substations to be recognised over 
time. Revenue recognised over 
time as maintenance of electrical 
lines are completed

Revenue generated from 
provision of railway maintenance 
services to Gautrain, Transnet, 
PRASA, private siding owners 
such as mining houses

Individual contract per customer 
with revenue generated from the 
maintenance provided over time 
(IAS 18)

Individual contract treatment with 
revenue recognised over time as 
maintenance services are being 
rendered for the customer

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.26 RESTATEMENT NOTE continued

2.26.2 Application of IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers
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Segment Type of revenue stream
Treatment under
IAS 11 or IAS 18 Treatment under IFRS 15

Corporate Revenue is generated from inter-
company management fees

Individual contract per company 
with revenue generated from 
management fee at a point in 
time

Individual contract per company 
with revenue generated from 
management fee at a point in 
time

The effect of this adjustment is reflected in the table 2.26.10 
of this note. This error impacts the income statement and 
the statement of financial position but has no impact on the 
cashflow statement.

2.26.4 Correction of error in carrying value of the 
Investment in Joint Venture AES

During the current financial year, management reassessed 
the functional currency of its joint venture investment in AES 
and reconsidered it to be the US Dollar. In the previous year 
the investment was incorrectly treated with a combination 
of Angolan Kwanza and USD as functional currency. 
In addition, management reassessed the depreciation 
estimate for property, plant and equipment owned by AES. 
Management also reconciled the carrying value of the 
company’s investment against the net asset value of AES 
for each financial year since the date of acquisition. This led 
to a restatement of prior years’ investment carrying value.

The effect of this adjustment is reflected in the table in 
2.26.10 of this note. This error impacts retained income and 
the statement of financial position and a reclassification 
between operating activities and investing activities on the 
cash flow statement.

2.26.5 Correction of classification of trade finance 
liability 

The Conco businesses utilises trade finance facilities 
provided by its banking partners. These facilities are 
interest bearing. In prior years, any liability due under the 
trade finance facilities was disclosed within trade and other 
payables. During the current financial year, management 
has reviewed this disclosure and determined it more 
appropriate to disclose this liability as borrowings. 

This has required a restatement of the statement of financial 
position with a reduction in trade and other payables of R457 
million in 2018 and R449 million in 2017 and a corresponding 
increase in current borrowings due in the same periods. 

The effect of this adjustment is reflected in the table in 
2.26.10 of this note. This reclassification does not impact the 
income statement but reclassifies the statement of financial 
position. In addition, any movement in trade finance during 
the year impacted the cash flow statements and required 
a restatement of the cash flow statement with movements 
reflecting as financing activities and not as operating 

activities. 

2.26.3 Correction of revenue recognition error

While assessing the impact of IFRS 15 in the current financial 
year, the revenue recognition practices were reassessed to 
be more appropriate. This resulted in a restatement of prior 
year results.

In prior years most of Conco’s construction projects were 
treated as multiple performance obligation contracts divided 
into the different lines of business that delivered different 
services to the project. These different services recognised 
revenue at different percentages of completion and different 
profit margins.

IFRS 15 provides guidance as to whether a construction 
project should be treated as one performance obligation 
or multiple performance obligations. In applying the  
IFRS 15 guidance most of Conco’s projects are seen as 
single performance obligations and for group purposes 
were treated on a consolidated basis. The revised treatment 
resulted in a single percentage of completion  per project, 
a single profit margin for the project and appropriate 
elimination of inter business line profit margins.

IFRS 15 requires revenue to only be recognised when it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount 
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the 
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved. The “highly probable” criteria meant 
that revenue recognised to date had to be reassessed for 
potential uncertainties and potential onerous contracts as 
a result of a decreased revenue. Resultant work in progress 
and onerous contract positions for the comparative periods 
were also assessed.

The following areas of focus were identified which gave rise 
to the restatement:

• When considering revenue recognition for group 
reporting purposes, inter-company and intra-company 
transactions raised were not always eliminated when 
determining the percentage of completion computation. 
This distorted the profit margins recognised on the 
contract via an overstatement of cost and hence 
percentage of completion and resultant work in progress 
asset recorded. 

• Onerous provisions were historically not recognised for 
unavoidable costs and losses to be incurred to complete 
loss-making contracts.

The integrated nature of the restatement makes it impossible 
to allocate the restatement between a pure IFRS 15 adoption 
restatement and prior year error restatement. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.26 RESTATEMENT NOTE  continued 

2.26.6 Restated number of shares in issue 

The F2017 and F2018 reported number of shares in issue 
has been restated and decreased by 96 231 shares, due 
to an error noted in the current year. The reported F2017 
and F2018 shares in issue decreased from 196 255 245 to  
196 159 014.

This restatement does not affect the groups statement of 
financial position or cash flow statement. This restatement 
does not affect the group’s profit or income statement but 
would amend the earnings per share disclosures in F2018 
and F2017.

2.26.7 Reorganisation of segmental report 

Management has re-evaluated the group’s segmental 
reporting following an assessment of the group’s chief 
operating decision makers reporting structure and 
information requirements. As a results the groups four 
reporting segments have been expanded by increasing 
disclosure and transparency within the power segment, 
being the group’s largest segment. The power segment now 
provides sub disclosure of Conco, the group’s turnkey power 
project contracting business, Conlog, the group’s pre-paid 
electricity metres manufacturer, with the balance reflected 
as other being the Consolidated Power Maintenance 
business, a provider of operational and maintenance 
services and CIGenco SA, a development centre that invests 
in and oversees in the development of power projects. 

Segmental information is disclosed on a net basis as 
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.

This restatement does not affect the groups income 
statement or statement of financial position or cash flow 
statement. 

2.26.8 Directors remuneration

The group has enhanced its disclosure of director’s 
remuneration to be more in line with that required by the 
Companies Act, IFRS and King IV. In prior years, disclosure 
of principal officers and key management remuneration was 
not disclosed on an individual level. Instead remuneration 
was aggregated and disclosed as a singular value.

During the current financial period, management has 
provided the required disclosure of non-executive directors, 
executive directors and prescribed officers, who include 
the top three highest paid employees, per individual and 
provided the required 2018 disclosure. 

This restatement does not affect the group’s income 
statement or statement of financial position or cash flow 
statement. 

2.26.9 Expenses incorrectly recorded within the 
company financial statements

A review of the company's reported results for F2018 
highlighted that expenses of R89 million were incorrectly 
charged to the company. This has been corrected. 

This error reduces the subcontractor expenses line item and 
impacts the company’s income statement from R89 million 
to nil and the trade and other payables in the statement of 
financial position to R59 million from R148 million, however 
has no impact on the cash flow statement, or opening 
retained earnings for F2018.
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2.26.10  Impact of the adoption of IFRS 15, correction of prior period errors and reclassification entries on the 
consolidated financial statements for prior periods presented

F2017
Statement of financial position
R’000

As reported
F2017

IFRS 15 
and revenue

recognition
error

adjustment
AES 

correction
Trade finance

reallocation
Restated 

F2017

ASSETS

Investments in joint arrangements  724 783 –  (125 907) –  598 876 

Trade and related receivables  522 958  (69 125) – –  453 833 

Contract work in progress  2 003 121  (869 175) – –  1 133 946 

EQUITY

Total equity 3 839 348  (979 401)  (125 907) – 2 734 040

LIABILITIES

Retirement benefit obligation  15 598 – –  (306)  15 292 

Borrowings – current  948 227 – –  449 309  1 397 536 

Trade and other payables  1 466 352  48 941 –  (449 003)  1 066 289 

Amounts due from contract customers  68 276  (7 839) – –  60 437 

F2018
Statement of financial position
R’000

As reported
F2018

IFRS 15 
and revenue

recognition
error

adjustment
AES 

correction
Trade finance

reallocation
Restated

F2018

ASSETS

Investments in joint arrangements  727 526 –  (127 871) –  599 655 

Trade and related receivables  729 460  (112 393) – –  617 067 

Contract work in progress  1 196 462  (256 406) – –  940 056 

EQUITY

Total equity 1 846 114  (627 667)  (127 871) – 1 090 576

LIABILITIES

Retirement benefit obligation  14 349 – –  (378)  13 971 

Borrowings – current  483 057 – –  456 630  939 687 

Trade and other payables  1 250 669  127 155 –  (456 252)  921 572 

Amounts due from contract customers  369 362  131 713 – –  501 075 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.26 RESTATEMENT NOTE continued

2.26.10  Impact of the adoption of IFRS 15, correction of prior period errors and reclassification entries on the 
consolidated financial statements for prior periods presented continued

F2018
Income statement
R’000

As reported
F2018

IFRS 15 
and revenue

recognition
error

adjustment
AES 

correction 
Restated

F2018

Revenue  2 706 570  429 948 –  3 136 518 

Cost of sales  (2 837 268)  (78 215) –  (2 915 483)

Impairment of carrying value in joint arrangement  (134 401) –  134 401 –

Equity-accounted income from joint ventures and associates  50 944 –  (136 365)  (85 421)

Loss before taxation  (1 839 880)  351 733  (1 964)  (1 490 111)

Loss for the period  (2 027 762)  351 733  (1 964)  (1 677 993)

Loss attributable to equity shareholders of CIG  (2 022 177)  351 733  (1 964)  (1 672 408)

Basic loss per share (rands) (10,30) – – (8,53)

Diluted loss per share (rands) (10,30) – – (8,53) 

Headline loss per share (rands) (7,21) – – (3,66) 

F2018 
Statement of cash flow
R’000

As reported
F2018

AES
correction

Trade
 finance

reallocation
Restated

F2018

Net cash from operating activities  (239 746)  (36 383) 23 379  (252 750)

Net cash from investing activities (147 317) 36 383 – (110 934)

Net cash from financing activities  409 049 –  (23 379)  385 670 

3. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS 
3.1 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

There are a number of new standards, improvements and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year with only 

the following that were expected to have an impact on the group:

Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers

1 January 2018 The FASB and IASB issued their standard on revenue 

recognition on 29 May 2014. It is a single, comprehensive 

revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers 

to achieve greater consistency in the recognition and 

presentation of revenue.

Revenue is recognised based on the satisfaction of 

performance obligations, which occurs when control of 

goods or services transfers to a customer.

IMPACT: Refer disclosure on note 2.26.2 with regards to the adoption of IFRS 15

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

Amendment to IFRS 15: Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018 The IASB has amended IFRS 15 to clarify the guidance, 

but there were no major changes to the standard itself. 

The amendments comprise clarifications of the guidance 

on identifying performance obligations, accounting 

for licences of intellectual property and the principal 

versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue 

presentation). New and amended illustrative examples 

have been added for each of these areas of guidance. The 

IASB has also included additional practical expedients 

related to transition to the new revenue standard.

IMPACT: Refer disclosure on note 2.26.2 with regards to the adoption of IFRS 15

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments  
(2009 and 2010)

• Financial liabilities

• Derecognition of financial 
instruments

• Financial assets

• General hedge accounting

1 January 2018 This standard replaces the guidance in IAS 39. It includes 
requirements on the classification and measurement 
of financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an 
expected credit losses model that replaces the current 
incurred loss impairment model.

IMPACT: Refer disclosure on note 2.26.1 with regards to the adoption of IFRS 9

Amendment to IFRS 9: Financial 
Instruments, on general hedge 
accounting

1 January 2018 The IASB has amended IFRS 9 to align hedge accounting 
more closely with an entity’s risk management. The 
revised standard also establishes a more principles-
based approach to hedge accounting and addresses 
inconsistencies and weaknesses in the current model in 
IAS 39.

Early adoption of the above requirements has specific 
transitional rules that need to be followed. Entities 
can elect to apply IFRS 9 for any of the following: The 
own credit risk requirements for financial liabilities. 
Classification and measurement (C&M) requirements 
for financial assets. C&M requirements for financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The full current version of  
IFRS 9 (that is, C&M requirements for financial assets and 
financial liabilities and hedge accounting).

IMPACT: Refer disclosure on note 2.26.1 with regards to the adoption of IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 2: Share-based 
Payments

1 January 2018 This amendment clarifies the measurement basis for 
cash-settled, share-based payments and the accounting 
for modifications that change an award from cash-
settled to equity-settled. It also introduces an exception 
to the principles in IFRS 2 that will require an award 
to be treated as if it was wholly equity-settled, where 
an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the 
employee’s taxation obligation associated with a share-
based payment and pay that amount to the taxation 
authority.

IMPACT: No impact
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Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions 
and Advance Consideration

1 January 2018 This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions 
or parts of transactions where there is consideration 
that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. 
The interpretation provides guidance for when a single 
payment/receipt is made as well as for situations where 
multiple payment/receipts are made. The guidance aims 
to reduce diversity in practice.

IMPACT: No material impact in the current year. Consider for future periods

IAS 40: Investment Property Transfers of 
Investment Property

1 January 2018 These amendments clarify that to transfer to, or from, 
investment properties there must be a change in use. 
To conclude if a property has changed use there should 
be an assessment of whether the property meets the 
definition. This change must be supported by evidence.

IMPACT: No significant impact

Annual improvements 2014 – 2016 1 January 2018 These amendments impact 2 standards: 

• IFRS 1 – First-time adoption of IFRS’, regarding the 
deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time 
adopters regarding IFRS 7, IAS 19, and IFRS 10. 

• IAS 28 – Investments in associates and joint 
ventures’ regarding measuring an associate or joint 
venture at fair value. IAS   028 allows venture capital 
organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar 
entities to elect measuring their investments in 
associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL). The board clarified that this election 
should be made separately for each associate or joint 
venture at initial recognition.

3.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED NOT YET EFFECTIVE

There are a number of new standards and amendments to standards which will only be effective after the 2019 financial year. 

None of these are expected to have a significant impact on the group except for IFRS 16: Leases.

No standards and interpretations have been early adopted.

Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

Amendment to IFRS 9: Financial 
Instruments

• Prepayment features with negative 
compensation and

• Modification of financial liabilities

1 January 2019 The narrow-scope amendment covers two issues:

• The amendments allow companies to measure 
particular prepayable financial assets with so-called 
negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair 
value through other comprehensive income if a 
specified condition is met – instead of at fair value 
through profit or loss. It is likely to have the biggest 
impact on banks and other financial services entities.

• How to account for the modification of a financial 
liability. The amendment confirms that most such 
modifications will result in immediate recognition of 
a gain or loss. This is a change from common practice 
under IAS 39 today and will affect all kinds of entities 
that have renegotiated borrowings.

IMPACT: No significant impact expected

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

3. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS continued

3.1 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
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Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

IFRS 16: Leases 1 January 2019 This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 
and is a far reaching change in accounting by lessees in 
particular.

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction 
between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an 
operating lease (off balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires 
lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future 
lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually 
all lease contracts. The IASB has included an optional 
exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets; however, this exemption can only be 
applied by lessees.

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. 
However, as the IASB has updated the guidance on the 
definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on the 
combination and separation of contracts), lessors will 
also be affected by the new standard. At the very least, 
the new accounting model for lessees is expected to 
impact negotiations between lessors and lessees. Under 
IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17: Leases, IFRIC 4: Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15: 
Operating Leases – Incentives  and SIC 27: Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
Lease.

IMPACT: The accounting for leases which will result in the recognition of a material obligation and asset for long term leases. 

Operating costs will decrease while finance costs and depreciation will increase. The company will adopt the standard using the 

modified retrospective approach

Amendments to IAS 28: Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures – long-
term interests in associates and joint 
ventures

1 January 2019 The amendments clarified that companies account for 
long-term interests in an associate or joint venture, to 
which the equity method is not applied, using IFRS 9.

IMPACT: No significant impact expected

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement – Amendments to IAS 19

1 January 2019 The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting for 
defined benefit plan amendments, curtailments and 
settlements. They confirm that entities must:

• calculate the current service cost and net interest 
for the remainder of the reporting period after a plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement by using the 
updated assumptions from the date of the change

• any reduction in a surplus should be recognised 
immediately in profit or loss either as part of past 
service cost, or as a gain or loss on settlement. In other 
words, a reduction in a surplus must be recognised in 
profit or loss even if that surplus was not previously 
recognised because of the impact of the asset ceiling

• separately recognise any changes in the asset ceiling 
through other comprehensive income.

IMPACT: No significant impact expected
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Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

IFRIC 23: Uncertainty Over Income Tax 
Treatments

1 January 2019 IFRIC 23 provides a framework to consider, recognise and 
measure the accounting impact of taxation uncertainties. 
The Interpretation provides specific guidance in 
several areas where previously IAS 12 was silent. The 
Interpretation also explains when to reconsider the 
accounting for a taxation uncertainty. Most entities 
will have developed a model to account for taxation 
uncertainties in the absence of specific guidance in  
IAS 12. These models might, in some circumstances, be 
inconsistent with IFRIC 23 and the impact on taxation 
accounting could be material. Management should 
assess the existing models against the specific guidance 
in the Interpretation and consider the impact on income 
taxation accounting.

IMPACT: Reassess impact on all areas of taxation uncertainty

Amendment to IAS 1: Presentation  
of Financial Statements and IAS 8:  
Accounting Policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors’ on the 
definition of material

1 January 2020 These amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential 
amendments to other IFRSs: 

• use a consistent definition of materiality through 
IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting; 

• clarify the explanation of the definition of material; 
and

• incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about 
immaterial information. 

The amended definition is:

“Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring 
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that 
the primary users of general purpose financial statements 
make on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting 
entity.”

IMPACT: No significant impact expected

Amendment to IFRS 3: Business 
Combinations – Definition of a business

1 January 2020 To be considered a business, an acquisition would have to 
include an input and a substantive process that together 
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The 
new guidance provides a framework to evaluate when an 
input and a substantive process are present (including for 
early stage companies that have not generated outputs). 
To be a business without outputs, there will now need to 
be an organised workforce.

IMPACT: No significant impact expected

3. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS continued 

3.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED NOT YET EFFECTIVE continued

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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Accounting standards/interpretation Effective date Description

Annual improvements cycle 2015 – 2017 1 January 2019 These amendments include minor changes to:

• IFRS 3: Business Combinations – a company 

remeasures its previously held interest in a joint 

operation when it obtains control of the business.

• IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements – a company does not 

remeasure its previously held interest in a joint 

operation when it obtains joint control of the business.

• IAS 12: Income Taxes – The amendment clarified that 

the income taxation consequences of dividends on 

financial instruments classified as equity should be 

recognised according to where the past transactions 

or events that generated distributable profits were 

recognised.

• IAS 23: Borrowing Costs – a company treats as part 

of general borrowings any borrowing originally made 

to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its 

intended use or sale.

IMPACT: No significant impact expected

Amendments to IFRS 10: Consolidated 

Financial Statements and IAS 28: 

Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures on sale or contribution of 

assets

Effective date 

postponed

The postponement applies to changes introduced by 

the IASB in 2014 through narrow-scope amendments 

to IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements and  

IAS 28: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Those 

changes affect how an entity should determine any gain 

or loss it recognises when assets are sold or contributed 

between the entity and an associate or joint venture 

in which it invests. The changes do not affect other 

aspects of how entities account for their investments in 

associates and joint ventures.

The reason for making the decision to postpone the 

effective date is that the IASB is planning a broader 

review that may result in the simplification of accounting 

for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting 

for associates and joint ventures.

IMPACT: No significant impact expected
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4. OPERATING EXPENSES

R’000 Notes

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Operating expenses are stated after charging/
(crediting)

4.1 (PROFIT)/LOSS ON DISPOSALS

Property, plant and equipment  (270)  22  –    –   

4.2 FOREIGN EXCHANGE (GAIN)/LOSS

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (29 292)  23 047  –    –   

4.3 RENTALS UNDER OPERATING LEASE

Premises  36 917  49 609  1 514  2 050 

Equipment*  9 039  9 439  36  –   

4.4 AUDIT AND ACCOUNTING FEES  12 430  11 747  1 298  1 986 

Local  5 526  4 535  1 258  1 986 

Audit services – PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  4 096  –    1 258  –   

 Audit services – Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  1 430  4 535  –    1 986 

Foreign  1 564  1 260  –    –   

Audit services – PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  1 547  –    –    –   

Audit services – Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  17  1 260  –    –   

Non-audit services  5 340  5 952  40  –   

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  11  –    –    –   

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  5 328  5 952  40  –   

4.5 REMUNERATION OTHER THAN TO EM-
PLOYEES

Technical services  5 225  2 902  225  –   

Management services  11 515  8 819  1 287  799 

4.6 OTHER AMOUNTS INCLUDED IN SITE AND  
OFFICE COSTS

Insurance  16 354  18 573  272  217 

Security and health and safety  10 112  8 880  –    –   

Other  8 333  15 739  7  106 

4.7 DEPRECIATION 3 70 654 78 279  475  426 

4.8 AMORTISATION 5 34 831 37 467  – –

*  F2018 corrected due to error, noted in the current year, of the prior year disclosure.

5. PAYROLL COST

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Salaries and wages 802 553  884 438  22 414  20 444 

Year-end bonuses  26 882  29 469  6 600  6 600 

Share-based payments expense  –    11 548  –    –   

Company employee benefit contributions  42 414  33 842 –  –   

Other employee-related costs  74 259  136 837 2 609  –   

 946 108  1 096 134  31 623  27 044 
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6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Salary

Bonus and 
performance-related 

payments
Separation 
payment Total

R’000 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Paid by group 
companies

R Gamsu  5 199  4 887  3 100 –  –    –    8 299 4 887

C Teixeira#  1 708  –    –    –    –    –    1 708  –   

I Klitzner*  1 030  3 090  –    –   3 779  –    4 809  3 090 

S Jelley^  1 410  –    –    –    –    –    1 410  –   

Total 9 347  7 977  3 100 –  3 779  –   16 226 7 977

*  Outgoing chief financial officer. Resigned 6 November 2018. A separation payment of R3,089 million was made. In addition, a monthly 
retainer fee of R86 250 was paid from January 2019 to August 2019. The retainer agreement continues until December 2019.

^ Interim chief financial officer from 7 November 2018 to 1 April 2019.
# Incoming chief financial officer. Appointed 2 April 2019.

Fees Expenses Total

R’000 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Paid by group companies

F Boner – outgoing chairman*  940 1 285 –  –    940  1 285 

K Bucknor& 825  449  72  –  640  449 

A Darko*  618  699  –    –    618  699 

A Dixon*  537 734  2 –  539  734 

R Horton  –    249  –    –    –    249 

Prof K Ojah*  342  419  –    –    342  419 

M Wilkerson – incoming chairman^&    292  –    643  –    934  –   

J Beck^&  274  –    –    –    274  –   

C Hess^@&  257  –    5  –    261  –   

R Hogarth#&  263  –    –    –    263  –   

T Hudson#&  257  –    –    –    257  –   

Dr K Kariuki&  885  454  18 –  588  454 

A Mazar^&  257  –    352  –    609  –   

Q Mclean^&  175  –    –    –    175  –   

S Melnick^&  263  –    87  –    349  –   

J Nwokedi& 524 299  –    –    624  292 

7 278 4 588  1 178  –  7 413 4 588

*  Resigned 30 January 2019.
^ Appointed 30 January 2019 following a reconstitution of the board.
# Appointed 1 August 2018.
@ Resigned 15 November 2019.
& Includes fees from February 2019 which have been accrued but not yet paid.
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6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS continued

Salary
Bonus and performance-

related payments Total

R’000 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

PRESCRIBED  
OFFICERS

Paid by group companies

W Bassaragh  3 235  2 786  617  437  3 852  3 223 

J Dladla*  3 236  –    –    –    3 236  –   

J Hooman  7 003  5 596  2 818  3 187  9 821  8 783 

D Lubbe  2 067  2 002  230  420  2 296  2 422 

L Moodley  2 370  2 236  915  229  3 285  2 465 

S Zondi^ 2 568  –    –    –    2 568  –   

20 479 12 620 4 580 4 273 25 059 16 893

* Appointed 1 November 2018.
^  Employed for the full financial year but appointed as prescribed officer from January 2019. F2019 remuneration includes once off 

leave payout following transfer between group companies.

7. FINANCE INCOME

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Bank and other cash  35 961  22 622  30 578  12 161

Other  105  3 590  –    –   

Loans to subsidiaries –  –    22 860  18 173 

 36 066  26 212  53 438  30 334 

8. FINANCE COST

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Instalment sale liabilities  4 008  2 838  –    –   

Bank and borrowings  292 700  245 503  137 837  120 507 

Loans from subsidiaries  –    –    14 313  14 365 

 296 708  248 341 152 150 134 872
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9. TAXATION

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Current

Local income taxation  31 127  90 759  –    –   

Foreign income taxation or withholding taxation  4 686  5 494  –    –   

Prior period under/(over) provision  6 987  3 689  (1 302)  –   

 42 800  99 942  (1 302)  –   

Deferred

Originating and reversing temporary differences  20 321  87 973  –    –   

Arising from prior period adjustments  482  (33)  424  –   

 20 803  87 940 424  –   

 63 603  187 882  (878)  –   

Reconciliation of taxation expense

Reconciliation between accounting loss and taxation expense

Accounting loss  (1 279 382)  (1 490 111)  (1 952 009)  (743 590)

Taxation at South African normal taxation rate of 28%  (358 227)  (417 231)  (546 563)  (208 205)

Taxation effect of adjustments on taxable income

Non-deductible expenditure  2 237  125 221 546 685 138 225 

Loss from equity-accounted investments  8 136 23 918  –    –   

Foreign taxation rate differential  54 284  (6 310)  –    –   

Prior period adjustments  7 469  3 656  –    –   

Deferred taxation asset not recognised  349 721 459 272  –    69 980 

Exempt income  (19)  (644)  –    –   

 63 603  187 882  (878)  –   

Effective taxation rate (%) (5) (10) – –

Non-deductible expenditure in the group refers mainly to impairment of goodwill in note 12.

In the company, non-deductible expenditure relates to impairment of investment in subsidiaries in note 19.
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10. LOSS PER SHARE
GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018 2019 2018

10.1 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders (R‘000)  (1 331 228)  (1 672 408) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Shares in issue as at year-end (’000)  396 159  196 159  396 159  196 159 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 

of basic earnings per share (‘000)*  334 789  196 159  334 789  196 159 

Basic and diluted loss per share (R)  (3,98)  (8,53)  (5,83)  (3,79)

10.2 HEADLINE AND DILUTED HEADLINE  
LOSS PER SHARE
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders (R’000)  (1 331 228)  (1 672 408) (1 951 131) (743 590)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (270)  22 – –

Impairment of goodwill  66 241  472 491 – –

Impairment of intangible assets  39 387 – – –

Taxation effect on adjustments  76  (6) – –

Headline loss for the year attributable to equity  

holders (R’000)  (1 225 795)  (1 199 901) (1 951 131) (743 590)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (’000)*  334 789  196 159  334 789  196 159 

Headline and diluted headline loss per share (R)  (3,66)  (6,12)  (5,83)  (3,79)

* Opening shares  196 159  196 159  196 159  196 159 

Weighted average number of shares during the year  

– rights issue  138 630 – 138 630 –

Weighted average number at the end of year  334 789  196 159  334 789  196 159 

The fully diluted loss per share equates that of the basic loss per share and the fully diluted headline loss per share equates 

that of the headline loss per share as the group reports a loss and thus the impact is anti-dilutive.

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP

2019  2018  2017

R’000 Cost

Accumu-
lated

depre-
ciation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

depre-
ciation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

depre-
ciation

Carrying 
value

Land and buildings  180 116  (16 646)  163 470  199 369  (15 990)  183 379  160 670  (12 750)  147 920 

Plant and machinery  488 970  (283 488)  205 482  482 803  (250 432)  232 371  457 961  (216 327)  241 634 

Furniture and fixtures  10 712  (8 385)  2 327  17 716  (12 792)  4 924  17 888  (11 033)  6 855 

Motor vehicles  154 244  (116 875)  37 369  167 439  (116 531)  50 908  163 094 (105 277)  57 817 

Office equipment  38 173  (31 231)  6 942  7 656  (7 560)  96  7 852  (6 640)  1 212 

IT equipment  54 834  (48 170)  6 664  75 266  (63 088)  12 178  73 630  (57 662)  15 968 

Computer software  60 303  (30 848)  29 455  73 624  (39 968)  33 656  74 479  (36 375)  38 104 

Leasehold improvements  10 982  (8 769)  2 213  2 906  (1 618)  1 288  2 332  (1 828)  504 

Mobile site offices  2 001  (1 011)  990  3 143  (1 838)  1 305  2 992  (1 613)  1 379 

Tools and moulds  34 086  (29 409)  4 677  20 715  (17 348)  3 367  18 606  (16 339)  2 267 

Capital work in progress  61 479  –    61 479  3 512  –    3 512  –    –    –   

Total 1 095 900 (574 832) 521 068 1 054 149 (527 165) 526 984 979 504 (465 844) 513 660 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

COMPANY 

2019  2018

R’000 Cost

Accumu-
lated

depre-
ciation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

depre-
ciation

Carrying 
value

Furniture and fixtures  666  (464)  202  666  (378)  288 

Office equipment  37  (31)  6  37  (28)  9 

IT equipment  629  (545)  84  629  (402)  227 

Leasehold improvements  1 958  (1 166)  792  1 958  (923)  1 035 

Total  3 290  (2 206)  1 084  3 290  (1 731)  1 559 

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP 2019

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Disposals Transfers*

Foreign
exchange

move-
ments

Depre-
ciation

Closing
balance

Land and buildings  183 379  2 583  (16 232)  (4 095)  –    (2 165)  163 470 

Plant and machinery  232 371  16 647  (447)  (514)  (404)  (42 171)  205 482 

Furniture and fixtures  4 924  700  (1 074)  (184)  75  (2 114)  2 327 

Motor vehicles  50 908  1 387  (1 859)  (2 537)  (168)  (10 362)  37 369 

Office equipment  96  2 063  (56)  6 621  17  (1 799)  6 942 

IT equipment  12 178  2 195  (75)  (3 512)  14  (4 136)  6 664 

Computer software  33 656  85  –    (5 974)  1    1 687  29 455 

Leasehold improvements  1 288  2 131  (4 109)  10 130  74  (7 301)  2 213 

Mobile site offices  1 305  –    (56)  (116)  –    (143)  990 

Tools and moulds  3 367  3 273  –    181  6  (2 150)  4 677 

Capital work in progress  3 512  57 967 – –  –    –    61 479 

 526 984  89 031  (23 908) –  (385)  (70 654)  521 068 

*  Transfers relate to a reallocation performed in the current year to ensure a more relevant and appropriate asset categorisation. 
Capital work in progress is transferred to the relevant category of asset once complete and the asset has been commissioned.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

GROUP 2018

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Foreign
exchange

move-
ments

Depre-
ciation 

Closing
balance

Land and buildings  147 920  38 346  –    354  (3 241)  183 379 

Plant and machinery  241 634  34 536  (3 098)  2 930  (43 631)  232 371 

Furniture and fixtures  6 855  482  (486)  476  (2 403)  4 924 

Motor vehicles  57 817  5 688  (410)  385  (12 572)  50 908 

Office equipment  1 212  118  (408)  93  (919)  96 

IT equipment  15 968  4 128  (53)  70  (7 935)  12 178 

Computer software  38 104  1 322  (24)  –    (5 746)  33 656 

Leasehold improvements  504  1 365  –    –    (581)  1 288 

Mobile site offices  1 379  153  –    –    (227)  1 305 

Tools and moulds  2 267  2 124  –    –    (1 024)  3 367 

Capital work in progress  –    3 512  –    –    –    3 512 

 513 660  91 774  (4 479)  4 308  (78 279)  526 984 

Capital work in progress relates primarily to capital costs incurred with a change in premises for Conlog from its existing 

location to a new operational facility in Dube Trade Port. Costs include new plant and machinery for a surface mount 

technology line, leasehold improvements to the facility and IT infrastructure. The anticipated overall completion date of the 

project is November 2019, where the new facility was brought on line and became fully operational. In addition an automated 

assembly machine for the latest product launched has been installed. The total project cost is estimated at R81,1 million with  

R57,9 million incurred in the year with the balance of R23,6 million included within committed capital expenditure. Refer to 

note 31.

COMPANY 2019

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Depreciation

Closing
balance

Furniture and fixtures  288  –    (86)  202 

Office equipment  9  –    (2)  7 

IT equipment  227  –    (142)  85 

Leasehold improvements  1 035  –    (244)  791 

 1 559  –    (474)  1 084 

COMPANY 2018

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Depreciation

Closing
balance

Furniture and fixtures  73  296  (81)  288 

Office equipment  13  –    (4)  9 

IT equipment  374  –    (147)  227 

Leasehold improvements  11  1 218  (194)  1 035 

 471  1 514  (426)  1 559 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

ASSETS SUBJECT TO INSTALMENT SALE LIABILITIES (NET CARRYING AMOUNT)

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Plant and machinery  15 310  21 455  25 076  –    –   

Motor vehicles  14 573  20 080  22 310  –    –   

IT equipment  202  807  990  –    –   

 30 084  42 342  48 376  –    –   

Refer to note 32 for details of property, plant and equipment given as security to the group's lenders.

CONTINGENCY ON PROPERTY IN ELDERBERRY

Drift Supersand entered into an agreement with minority shareholders of Elderberry, a subsidiary, (which includes directors of 

Drift Supersand) such that the minority shareholders have the right to sell their residual shares in Elderberry to Drift Supersand 

at a value based on 30% of the net sales proceeds to be derived from the future sale, if there is a future sale, of the land and 

buildings of Elderberry. This contingency is regarded as remote.

12. GOODWILL

GROUP

2019 2018 2017

R’000 Cost

Accumu-
lated

impair-
ment

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

impair-
ment

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

impair-
ment

Carrying 
value

Goodwill  1 191 376  (578 139)  613 237  1 191 376  (511 898)  679 478  1 191 376  (39 407)  1 151 969 

RECONCILIATION

GROUP

R’000 2019 2018 2017

Opening balance  679 478  1 151 969  536 343 

Additions through business combinations –  –    615 626 

Impairment loss  (66 241)  (472 491)  –   

Closing balance  613 237  679 478  1 151 969 
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12. GOODWILL continued

IMPAIRMENT TESTING

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units (CGUs) have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. 

The assumptions applied for each of the variables match those applied in the preparation of group budgets and forecasts. 

Assumptions are supported by past experience.

2019 2018

CGU

Discount
rate

%

Growth
rate

% Period

Discount
rate

%

Growth
rate

% Period

Drift Supersand 14 – 8 life of 
mine years

14 8 10 years

West End Claybrick 17 – 8 life of 
mine years

17 5 10 years

Consolidated Power 

Maintenance 

15 – 3 years 14 8 10 years

Conlog 18 5 5 years plus
 residual value

17 8 10 years

Future cash flows were discounted at a rate of 15% to 18%, which approximates the weighted average cost of capital for the 

CGUs, over a 3-to-8-year period and assuming a growth rate of between 0% to 5%. The value of goodwill determined on this 

basis exceeds the carrying value at year-end for the remaining business that has allocated goodwill, namely Conlog.

The group impaired the entire goodwill raised on Conco of R397 million and goodwill raised on the acquisition of Tractionel of 

R72 million in 2018.

Notwithstanding signs of market improvement, the building materials market remains a challenge and the goodwill of Drift 

Supersand and West End Claybrick were fully impaired in the current year.

The Consolidated Power Maintenance goodwill related to a specific stand-alone cash-generating unit with limited short-term 

visibility and hence the goodwill has been fully impaired in the current year.

SENSITIVITIES

Conlog: An increase in discount rate to 18.5% still doesn’t result in an impairment.

 A decrease in gross margin by 4% still doesn’t result in an impairment.

 A decrease in forecast revenue of 8% still doesn’t result in an impairment.

ALLOCATION OF GOODWILL

R’000 2019 2018 2017

Drift Supersand  –    22 717  22 717 

West End Claybrick  –    41 565  41 565 

Consolidated Power Maintenance  –    1 959  1 959 

Conlog  613 237  613 237  615 738 

Conco  –    –    397 938 

Tractionel  –    –    72 052 

Total  613 237  679 478  1 151 969 
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP

2019 2018 2017

R’000 Cost

Accumu-
lated

amorti-
sation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

amorti-
sation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumu-
lated

amorti-
sation

Carrying 
value

Mining rights  21 743  (13 046)  8 697  21 743  (11 959)  9 784  21 743  (10 871)  10 872 

Brand names  43 923  (23 960)  19 963  43 923  (22 817)  21 106  43 923  (20 421)  23 502 

Product design  72 315  (42 147)  30 168  161 290  (70 219)  91 071  141 863  (38 246)  103 617 

Meters under 

development  111 315  (59 215)  52 100  39 387  –    39 387  24 002  –    24 002 

Patents  25 655  (25 626)  30  25 655  (25 620)  35  3 704  (3 662)  42 

Computer software  10 452  (10 267)  185  9 309  (8 811)  498  9 344  (8 006)  1 338 

Total  285 404  (174 260)  111 144  301 307  (139 426)  161 881  244 579  (81 206)  163 373 

RECONCILIATION

GROUP 2019

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Transfers Impairment* Amortisation

Closing
balance

Mining rights  9 784  –    –    –    (1 087)  8 697 

Brand names  21 106  –    –    –    (1 143)  19 963 

Product design  91 071  –    (46 853)  –    (14 049)  30 169 

Meters under development  39 387  22 340  46 853  (39 387)  (17 093)  52 100 

Patents  35  –    –    –    (5)  30 

Computer software  498  1 141  –    –    (1 454)  185 

 161 881  23 481  –    (39 387)  (34 831)  111 144 

*  Relates to a write off of development cost capitalised.

Impairment testing was conducted on intangible assets using the same assumptions as included in note 12.

GROUP 2018

R’000
Opening
balance Additions Amortisation

Closing
balance

Mining rights  10 871  –    (1 087)  9 784 

Brand names  23 502  –    (2 396)  21 106 

Product design  103 618  19 427  (31 974)  91 071 

Meters under development  24 002  15 385  –    39 387 

Patents  42  –    (7)  35 

Computer software  1 338  1 164  (2 004)  498 

 163 373  35 976  (37 468)  161 881 



60 CIG ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

REMAINING USEFUL LIVES

2019
Years

2018
Years

Mining rights 8 9

Brand names 8 9

Product design 4 5

Patents 18 19

Computer software 1 2

On 1 November 2016, the group acquired 100% of the voting equity interest of Conlog for a total purchase consideration of  

R850 million. Conlog is a leading developer, manufacturer and distributor of prepaid electricity meters and related applications 

and support services for Africa and other international emerging markets.

In terms of IFRS 3: Business Combinations, the purchase consideration was allocated to identifiable tangible assets and liabilities 

and intangible assets and liabilities. As such, intangibles relating to the brand of R20 million and product design of R72 million 

was raised. The difference between the purchase consideration and fair value of net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill.

Meters under development relate to costs incurred on electricity meters and development projects, in the Conlog business.

Meter development and product design were considered for recovery based on budgeted cashflows from feasibility studies. 

Life of mine cash flows were used to assess recoverability of mining rights. Refer to note 12. Brand names were assessed for 

recovery along with the goodwill assessment of Conlog. Refer to note 12. No additional impairment was deemed to be required.

MINING RIGHTS

Drift Supersand 
Mining

Quarry Cats
Mining Licence
Laezonia

West End 
Claybrick Regal Brick Regal Brick

Reference number ML06/1998 148MR ML07/2003 MR78/2007 MR68/2007

Mineral Sand, gravel and 
igneous rock

Sand, gravel and 
igneous rock

Clay Sand occurring in 
the slimes dam

Clay

Properties Portion 116, a portion 
of portion 79 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
26,8480 hectares in 
extent

Remaining extent 
of portion 14 of the 
farm Doornrandje 
386 JR, District of 
Pretoria, Gauteng. 
Measuring 83,5140 
hectares 

Remaining  
portion 1 of the farm 
Waterspan 292 – 
IQ Westonaria

Mine residue deposit 
RMT 273/77 located 
on portion 3 of the 
farm Witpoortjie 
245 – IQ Mogale City 
District, measuring 
18,1590 hectares in 
extent

Remaining portion 
of portion 1 and a 
portion of portion 
32 of the farm 
Waterspan 292 
– IQ Westonaria, 
measuring 49,9934 
hectares in extent

Portion 80 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp, 
Gauteng measuring 
38,86 hectares in 
extent

Portion 79 of 
Roodekrans No. 183, 
District Krugersdorp 
Gauteng measuring 
26,8480 hectares in 
extent

Issue date 24 February 2012 10 July 2018 18 May 2010 6 March 2007 6 March 2007

Expiration date 26 April 2038 9 July 2048 17 May 2040 5 March 2017* 5 March 2037

Status New order mining  
right approved

New order mining 
right approved

New order mining 
right approved

New order mining  
right approved

New order mining  
right approved

*  In terms of MR78/2007, a renewal application has been submitted of which the outcome is pending. From a business continuity 
perspective, the resource to be mined is not critical to the manufacturing process of clay bricks. Alternative sources of supply 
have been identified in the open market.

No land is owned, leased or is adjacent to any protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas.
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
DIRECT SUBSIDIARIES

2019 2018 2017

Subsidiary
%

holding
Cost

R’000
%

holding
Cost

R’000
%

holding
Cost

R’000

Drift Supersand  

Proprietary Limited (1) 74  28 841 74  28 841 74  28 841 

West End Claybrick 

Proprietary Limited (1) 100  61 558 100  61 558 100  61 558 

Consolidated Power 

Projects Group South Africa 

Proprietary Limited* (2) 100  –   100  –   100  459 027 

Consolidated Power 

Maintenance and  

Investments Proprietary 

Limited (2) 100  1 100  1 100  1 

Consolidated Infrastructure 

Group International** (3) 100  210 101 100  210 101 100  210 101 

Tractionel Maintenance 

Services Proprietary  

Limited (4) 100  –   100  –   100  –   

Tension Overhead 

Electrification Proprietary  

Limited (4) 100  –   100  –   100  123 634 

CIGenCo SA Proprietary 

Limited (2) 100  –   100  –   100  –   

Conlog Proprietary Limited (2) 100  855 680 100  855 680 100  855 680 

 1 156 181  1 156 181  1 738 842 

*   Certain subsidiaries of Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited are incorporated in countries outside of South Africa.
**  All subsidiaries listed above are incorporated in South Africa, except for Consolidated Infrastructure Group International which is 

incorporated in Mauritius.
The total investment in Conco and Tractionel was impaired in F2018. 

Segment
(1) Building Materials
(2) Power
(3) Corporate
(4) Rail

Refer to Annexure A for a list of subsidiaries.
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15. INVESTMENT IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
JOINT VENTURES

GROUP

2019 Restated 2018 Restated 2017

Material
joint venture

Country
incorporated Shareholder

% 
ownership

interest

Carrying
amount

R’000

% 
ownership

interest

Carrying
amount

R’000

% 
ownership

interest

Carrying
amount

R’000

Angola 

Environmental 

Services Limitada

Angola CIG Angola 1 30,5  532 031 30,5  563 558 30,5  598 876 

Ejuva One Solar 

Energy Proprietary 

Limited

Namibia CIGenCo SA 

Proprietary 

Limited

49,0  15 101 49,0  17 989 –  –   

Ejuva Two Solar 

Energy Proprietary 

Limited

Namibia CIGenCo SA 

Proprietary 

Limited

49,0 15 052 49,0  18 108 –  –   

 562 184 599 655  598 876 

Angola Environmental Services Limitada (AES)

On 30 January 2014, the group acquired a 30,5% equity interest in AES for R261,6 million. AES, an Angolan-based company, 

provides waste management services to the oil and gas sector. The shareholding in AES is held by CIG Angola 1, a company 

incorporated in Mauritius, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the group. AES is accounted for as a joint venture using the 

equity-accounted method.

In terms of a consortium agreement, one of the other shareholders in AES, holding 16%, has a put option in place to sell their 

shareholding to CIG. The option period commences on 1 May 2016 and expires after four years on 1 May 2020. This option is 

recognised at zero value in the financial statements, given the remote likelihood of it being exercised.

The value of the shares to be acquired will be based on a 4,5 times EBITDA multiple, less any existing interest-bearing debt 

within the business. 

In the event of a material adverse condition existing at the time the put option is triggered by this shareholder, CIG has the right 

not to accept the option, following which, CIG and the other shareholders will jointly market their shares in the open market. 

Notice was given to the shareholder that the decoupling of the US Dollar and Angolan Kwanza was seen as a material adverse 

condition.

During the current financial year, management reassessed the functional currency of the investment and considered it to be 

US Dollar and not the Angolan Kwanza. In addition, a reconciliation of the group’s opening carrying value of AES, as reflected on 

the statement of financial position, was performed since the date of acquisition. This reconciliation identified that the carrying 

value as per the statement of financial position, excluding goodwill, did not equate to the group’s share of the net asset value of 

AES. Refer to note 2.26.10 for disclosure of the impact of the restatement.

Ejuva One Solar Energy Proprietary Limited (Ejuva One) and Ejuva Two Solar Energy Proprietary Limited (Ejuva Two)

On 26 April 2018, the group acquired a 49% equity interest in Ejuva One and Ejuva Two for a combined R35,8 million. 

Ejuva One and Two, represent two 5MW solar photovoltaic plants part of the Namibian Renewable Energy Feed-in-Tariff 

(REFiT) programme, situated in Gobabis, Omaheke Region, Namibia. The plants supply electricity to Nampower under a  

25-year power purchase agreement. The shareholding is held by CIGenCo SA Proprietary Limited, incorporated in South Africa, 

which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the group. Ejuva One and Two are accounted for as joint ventures using the equity-

accounted method.
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15. INVESTMENT IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS continued

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE AES JOINT VENTURE
AES

R’000 2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017

Summarised income statement (100%)

Revenue 709 639 665 716  1 028 176

Loss before taxation  (48 878)  (161 466)  (83 400)

Taxation  (46 691)  (38 353)  50 333 

Loss after taxation  (95 570)  (199 819)  (33 067)

Loss for the year  (95 570)  (199 819)  (33 067)

Summarised statement of financial position (100%)

Non-current assets  697 348  794 411  691 071 

Current assets 749 873 723 244 901 715

–  Cash and cash equivalents  95 739  66 652  353 158 

–  Other current assets  654 133  656 592  548 557 

Current liabilities  322 831  271 331  160 415 

Total net assets  1 124 389  1 246 324  1 432 371 

RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS TO EQUITY-ACCOUNTED  
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Interest in joint venture at percentage ownership (30,5%)  342 939  380 129  436 873 

Goodwill  189 092  183 429  162 003 

Carrying value of investment  532 031  563 558  598 876 

Carrying value of investment at the beginning of the year  563 558  598 876  681 938 

Share of loss  (29 148)  (85 421)  (10 085)

Dividends received  (23 599)  (36 383) –

Share of other comprehensive income – foreign currency translation  21 220 86 486  (72 977)

Carrying value of investment at the end of the year  532 031  563 558  598 876 
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15. INVESTMENT IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS continued

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF EJUVA ONE AND EJUVA TWO JOINT VENTURES

Ejuva One Ejuva Two

R’000 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

Summarised statement of comprehensive 
income (100%)

Revenue 19 291 17 006  –   18 787 17 309  –   

Profit/(loss) before taxation  391  271  –    (114)  625  –   

Taxation  (125)  (87)  –    37  (200)  –   

Profit/(loss) after taxation  266  184  –    (77)  425  –   

Total comprehensive income  266  184  –    (77)  425  –   

Summarised statement of financial 
position (100%)

Non-current assets  108 875  113 472  –    108 640  113 156  –   

Current assets 11 288 13 854 – 11 067 14 496 –

–  Cash and cash equivalents  6 977  8 446  –    6 576  8 862  –   

–  Other current assets  4 311  5 408  –    4 491  5 634  –   

Non-current financial liabilities  82 203  85 177  –    82 153  85 290  –   

Current financial liabilities  8 103  6 398  –    7 796  6 368  –   

Total net assets  29 857  35 751 –  29 758  35 994 –

RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS TO  
EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS IN 
JOINT VENTURES

Interest in joint venture at percentage 

ownership (49,0%)  14 630  17 518 –  14 581  17 637 – 

Goodwill  471  471 –  471  471 –

Carrying value of investment  15 101  17 989 –  15 052  18 108 – 

Carrying value of investment at the 

beginning of the year  17 989  –    –    18 108  –    –   

Investment in the year  –    17 899  –    –    17 900  –   

Share of profit  130  90  –    (38)  208  –   

Distribution to shareholders  (3 018)  –    –    (3 018)  –    –   

Carrying value of investment at the end  
of the year  15 101  17 989  –    15 052  18 108  –   
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16. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AT AMORTISED COST

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Loans and receivables 

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund  7 900  7 167  12 498  –    –   

Other loans and receivables  –    1 022  8 700  –    100 

Total other financial assets  7 900  8 189  21 198  –    100 

The carrying value of the financial assets 

approximates their fair value

Non-current assets  7 900  7 393  14 007  –    100 

Current assets  –    796  7 191  –    –   

 7 900  8 189  21 198  –   100

The expected credit loss (ECL) has been assessed and is immaterial.

17. DEFERRED TAXATION

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Disclosure on the statement of  
financial position

Deferred taxation asset  3 444  32 374  140 293  –    424 

Deferred taxation liability  (65 382)  (72 270)  (87 512)  –    –   

 (61 938)  (39 896)  52 781  –    424 

Categories of deferred taxation

Property, plant and equipment  (44 582)  (57 795)  (39 997)  –    –   

Intangible assets  (49 457)  (39 463)  (44 345)  –    –   

Debtors and income received in advance  (17 491)  (9 432)  28 633  –    –   

Taxation losses available for set off against 

future taxable income  28 974  40 091  118 074  –    424 

Other provisions  6 756  23 254  (376)  –    –   

Provision for doubtful debts  6 717  337  (1 586)  –    –   

Accrual for leave pay and bonus  7 145  3 112  (7 622)  –    –   

 (61 938)  (39 896)  52 781  –    424 

Reconciliation 

At the beginning of the year  (39 896)  52 781  10 973  424  424 

Temporary difference on property, plant and 

equipment  918  (17 798)  2 460  –    –   

Temporary difference on intangible assets  3 069  4 882  (21 044)  –    –   

Temporary difference on debtors and income 

received in advance  3 330  (38 065)  15 382  –    –   

Taxation losses available for set off against 

future taxable income  (17 798)  (77 983)  38 944  (424)  –   

Temporary difference on other provisions  (10 622)  23 630  (484)  –    –   

Temporary difference on provision for 

doubtful debts 873  1 923  2 676  –    –   

Temporary difference on accrual for leave pay 

and bonus  (1 813)  10 734  3 874  –    –   

 (61 938)  (39 896)  52 781  –    424 
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17. DEFERRED TAXATION continued

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Unrecognised deferred taxation asset

Unused taxation losses not recognised as 

deferred taxation assets  761 557  557 207  –    –    69 980 

Deferred taxation assets were not recognised in respect of certain taxation losses due to uncertainty regarding future taxable 

profits being generated in the respective legal entities.

Deferred taxation assets are raised only to the extent that future taxable income will be available against which the deferred 

taxation asset can be set off. Deferred taxation assets of R28,9 million (2018: R40,1 million), was raised based on taxation losses 

available for set off against future taxable income. Management has projected that future taxable income will be in excess of 

the taxation losses for these entities.

18. INVENTORIES

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Raw materials, components  152 478  228 384  165 383  –    –   

Work in progress  23 007  20 422  17 925  –    –   

Finished goods  138 520  83 901  56 476  –    –   

Inventory allowances  (1 797)  (4 711)  (7 576)  –    –   

 312 208  327 996  232 208  –    –   

During the year, inventory with a value of R17,5 million (2018: Rnil) was written down. Inventory is carried at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. Inventory with a carrying value of R12,3 million (2018: R7 million) is carried at net realisable value. 

Refer to note 22 for details of inventory encumbered.
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19. LOANS TO/(FROM) GROUP COMPANIES

R’000

COMPANY

2019 2018

Loans to group companies

Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited  141 976  135 258 

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate plus 0,5% and has no fixed 

terms of repayment. The company has subordinated the loan in favour of the subsidiary’s 

bankers until the borrowing entity’s’ assets, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities.

West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited  89 390  89 390 

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate and has no fixed terms of 

repayment. The company has subordinated the loan in favour of the subsidiary’s bankers 

until the borrowing entity’s’ assets, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities.

Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited –  1 267 897 

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate and has no fixed terms of 

repayment. The company has subordinated the loan until the borrowing entity’s’ assets, fairly 

valued, exceed its liabilities.

Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited 4 099  63 719 

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate and has no fixed terms of 

repayment. The company has subordinated the loan until the borrowing entity’s’ assets, fairly 

valued, exceed its liabilities.

Tension Overhead Electrification Proprietary Limited 39 000  53 119 

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime interest rate and has no fixed terms of 

repayment. The company has subordinated the loan in favour of the subsidiary’s bankers 

until the borrowing entity’s’ assets, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities.

CIGenCo SA Proprietary Limited  24 152  29 052 

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Loans from group companies

Consolidated Infrastructure Group International  (108 314)  (25)

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Conlog Proprietary Limited  (109 150)  (164 332)

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Assets 298 617  1 638 435 

Liabilities  (217 464)  (164 357)

81 153  1 474 078 

Loans due from group companies

Gross loans due 2 207 266 2 221 096

Provision for credit losses (1 908 649) (582 661)

At the end of the year as reflected on the statement of financial position 298 617 1 638 435

The carrying value of the loans to group companies approximate their fair value. 

Specific provision related to loans to loss-making subsidiaries which could not be recovered.

The expected credit loss (ECL) (other than specific provisions) has been assessed and is immaterial.
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20. CONTRACT WORK IN PROGRESS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

Cost incurred plus profits recognised less 

estimated losses relating to contracts in 

progress  10 670 032  8 090 776  6 362 837  –    –   

Progress billings  (10 180 028)  (7 150 720)  (5 228 891)  –    –   

 490 004  940 056  1 133 946  –    –   

The adoption of IFRS 15 in the year, and the review of contracts' performance obligations resulted in a restatement of prior year 

results. Refer to note 2.26 for details of the restatement.

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Financial instruments at amortised cost

Contract debtors  760 495  607 067  911 580  –    –   

Provision for impairment of contract debtors  (175 311)  (31 902)  (20 558)  –   

Retention debtors  284 314  240 312  213 490  –   

Trade debtors  336 036  384 363  348 248  –    –   

Provision for impairment of trade debtors  (30 768)  (27 749)  (19 690)  –   

Deposits  3 982  7 365  8 644  –    –   

Other  45 002  48 026  27 565  6 046  6 078 

 1 223 751  1 227 482  1 469 279  6 046  6 078 

Non-financial instruments

VAT  165 703  83 173  7 110  7 771  4 077 

Prepayments  7 883  121 889  81 956  128  261 

 173 586  205 062  89 066  7 899  4 338 

Total trade and other receivables  1 397 337  1 432 544  1 558 345  13 946  10 416 

All trade receivables and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost. 

Included in the group’s contract and trade debtors balance are debtors with a carrying amount of R319,6 million in 2018  

(2017: R467,1 million) which are past due at the reporting date. The group had not provided for impairment of these debtors as 

there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group did not 

hold collateral over these balances.
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In line with IFRS 9, the table below provides information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses for trade 

and other receivables in F2019.

F2019
R’000 Current 31 – 60 days 61 – 90 days 91 – 120 days >120 days Total

Building Materials  54 281  32 035  3 996  1 415  3 902  95 628 

Power  1 213 405  106 662  16 356  4 588  159 569  1 500 580 

– Conco  1 119 673  103 525 – –  98 896  1 322 095 

– Conlog  90 495  3 137  16 356  4 588  60 673  175 249 

– Other  3 237 – – – –  3 237 

Rail  59 003  4 392  10 404  12 804 –  86 603 

Corporate  30 943 – – – –  30 943 

Total net trade 
receivables  1 357 632  143 089  30 756  18 807  163 471  1 713 755 

Gross trade receivables  1 919 834 

Specific provision for 
expected credit loss  (206 079) 

Net trade receivables  1 713 755 

Expected credit loss (R'm)  (8 467)  (486)  (51)  (73) (302)  (9 379) 

Weighted average 
exposed credit loss 
rate (%) (0,62) (0,34) (0,17) (0,39) (0,18) (0,55)

In line with IFRS 7 the group disclosed trade receivables in F2018 and F2017 that were past due but not impaired.

CONTRACT DEBTORS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018

Analysis of amount past due but not impaired
One month past due  63 179  93 370 –

Two months past due  63 504  202 290 –

Three months past due  40 617  37 497 –

More than three months past due  152 296  133 931 –

 319 596  467 089 –

Analysis of amount past due but not impaired by region
South Africa  129 551  271 809 –

Rest of Africa  65 892  135 446 –

Rest of the world  124 153  59 833 –

 319 596  467 089 –

TRADE DEBTORS

Analysis of amount past due but not impaired

One month past due  69 411  52 907 –

Two months past due  20 859  5 440 –

Three months past due  5 022  7 015 –

More than three months past due  6 806  21 512 –

 102 098  86 873 –

Analysis of amount past due but not impaired by region
South Africa  44 343  11 859 –

Rest of Africa  57 755  67 464 –

Rest of the world –  7 551 –

 102 098  86 873 –
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

RECONCILIATION OF THE PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

In line with IFRS 7 paragraph 6, the group disclosed trade receivables in F2018 and F2017 that were past due but not impaired 

by region as management monitored the trade receivables on this basis.

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Opening balance  59 651 40 248 54 899  –    –   

Specific provision raised/(released)  159 973  41 129  (3 422)  –    –   

Debtor write off  (13 545)  (21 726)  (11 229)  –    –   

Closing balance 206 079  59 651 40 248  –    –   

Analysis of impaired trade receivables

Included in the provision for impairment of 

trade receivables are individually impaired 

trade receivables with a balance of  

R219,8 million (2018: R65,6 million). The 

impairment recognised represents the 

difference between the carrying value of 

these trade receivables and the present value 

of any expected collections. All impairment 

amounts incurred during the year are charged 

to the income statement and recorded with 

operating costs. 

Analysis of impaired trade receivables

Gross value of debtors individually impaired  219 839  65 641  82 806  –    –   

Less: impairment against debtors  (206 079)  (59 651)  (40 248)  –    –   

13 760  5 990 42 558  –    –   

Analysis of trade receivables individually 
impaired by region

South Africa  66 331  16 758  55 657  –    –   

Rest of Africa  63 856  45 060  27 149  –    –   

Rest of the world  89 652  3 823  –    –    –   

 219 839  65 641  82 806  –    –   

In line with IFRS 7 paragraph 6, the group 

discloses trade receivables that have 

been individually impaired by region as 

management monitors the trade receivables 

on this basis.

Ageing of trade debtors individually impaired

One month past due  6 165  1 104  35 196  –    –   

Two months past due  14  522  69  –    –   

Three months past due  14  5 707  16 480  –    –   

More than three months past due  213 646  58 308  31 061  –    –   

 219 839  65 641  82 806  –    –   
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

RECONCILIATION OF THE PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Carrying amount per currency

The carrying amounts of the group’s trade 

and other receivables are denominated in the 

following currencies:

South African Rand  735 722 490 024 873 681  13 946  10 416 

US Dollar  359 169 625 316  587 561  –    –   

Botswana Pula  138 562  44 590  53 247  –    –   

Other  163 883  272 614  43 856  –    –   

 1 397 337  1 432 544  1 558 345  13 946  10 416 

The carrying value of amounts due from contract customers approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 

instruments. 

Trade and other receivables have been pledged as security for overdraft facilities. Refer to note 22.

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

– Cash on hand  3 822  6 343  190  –    –   

– Bank balances  761 845  565 079  360 006  491 116  292 545 

– Short-term deposits  –    22  22  –    –   

– Bank overdraft  (667 380)  (530 782)  (370 774)  –    –   

 98 287  40 662  (10 556)  491 116  292 545 

Current assets  765 668  571 444  360 218  491 116  292 545 

Current liabilities  (667 380)  (530 782)  (370 774)  –    –   

 98 288  40 662  (10 556)  491 116  292 545 

The carrying value of the cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 

instruments. 

Contract debtors, retention debtors and trade receivables were pledged as security for overdraft facilities. Tractionel 

Electrification Proprietary Limited’s overdraft with Absa Bank is secured by a notarial bond over its moveable assets and a 

cession of its trade receivables of R91,8 million. The Building material business trade debtors to the value of R994, million are 

ceded in favour of Nedbank Bank. Contract debtors, retention debtors and trade receivables of R777,6 million are pledged as 

security for overdraft, trade finance facilities and performance guarantee’s within the Conco businesses.  
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23. SHARE CAPITAL

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019
Restated

2018

’000

23.1 AUTHORISED

600 million no par value shares   

(2018: 600 million) (2017: 300 million)

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 

29 August 2018, the authorised number of 

shares was increased from 300 million to  

600 million.

23.2 ISSUED SHARES NET OF TREASURY 
SHARES^

Reconciliation of number of shares issued

Reported as at 1 September*  196 159  196 159  156 870  196 159  196 159 

Issue of shares – no par value  –    –    38 860  –    –   

Issue of shares – share options exercised  –    –    429  –    –   

Issue of shares – rights issue#  200 000  –    –    200 000  –   

Closing balance as at 31 August  396 159  196 159  196 159  396 159  196 159 

23.3 AUTHORISED BUT NOT ISSUED 
SHARES

A further 203,8 million unissued no par  

value shares (2018: 403,7 million and  

2017: 103,8 million unissued ordinary shares) 

are under the control of the directors. This 

authority remains in force until the next 

annual general meeting.

R’000

Share capital – no par value shares

Reported as at 1 September  2 328 926  2 328 926  1 606 059  2 319 567  2 319 567 

Issue of shares  –    –    722 867 – –

Issue of shares – rights issue#  765 833  –    –    765 833  –   

Share capital as at 31 August  3 094 759  2 328 926  2 328 926  3 085 400  2 319 567 

*   The F2017 and F2018 reported number of shares in issue has been restated by 96 231 shares due to an error noted in the current 
year. The reported F2017 and F2018 shares in issue has thus decreased from 196 255 245 to 196 159 014.

^   The company holds 5 932 055 shares as treasury shares (F2018: 5 932 055, F2017: 6 093 900).
#  Right issue on 21 December 2018.
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24. BORROWINGS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

24.1 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Secured loan bearing interest at rates 
ranging from 3% to 12%  848 865  887 243  449 309  294 125  300 000 

Unsecured loans bearing interest at rates 
ranging from 10% to 11%  928 402  928 402  932 501  924 000  924 000 

Instalment sales  25 871  32 894  41 318 – –

 1 803 138  1 848 539 1 423 128  1 218 125  1 224 000 

Current liabilities  1 409 714  939 687  1 397 536  924 000  443 000 

Non-current liabilities 393 424  908 852  25 592 294 125  781 000 

1 803 138 1 848 539  1 423 128  1 218 125  1 224 000 

Capital repayment

In one year 1 409 714  939 687  1 397 536  924 000  443 000 

In two years 31 433  339 924 15 950 – 302 000

In three years 27 635  207 242  9 642 – 179 000

>Three years 334 355  361 686 –  294 125 300 000

 1 803 138  1 848 539  1 423 128  1 218 125  1 224 000 

24.2 FAIR VALUE OF BORROWINGS 

Carrying value 393 424 908 852 25 592 294 125  781 000 

Fair value 325 603 738 902 22 195 215 062 636 951
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24. BORROWINGS continued

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

24.3 SECURED LOANS

24.3.1 Investec  109 150  130 613  –   – –

The loan is held by Conlog Proprietary 

Limited and was secured by cession of 

accounts receivable in Conlog Proprietary 

Limited. The loan is repayable in 20 quarterly 

instalments, commencing on   

30 November 2017 with a final instalment 

of R30 000 000. At year-end, 16 instalments 

remain outstanding. Interest is calculated on 

three-month JIBAR +2%.

24.3.2 Convertible loan – Fairfax Africa 
Investment Proprietary Limited  294 125  300 000  –    294 125  300 000 

The loan was extended on 4 June 2018 

and is secured under cession and pledge 

of the entire issued share capital of Conlog 

Proprietary Limited. The initial coupon rate 

was prime plus 4% serviced monthly. At an 

extraordinary general meeting, conversion 

right conditions were approved and the 

coupon decreased to prime plus 2%. CIG can 

convert the loan to equity assuming the CIG 

listed shares trade at a price greater than 

R6,24 for no less than 90 consecutive days. 

Fairfax can convert the loan at any time 

throughout the loan term, but no later than  

3 June 2023.

24.3.3 Trade finance  445 590  456 630  449 309 –  –

The Conco group has trade finance facilities. 

These facilities are repaid and redrawn on 

a continuous basis and as such there is no 

specific loan term. 

 848 865  887 243  449 309  294 125  300 000 

Debt finance raising expenses of R5,9 million was incurred in the raising of the R300 million loan to the company and has been 

accounted for by reducing the carrying value of the loan      
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R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

24.4 UNSECURED LOANS

24.4.1 Outside shareholders  4 402  4 402  4 226 – – 

The loan is unsecured and held by Lugbell 
Investments Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary 
of Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary 
Limited. The loan is interest free with no fixed 
terms of repayment.

24.4.2 Senior unsecured floating rate notes

24.4.2.1 CIG04  134 000  134 000  134 000  134 000  134 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month 
JIBAR plus 3,10% and is paid quarterly  
on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and  
31 December each year. The maturity date 
of the note was 30 June 2018. The maturity 
date has been extended to 31 January 2020, 
following approval received from the bond 
holders, in anticipation of a debt restructure 
being concluded.

24.4.2.2 CIG05  135 000  135 000  135 000  135 000  135 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month 
JIBAR plus 3,50% and is paid quarterly  
on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and  
31 December each year. The maturity date 
of the note was 30 June 2019. The maturity 
date has been extended to 31 January 2020, 
following approval received from the bond 
holders, in anticipation of a debt restructure 
being concluded.

24.4.2.3 CIG06  70 000  70 000  70 000  70 000  70 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month 
JIBAR plus 3% and is paid quarterly on  
28 February, 31 May, 31 August and  
30 November each year. The maturity date of 
the note was 31 August 2018. The maturity 
date has been extended to 31 January 2020, 
following approval received from the bond 
holders, in anticipation of a debt restructure 
being concluded.

24.4.2.4 CIG07  155 000  155 000  155 000  155 000  155 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month 
JIBAR plus 3,75% and is paid quarterly  
on 28 February, 31 May, 31 August and  
30 November each year. The maturity date 
of the note is 31 August 2020. The debt 
restructure being formalised will reschedule 
the repayments of the total debt issued as 
floating rate notes. The debt is reflected as 
short term as it is maturing within twelve 
months.
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24. BORROWINGS continued

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

24.4 UNSECURED LOANS continued

24.4.2 Senior unsecured floating rate notes 
continued

24.4.2.5 CIG09  85 000  85 000  85 000  85 000  85 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month JIBAR plus 
3,00% and is paid quarterly on 7 June, 7 September,  
7 December and 7 March each year. The maturity date 
of the note was 7 June 2019. The maturity date has 
been extended to 31 January 2020, following approval 
received from the bond holders, in anticipation of a 
debt restructure being signed.

24.4.2.6 CIG10  19 000  19 000  19 000  19 000  19 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month JIBAR plus 
3,00% and is paid quarterly on 23 July,  23 October,  
23 January and 23 April each year. The maturity date 
of the note was 30 July 2019. The maturity date has 
been extended to 31 January 2020, following approval 
received from the bond holders, in anticipation of a 
debt restructure being signed.

24.4.2.7 CIG11  147 000  147 000  147 000  147 000  147 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month JIBAR plus 
3,27% and is paid quarterly on 29 July, 29 October, 
29 January and 29 April each year. The maturity date 
of the note is 29 July 2020. The debt restructure being 
formalised will reschedule the repayment of the total 
debt issued as floating rate notes. The debt is reflected 
as short term as it is maturing within twelve months.

24.4.2.8 CIG12  179 000  179 000  179 000  179 000  179 000 

Interest charged is based on three-month JIBAR plus 
3,70% and is paid quarterly on 29 July, 29 October,  
29 January and 29 April each year. The maturity date 
of the note is 29 July 2021. The debt restructure being 
formalised will reschedule the repayment of the 
total debt issued as floating rate notes. The debt is 
reflected as short term following the group defaulting 
on its debt covenants in prior years and not currently 
formally, as the group nears finalisation of its debt 
restructure, extending its debt standstill agreement 
with lenders.

24.4.3 Other financial liabilities

This includes IDC liabilities, BOE mortgage bond and 
mortgage loan – –  4 275 – –

 1 003 230  1 000 377  1 019 644  924 000  924 000 

As previously reported, CIG has reached an agreement with its note funders to extend maturity dates, on notes which would 
have been due for redemption, to 31 January 2020 as the group and the more sizeable note funders progress to restructure this 
debt into a revised and restructured term loan structure. 

As disclosed via SENS, the terms and conditions of this revised term loan have been agreed between the parties and the group 
is progressing to concluding the appropriate legal agreements. 

Once signed, the group’s liquidity position will be enhanced with current debt due reorganised into a longer dated payment 

structure. Refer to note 1 for additional disclosure on the group’s going concern determination.
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R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

24.5 INSTALMENT SALES

Minimum payments due

– within one year  14 099  16 128  17 618  –    –   

– in second to fifth year inclusive  15 216  21 943  30 817  –    –   

Less: Future finance charges  (3 444)  (5 177)  (7 117)  –    –   

Present value of minimum payments  25 871  32 894  41 318  –    –   

Present value of minimum payments due

– within one year current liabilities  11 990  14 192  15 838  –    –   

– in second to fifth year inclusive of non-current 

liabilities  13 881  18 702  25 480  –    –   

 25 871  32 894  41 318  –    –   

The average term of the instalment sale is three to five years and the average effective borrowing rate is 11,0% (2018: 10,0%).

Interest rates are linked to prime at contract date. All instalment sales have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been 

entered into for contingent rent.

The group's obligations under instalment sale agreements are secured by the lessor's charge over the assets subject to 

instalment sales. Refer to note 11.

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

Unsecured
loans

Secured
loans

Instalment
sale Total

Unsecured
loans

Secured
loans Total

24.6 MOVEMENT 
IN BORROWINGS

Balance at  
1 September 2017 
restated  932 501  449 309  41 318  1 423 128  924 000 –  924 000 

Capital raised –  430 613  3 686  434 299 –  300 000  300 000 

Capital paid  (4 275) –  (12 736)  (17 011) – – –

Forex and non-cash 

movement  176  7 321 –  7 497 – – –

Interest accrued  96 391  66 751  3 464  166 606  96 391  10 241  106 632 

Interest paid  (96 391)  (66 751)  (2 838)  (165 980)  (96 391)  (10 241)  (106 632)

Balance at  
31 August 2018 
restated 928 402  887 243  32 894  1 848 539  924 000  300 000  1 224 000 

Capital raised – –  925  925 – – –

Capital paid –  (21 463)  (9 579) (31 042) – – –

Forex and non-cash 

movement –  (16 915) –  (16 915) –  (5 875)  (5 875)

Interest accrued  100 508  84 702  4 009  189 219  100 508  37 327  137 835 

Interest paid  (100 508)  (84 702)  (2 378)  (187 588)  (100 508)  (37 327)  (137 835)

Balance at  
31 August 2019  928 402 848 865  25 871  1 803 138  924 000  294 125  1 218 125 
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24. BORROWINGS continued

24.7 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION (VENDOR LOAN)

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

The liability relates to a payment in which 

the underlying amount is subject to the 

performance of AES to December 2019 and 

is payable in October 2020. There was no 

movement in the underlying USD liability  74 828  71 975  87 143 – – 

The contingent consideration was previously included in borrowings, but has been split out to reflect the fact that it is carried 

at fair value.

25. PROVISIONS

R’000

Environ-
mental

rehabili-
tation

Product
warranties

Social
and

labour plan
 provision Total

Balance as at 1 September 2017  6 905  589  –    7 494 

Remeasurement of provision  1 198  64  –    1 262 

Provision utilised  (1 478)  (64)  –    (1 542)

Balance as at 31 August 2018  6 625  589  –    7 214 

Remeasurement of provision  8 442  –    400  8 842 

Provision utilised  (32)  (170)  (261)  (463)

Balance as at 31 August 2019  15 035  419  139  15 593 

R’000 2019 2018 2017

Non-current liabilities 15 174  6 625  6 905 

Current liabilities  419  589  589 

15 593  7 214  7 494 

The environmental rehabilitation provision has been raised due to the group's obligation to rectify environmental damage on 
the mine situated at remaining portion 1 of the farm Waterpan 292 – IQ Westonaria and the Drift Supersand quarries situated 
at Muldersdrift and Laezonia. 

In accordance with legislation, the land contaminated by the company must be restored to a condition as prescribed by the 
Department of Mineral Resources, when mining activities come to an end. The company provided for this purpose. Because 
of the long-term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. In 
particular, the company has assumed that the site will be restored using technology and materials that are available currently. 
Estimated costs are based on current tariffs and guidelines. It is forecast that, due to continuing operations, the land will not 
have to be rehabilitated within the next 23 years, but as part of continuing operations, portions of land are rehabilitated as part 
of ongoing operations from time to time.

The environmental rehabilitation provision consists of R11,1 million (2018: R2,7 million) relating to Drift Supersand and  
R3,9 million (2018: R3,9 million) relating to West End. A risk-free rate of 8,9% (2018: 8,4%) and an average inflation rate of  
5,4% (2018: 5,4%) was used in the calculation of the estimated net present value of the rehabilitation liability.

Product warranties relate to Conlog products. This provision is raised due to potential claims on prepaid meters. A warranty 
period of one to five years is applicable, product dependant.
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

Financial instruments

Trade creditors  468 680  461 954  776 075  –    –   

Retention creditors  8 966  26  36 132 –  –   

Subcontractor creditor  228 117  78 907  100 167 –  –   

Accrued leave pay  34 505  23 859  33 926  –    –   

Accrued bonuses 28 729 34 801  12 250 6 600  10 900 

Accrued audit fees  12 712  5 532  8 165  1 986  1 000 

Accrued expenses  292 419  304 839  95 980 51 254  47 289

FEC liability  –    5 501  –    –    –   

Other payables  16 631  1 667  548  –    –   

Total financial instruments  1 090 760  917 086  1 063 242  59 840  59 189 

Non-financial instrument

VAT  30 163  4 108  2 741  –    –   

Retirement benefit obligation – current 

portion  482  378  306  –    –   

Total non-financial instruments  30 645  4 486  3 047  –    –   

Total trade and other payables  1 121 405  921 572  1 066 289  59 840  59 189 

The carrying value of the trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.  

Refer to note 2.26 for disclosure of the restatement.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION
DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN

The defined benefit plan in Conlog, to which 17 current and 7 past employees belong, consists of the commitment of the 

company to pay medical aid contributions to Discovery Health Medical Scheme, administered by Discovery Health Proprietary 

Limited, after the employees have retired.

The actuarial valuation completed on 23 August 2019 determined that the potential liability amounted to R14,9 million  

(2018: R14,3 million).

The condition of employment for new Conlog employees specifically excludes company contributions for post-employment 

medical benefits.

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Carrying value

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 

– wholly unfunded  14 920  14 349  15 598  –    –   

Reconciliation of movement in obligation

Opening balance  14 349  15 598  –    –    –   

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  –    –    15 446  –    –   

Actuarial gain recognised in other 

comprehensive income  (838)  (3 272)  (1 021)  –    –   

Net expense recognised in profit or loss  1 409  2 023  1 173  –    –   

Total  14 920  14 349  15 598  –    –   

Non-current liability  14 439  13 971  15 292  –    –   

Current liability included within trade and 
other payables  482  378  306  –    –   

Total  14 920  14 349  15 598  –    –   

Net expense recognised in profit or loss

Current service cost  375  494  230  –    –   

Past service cost  (395)  (322)  (225)  –    –   

Interest cost  1 429  1 851  1 168  –    –   

 1 409  2 023  1 173  –    –   
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN continued

GROUP 2019

2019 2018 2017

Key assumptions used on last valuation on 23 August 31 August 15 August

Discount rates used (%) 10,6 10,1 12,0

Healthcare cost inflation rate (%) 8,4 8,5 11,0

CPI inflation (%) 6,4 6,5 9,0

Expected retirement age 65 65 65

Pre-retirement mortality SA85-90 (Lite) SA85-90 (Lite) SA85-90 (Lite)

Post-retirement mortality PA (90)
 ultimate 

table rated 
down 2 years 

+ 1,0% pa
 improvement 

from 2006

PA (90)

ultimate

table rated

down 2 years

+ 1,0% pa

improvement

from 2006

PA (90)

ultimate

table rated

down 2 years

+ 1,9% pa

improvement

from 2006

Pre-retirement withdrawal 0% to 15% 
from ages

 20 to 45

0% to 15%

from ages

20 to 45

0% to 15%

from ages

20 to 45

Average duration of the defined benefit obligation 16 years 18,5 years 17,2 years

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The table below sets out the sensitivity of the valuation results to changes in the key assumptions as at 31 August 2019,  

31 August 2018 and 31 August 2017.

2019 2018 2017

Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in

discount rate by 1% discount rate by 1% discount rate by 1%

Liability (decrease)/increase (12,7%) 15,6% (13,6%) 16,9% (14,3%) 18,0%

Liability increase/(decrease)

2019 Restated 2018 Restated 2017

Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in

healthcare inflation rate by 1% healthcare inflation rate by 1% healthcare inflation rate by 1%

Liabilities 16,0% (13,2%) 17,3% (14,0%) 18,3% (14,7%)

Current service cost 17,2% (14,0%) 18,3% (14,9%) 19,1% (15,4%)

Interest cost 18,3% (14,90%) 18,3% (15,4%) 19,1% (15,4%)

The active participants expect to make a contribution of R612 969 (2018: R616 604) to the defined benefit plan during the next 

financial year. The company expects to make a contribution of R481 651 (2018: R374 597) to the defined benefit plan during 

the next financial year.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION continued

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION BY CATEGORY

GROUP

R’000 2019 2018 2017

Active members  10 228  10 627  11 824 

Pensioners  4 692  3 722  3 774 

 14 920  14 349  15 598 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

It is the policy of the group to provide retirement benefits to all of its employees. A defined contribution provident fund, which is 

subject to the Pensions Fund Act, exists for this purpose.

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Retirement benefit contributions for the year  26 143  36 095  793 –

28. AMOUNT DUE TO CONTRACT CUSTOMERS AND ADVANCE PAYMENTS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated 

2017 2019 2018

Amounts received in advance  168 439  255 626  79 325 – –

Amounts due to contract customers  286 755  501 075  60 437 – –

 455 195  756 701  139 762 – –
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29. CASH (UTILISED IN)/GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (1 279 382)  (1 490 111)  (63 855)  (832 591)

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation  70 654  78 279  476  426 

Amortisation  34 831  37 468 – –

(Profit)/loss on sale of assets  (270)  22  –    –   

Loss on foreign exchange  (34 337)  142  –    –   

Loss from equity-accounted investments  29 056  85 421  –    –   

Finance income  (36 066)  (26 212)  (53 438)  (30 334)

Finance costs  296 708  248 341  152 150  134 872 

Gain on settlement of instalment sale liabilities  –    (342)  –    –   

Impairment of goodwill  66 241  472 491  –    –   

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries  –    –    –    582 661 

Impairment of intangible assets  39 387  –    –   –

Movements in operating lease assets and accruals  (4 388)  (3 377)  –    –   

Movements in retirement benefit assets and liabilities  1 409  2 023  –    –   

Movements in provisions  7 696  528  –    –   

Share-based payment expense  –    11 548  –    –   

Impairment of trade receivables 162 796 59 651 – –

Non-cash adjustments 5 875 (13 093)  (5 775)  –   

Working capital changes:

Inventories  16 564  (95 788)  –    –   

Trade and other receivables (34 863) (216 400)  (3 531)  (1 545)

Amounts due from contract customers 425 233 482 925  –    –   

Amounts due to contract customers (214 320) 440 638  –    –   

Trade and other payables 219 989  (212 212)  (88 347)  124 044 

Amounts received in advance  (87 451) 176 301  –    –   

 (326 388) 38 243  (62 320)  (22 467)
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30. TAXATION PAID

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Balance at the beginning of the year  39 568  67 294 608  1 824 

Reclassification to trade and other receivables  (37 909) – – –

Current taxation for the year – the income statement  (42 800)  (99 942) 1 302  –   

Adjustment on non-cash items  2 200  2 303  –    –   

Balance at the end of the year  12 448  (39 568)  (1 910)  (608)

 (26 493)  (69 913) –  1 216 

31. COMMITMENTS

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Fixed asset commitments

– Contracts placed  23 590  –    –    –   

– Capital expenditure approved by directors but not  

yet placed as at 31 August 5 131  10 870  –    –   

The above expenditure will be funded from existing resources 

and facilities.

There are no fixed asset commitments relating to joint 

ventures.

28 721 10 870 –  –   

Operating lease commitments

The increase in operating lease commitments, over the prior 

year, is due to a new premises rental committed to by Conco, 

as the Conco business consolidates its head office operations 

and secures a three-year lease, at rates lower than their 

current rental, as part of its cost cutting initiatives. 

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases are as follows:

– not later than one year  48 740  41 942  1 423  –   

– later than one year and not later than five years  125 239  52 669  3 529  –   

– later than five years  –    –    –    –   

173 980  94 611  4 952  –   

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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32. CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES
32.1 Total financial institution-backed guarantees provided to third parties on behalf of subsidiary companies amounted to  

R2 095 million (2018: R1 643 million).

 While no claims on guarantees issued on contracts have been made as at the reporting date, stakeholders’ attention is drawn 

to this contingent risk. 

R’000

GROUP

2019 2018

Issued guarantees have the following expiry dates

Not later than one year  1 381 029  1 068 942 

One to five years 714 077  568 752

Later than five years – 5 000

 2 095 106  1 642 694 

Analysis of guarantees

Issued in lieu of advance payments for performance 660 784  387 061 

Issued as a guarantee of performance 1 153 092  1 030 991

Issued in lieu performance on retention monies received  224 374  193 129 

Issued in support of tenders submitted  47 979  18 715 

Issued for non-contractual-related activities 8 876 12 798

 2 095 106  1 642 694 

32.2 In addition to the securities disclosed in note 24, the company issued deeds of indemnities and parent company  

guarantees as guarantor of:

• the third party financial institutions-backed guarantee facilities, with a maximum exposure of R2 109 million;

• the banking facilities, provided to subsidiary companies, with a maximum exposure equal to that of the group’s bank 

overdraft and trade finance liabilities; 

• the investment, and operations and maintenance contract, for the group’s Ejuva 1 and Ejuva 2 joint venture, with a maximum 

exposure of R12 million. 
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33. RELATED PARTIES
RELATIONSHIPS

33.1 MATERIAL SUBSIDIARIES Refer to note 14 and Annexure A

33.2 MATERIAL JOINT ARRANGEMENTS Refer to note 15

33.3 MEMBERS OF KEY MANAGEMENT AS 
AT YEAR END R Gamsu J Dladla L Moodley

C Teixeira J Hooman S Zondi

W Bassaragh D Lubbe

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Related party transactions

33.4 INTEREST RECEIVED FROM RELATED PARTIES

Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited  –    –    7 101  7 473 

Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited  –    –    6 380  6 951 

Tension Overhead Electrification Proprietary Limited  –    –    9 379  4 026 

33.5 INTEREST PAID TO RELATED PARTIES

Conlog Proprietary Limited – –  (14 313)  (14 365)

33.6 MANAGEMENT FEES RECEIVED FROM RELATED 
PARTIES

West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited  –    –    1 054  958 

Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited  –    –    5 629  5 388 

Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited  –    –    5 895  5 740 

Conlog Proprietary Limited  –    –    7 302  9 980 

33.7 Remuneration and benefits received by each director or prescribed officer directly employed by the group have been 

disclosed in note 6.

33.8 Refer to note 11 for disclosure of the option on certain land and buildings and the put option on Elderberry.

33.9 Refer to note 19 for disclosure on loans with group companies.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued



87CIG ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
2019

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 

receivables, contract debtors, contracts work in progress, amounts due to contract customers, trade and other payables, 

current financial liabilities and non-current financial liabilities.

34.1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

Introduction

The office of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, supported by the group’s Financial Committee (Fincom) which 

consists of the chief executive officer, chief financial officer and certain non-independent non-executive directors, monitor the 

group’s risk, treasury functions and financial risks relating to the group’s operations. In the course of the group’s business 

operations, it is exposed to financial risk relating to liquidity, credit, foreign currency and interest rate risk which is consistently 

monitored. Risk management relating to each of these risks is detailed below.

Controlling risk in the group

The office of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer supported by the managing directors of each of the group’s 

businesses are responsible for risk management activities within the group. The managing directors’ meet monthly with the 

chief executive officer and chief financial officer to review market trends and develop strategies. The board has implemented 

tight governance around monitoring currency, interest rate and liquidity risk. The chief executive officer and chief financial 

officer identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the group’s operating business units. The board 

approves written principles for identify, evaluate and hedge overall risk management, covering specific areas, such as foreign 

exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments. 

34.2 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 

cost of capital.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 24, cash and cash equivalents 

disclosed in note 22 and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

The group monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio (debt-capital ratio). This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 

capital. Net debt is calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is as shown in 

the consolidated statement of financial position.

The debt-capital ratios at 2019, 2018 and 2017 respectively were as follows: 

R’000 Notes

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Total borrowings

Total borrowings 24  1 803 138  1 848 539  1 423 128  1 218 125  1 224 000 

Bank overdrafts 22  667 380  530 782  370 774  –    –   

Total debt  2 470 518  2 379 321  1 793 902  1 218 125  1 224 000 

Cash on hand 22  765 668  571 444  360 218  491 116  292 545 

Net debt  1 704 850  1 807 877 1 433 684  727 009  931 455 

Total equity  552 205  1 090 576  2 734 040 467 425  1 652 723 

Total capital  2 257 055  2 898 453 4 167 724 1 194 434  2 584 178 

Gearing ratio: debt-capital ratio % 76 62 34 61 36
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued 
34.3 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments carried at fair value are disclosed in accordance to a fair value hierarchy.

The hierarchy has three levels that reflect the significance of the inputs used in measuring fair value. These are as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or 

indirectly derived from prices.

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

R’000 Category

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018

Other loans and 

receivables  

– non-current AC  7 900  7 393  14 007  –    100 3

Other loans and 

receivables  

– current AC  –    796  7 191  –    –   *

Trade and other 

receivables AC  1 223 751  1 227 482  1 469 279  6 046  6 078 *

Cash and cash 

equivalents AC  765 668  571 444  360 218  491 116  292 545 *

1 997 319  1 807 115  1 850 695  497 163  298 723 

Contingent consideration 

(vendor loan) FV 74 828 71 975 87 143 – – 3

Borrowings –  

non-current AC 393 424 908 852 25 592 294 125 781 000 3

Borrowings – current AC  1 409 714  939 687  1 397 536  924 000  443 000 *

Trade and other 

payables AC  1 121 405  921 572  1 066 289  59 840  59 189 *

Bank overdraft AC  667 380  530 782  370 774  –    –   *

 3 666 751  3 372 868  2 947 354  1 277 965  1 283 189 

* Due to its short term nature, this value approximates fair value.
AC = Loans and receivables at amortised cost
FV = Fair value through profit and loss

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.4 LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet a financial commitment in any location or currency. The group 

manages its liquidity risk through its chief executive officer and chief financial officer supported by the group’s Financial 

Committee (Fincom) through an ongoing review of liquidity forecasts, future commitments and credit facilities. Cash flow 

forecasting is performed by the operating units of the group and consolidated by the office of the chief financial officer. 

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer monitor the rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity requirements to 

ensure it has sufficient cash and facilities to meet operational needs. Such forecasting takes into consideration the group’s 

covenant compliance and applicable, external regulatory or legal requirements. 

The following table details the group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial assets and liabilities:

GROUP

F2019
R’000

Within
1 – 6 months

Within
7 – 12 months

Within
1 – 2 years

Within
2 – 5 years

Greater
than 

5 years Total

As at 31 August 2019

Assets as per the statement  
of financial position

Loans and receivables –  –   – –  7 900 7 900

Trade and related debtors  457 042 70 797 – – – 527 839

Contract and related debtors  604 930 264 568 – – – 869 499

Cash and cash equivalents  762 365  3 303 –  – – 765 668

 1 824 337 338 668 – –  7 900 2 170 906

Liabilities as per the 
statement of  
financial position

Contingent consideration 

(vendor loan) –  –   74 828 – – 74 828

Borrowings – long term –  –   31 433 67 866 294 125 393 424

Borrowings – short term  1 393 435  16 279 –  –  –   1 409 714

Trade and other payables  933 613 187 792  – –  –   1 121 405

Bank overdraft  654 716  12 664 –  –  –   667 380

2 981 764 216 735 106 261 67 866  294 125 3 666 731
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.4 LIQUIDITY RISK continued

GROUP

F2018
R’000

Within
1 – 6 months

Within
7 – 12 months

Within
1 – 2 years

Within
2 – 5 years

Greater
than 

5 years Total

As at 31 August 2018, Restated

Assets as per the statement  
of financial position

Loans and receivables  100  –  922  –    7 167 8 189

Trade and related debtors  418 937  198 130  –  –   –   617 067

Contract and related debtors  340 122  475 355  – –  –    815 477

Cash and cash equivalents  559 623 11 822  – –   – 571 444

 1 318 782  685 307  922  –  7 167 2 012 177

Liabilities as per the 
statement of  
financial position

Contingent consideration 

(vendor loan) _ – – 71 975 – 71 975

Borrowings – long term – –  339 924  268 928 300 000  908 852

Borrowings – short term  483 060  456 627 – –   –   939 687

Trade and other payables  820 722 100 850 –  –     –    921 572

Bank overdraft  481 255 49527   –   –    –  530 782

 1 785 037 607 004 339 924 340 903 300 000 3 372 868

GROUP

F2017
R’000

Within
1 – 6 months

Within
7 – 12 months

Within
1 – 2 years

Within
2 – 5 years

Greater
than 

5 years Total

As at 31 August 2017, Restated

Assets as per the statement  
of financial position

Loans and receivables  7 967  9 454  733 –  3 044 21 198

Trade and related debtors  409 963  37 743  – –   6 127 453 833

Contract and related debtors  490 940 613 572 – –  –    1 104 512

Cash and cash equivalents  360 218  –  –  –   – 360 218

 1 269 088 660 769 733 –  9 171 1 939 761

Liabilities as per the 
statement of  
financial position

Contingent consideration 

(vendor loan) _ – – 87 143 – 87 143

Borrowings – long term – – 15 950 9 642  –   25 592

Borrowings – short term  1 390 702  6 834 –   –   –   1 397 536

Trade and other payables  707 667 358 622 –    –  – 1 066 289

Bank overdraft  320 147 50 627  – –  –  370 774

 2 418 516 416 083 15 950 96 785 – 2 947 334
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.4 LIQUIDITY RISK continued

COMPANY

F2019
R’000

Within
1 – 6 months

Within
7 – 12 months

Within
1 – 2 years

Within
2 – 5 years

Greater
than 

5 years Total

As at 31 August 2019

Assets as per the statement  
of financial position

Loans to group companies –  –    –    –   298 617  298 617

Trade and related debtors  13 946 – – – – 13 946

Cash and cash equivalents  491 116 –  –  –  –  491 116

505 062 – – – 298 617 803 679

Liabilities as per the statement 
of financial position

Loans from group companies  217 464 – – –   –  217 464

Borrowings – long term –  –    –    –    294 125 294 125

Borrowings – short term  924 000 – – – – 924 000

Trade and other payables 59 840 –  –  –  –  59 840

 1 201 304 – – –  294 125 1 495 429

F2018

As at 31 August 2018

Assets as per the statement  
of financial position

Loans to group companies  1 638 435  –    –    –    –    1 638 435 

Trade and related debtors  10 416  –    –    –    –    10 416

Cash and cash equivalents  292 545  –    –    –    –    292 545

 1 941 396  –    –    –    –    1 941 396

Liabilities as per the statement 
of financial position

Loans from group companies  164 357  –    –    –    –    164 357

Borrowings – long term  –    –    602 000  179 000  –   781 000

Borrowings – short term  –    443 000  –    –    –    443 000

Trade and other payables 59 189  –    –    –    –   59 189

223 546  443 000  602 000  179 000  –   1 447 546
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.5 INTEREST RATE RISK

The group is exposed to interest rate risk through its cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing short term and non-

current liabilities. Short term interest rate exposure is monitored and managed by corporate treasury and may be hedged from 

time to time through the use of financial instruments.

A sensitivity analysis has been performed to monitor the effect of changes in interest rates.

The analysis below depicts the effect on profit before taxation assuming changes in interest rates:

R’000

Decrease in rate resulting 
in an increase in profit 

before taxation

Increase in rate resulting in 
a  decrease in profit 

before taxation

2019
Restated

2018 2019
Restated

2018

Description 

Assuming 1% movement in JIBAR rate  10 331 10 546  (10 331)  (10 546)

Assuming 1% movement in SA prime borrowing rate 6 816 6 541 (6 816)  (6 541) 

Assuming 1% movement in LIBOR rate 840 1 355  (840)  (1 355)

34.6 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss should any of the group’s counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations.

Financial instruments which potentially subject the group to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash 

equivalents, trade receivables including amounts due from contract customers, retention debtors and trade debtors. With 

regard to cash and cash equivalents, the group deals primarily with major financial institutions in South Africa and over-border.

The group’s cash and cash equivalents at year-end were held in accounts with financial institutions with the following credit 

ratings:

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial institution credit rating

Aa3  341  48 – – 

B3  14 932  27 115 – – 

Ba1  130  127 – – 

Baa3  78 703  (31 961)  491 116  292 545 

Unrated  4 182  45 333 – – 

Cash and cash equivalents – net  98 288  40 662  491 116  292 545 

Loans provided to group companies are of a long-term nature without contractual repayment arrangements.

In determining the recoverability of a loan provided, the group considers frequency of repayment, financial performance of the 

associate and/or joint arrangement and contractual agreements.

The group’s customers are concentrated primarily in South Africa but also exist in the rest of Africa and the Middle East. 

The majority of the customers are concentrated in the industrial, resource and public sectors. The group establishes a provision 

for impairment based on factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, historical trends and other information.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.6 CREDIT RISK continued

For trade debtors, estimates are determined with reference to past default experience. Before accepting new trade debtors, use 

is made of local external credit agencies, where necessary, to assess the potential customer’s credit quality. Credit limits are 

defined by trade debtors and are regularly reviewed.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade 

receivable from the date credit was granted up to the reporting date. The directors believe that there is no further credit 

provision required in excess of the allowed provision for impairment of the trade receivable. Management do not expect a loss 

from fully performing financial assets.

Where appropriate, the group obtains appropriate collateral to mitigate risk. 

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into 

consideration any collateral provided. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of guarantees issued is the maximum 

amount the group may need to pay under the guarantees, refer to note 32.

The group has the following amounts due from its top five debtors:

GROUP

Value of
debtors

R’000

% of total
trade and

other
receivables

%

% of total
revenue

%

Value of
debtors

paid since
year-end

date at 
related 

reporting 
date

R’000

2019 622 904 45 20 336 312

2018 594 249 41 19 22 059

2017 877 540 45 25 516 811

The group has the following credit risk per geographical segment:

R’000

GROUP COMPANY

2019
Restated

2018
Restated

2017 2019 2018

Gross value of trade and other receivables

South Africa 704 750 464 560 896 438  13 946  10 416 

Rest of Africa 557 583 717 440 558 784 – 

Rest of the world 135 004 250 544 103 123 – 

1 397 337 1 432 544 1 558 345  13 946  10 416 
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.7 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The group, through foreign entities, conducts business in various foreign currencies. As a result, it is subject to the transaction 

exposure that arises from foreign exchange rate movements between the dates that currency other than functional currency 

are recorded (foreign sales and purchases) and the dates they are consummated (cash receipts and cash disbursements 

in foreign currencies). The group may, from time to time, hedge its foreign currency exposures for either purchase or sale 

transactions through the use of foreign currency forward exchange contracts. Foreign currency denominated construction 

contracts entered into are primarily US Dollar-based in terms of revenue and cost but exposure exists primarily to US Dollar 

and Botswana Pula. 

Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through settling of 

liabilities in the relevant currencies. Limited foreign currency forward exchange contracts were entered into during the current 

year. No hedge accounting has been applied.

The carrying amount of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at statement of financial 

position date is as follows:

GROUP 2019

F2019
R’000 Rand US Dollar

Botswana
Pula Other Total

Assets as per the statement of  
financial position 

Loans and receivables  7 900 – – –  7 900 

Trade and other related debtors  216 115  173 968  46 104  91 652  527 839 

Contract and related debtors  519 607  185 201  92 458  72 231  869 498 

Cash and cash equivalents  616 207  112 112  3 123  34 227  765 668 

 1 359 829  471 280  141 685 198 110  2 170 905 

Liabilities as per the statement of  
financial position

Contingent consideration (vendor loan) – 74 828 – –  74 828

Borrowings – non-current  391 802 1 621 – –  393 424

Borrowings – current  1 324 695  85 019 – –  1 409 714 

Trade and other payables  737 330  122 263  91 126  170 686  1 121 405 

Bank overdraft  281 991  385 072 –  317  667 380 

 2 735 818  668 804 91 126  171 003  3 666 751

Net exposure  (1 375 989)  (197 524) 50 559  27 106  (1 495 846)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.7 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK continued

GROUP RESTATED 2018

F2018
R’000 Rand US Dollar

Botswana
Pula Other Total

Assets as per the statement of  
financial position 

Loans and receivables  8 189 –  – –  8 189 

Trade and related debtors  114 816  401 390  3 036  97 825  617 067 

Contract and related debtors  375 208  223 926  41 553  174 790  815 477 

Cash and cash equivalents  415 396  155 847 –  201  571 444 

913 609 781 163 44 589 272 816 2 012 177

Liabilities as per the statement of  
financial position

Contingent consideration (vendor loan) – 71 975 – – 71 975 

Borrowings – non-current  908 852  – – –  908 852 

Borrowings – current  938 327  1 360 – –  939 687

Trade and other payables  808 819  112 753 – –  921 572 

Bank overdraft 252 340  278 442 – –  530 782 

 2 908 338  464 529  – –  3 372 868

Net exposure  (1 081 147)  346 804  44 589 272 816  (1 360 691)
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.7 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK continued

GROUP RESTATED 2017

F2017
R’000 Rand US Dollar

Botswana
Pula Other Total

Financial instrument

Assets as per the statement of  
financial position  

Loans and receivables  21 198 – – –  21 198 

Trade and related debtors  152 856  280 475  2 667  17 835  453 833 

Contract and related debtors  720 825  307 086  50 580  26 021  1 104 512 

Cash and cash equivalents  196 159  162 297 –  1 763  360 218 

1 091 038 749 857 53 247 45 619  1 939 761 

Liabilities as per the statement of  
financial position

Contingent consideration (vendor loan)  – 87 143 – – 87 143

Borrowings – non-current  25 592  – – – 25 592 

Borrowings – current  1 397 536 –   – –  1 397 536 

Trade and other payables  693 553  181 557  10 408  180 772  1 066 289 

Bank overdraft  296 307  74 467 – –  370 774 

 2 412 988  343 167 10 408 180 772 2 947 334

Net exposure  (1 321 950) 406 690 42 839 (135 153) (1 007 573)

The group has certain investments in foreign operations whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. 

Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through the earnings in 

the relevant foreign currencies.

Profit/(loss) sensitivity to movement of exchange rates based on assets and liabilities as at the reporting date

Sensitivity analyses have been performed to monitor the financial effect of changes in foreign exchange rates. The analysis 

below depicts the effect on profit before taxation should the exchange rate strengthen or weaken by 1% based on the assets 

and liabilities as at the reporting date. The exchange rates applicable to the group’s primary functional currencies at the current 

and previous reporting year-end are as follows:

GROUP

2019 2018 2017

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

ZAR:USD  15,2  14,7  13,0 

ZAR:Pula  1,4  1,4  1,3 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

34.7 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK continued

Change in exchange rate by 1%

Weakening
in functional

currency
resulting

in an
increase/
(decrease)

in profit
before

taxation
or reserves

R’000

Strengthening
in functional

currency
resulting

in an
increase/
(decrease)

in profit
before

taxation
or reserves

R’000

As at 31 August 2019

Net movement  26 002  (26 002)

Current assets  16 465  (16 465)

Denominated functional currency

ZAR:USD  12 088  (12 088)

ZAR:BWP  4 377  (4 377)

Current liabilities  9 537  (9 537)

Denominated functional currency

ZAR:USD  3 502  (3 502)

ZAR:BWP  6 035  (6 035)

As at 31 August 2018

Net movement  34 134  (34 134)

Current assets  22 527  (22 527)

Denominated functional currency

ZAR:USD  20 764  (20 764)

ZAR:BWP  1 763  (1 763)

Current liabilities  11 607  (11 607)

Denominated functional currency

ZAR:USD  9 823  (9 823)

ZAR:BWP  1 784  (1 784)

As at 31 August 2017

Net movement  27 334  (27 334)

Current assets  19 064  (19 064)

Denominated functional currency

ZAR:USD  17 678  (17 678)

ZAR:BWP  1 386  (1 386)

Current liabilities  8 270  (8 270)

Denominated functional currency

ZAR:USD  7 224  (7 224)

ZAR:BWP  1 046  (1 046)
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35. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

R’000

GROUP

2019 2018

Revenue EBITDA* Revenue EBITDA*

Building Materials (2)  483 410  42 001  515 701  76 175 

Power  2 446 243  (637 685)  2 361 694  (459 506)

Conco (1)  1 923 173  (725 326)  1 664 380  (702 267)

Conlog (2)  488 157  106 871  656 075  232 430 

Other (1)  34 913  (19 230)  41 239  10 331 

Rail (1)  238 921  (107 338)  259 123  (40 966)

Corporate  –    (114 936)  –    (169 002)

Total  3 168 574  (817 958)  3 136 518  (593 299)

Reconciliation from EBITDA* to loss after taxation

EBITDA*  (817 958)  (593 299)

Amortisation and depreciation  (105 485)  (115 746)

Impairment of goodwill  (66 241)  (472 490)

Loss from equity-accounted investments  (29 056)  (85 421)

Finance cost – net  (260 642)  (222 129)

Taxation  (63 603)  (187 882)

Other – (1 026)

Loss after taxation  (1 342 985)  (1 677 993)

*  Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

This measure is used by the chief operating decision maker as the benchmark of profitability. 

The segmental information presented includes a reconciliation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

measures presented on the face of the income statement to non-IFRS measures like EBITDA, which are used by the chief 

operating decision makers (who are the managing director of the business units) to analyse the group’s performance. 

R’000

GROUP

2019 2018

Revenue recognised over time (1)  2 197 008  1 964 742 

Revenue recognised at a point in time (2)  971 567  1 171 776 

Total  3 168 575  3 136 518 

R’000

GROUP

2019 2018

Total
assets

Total
liabilities

Total
assets

Total
liabilities

Building Materials  673 085  (152 702) 738 909  (129 830)

Power  2 823 185  (2 616 565) 3 168 019  (2 546 489)

Conco  1 595 613  (2 361 090) 1 866 079  (2 258 865)

Conlog  1 179 829  (250 592) 1 202 698  (271 551)

Other  47 743  (4 883)  99 242  (16 073)

Oil & Gas  532 031  –   563 558 –

Rail  211 039  (119 729) 286 761  (144 052)

Corporate  583 104  (1 381 242) 574 681  (1 420 982)

Total  4 822 444  (4 270 239)  5 331 929  (4 241 353)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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35. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION continued

R’000

GROUP

2019 2018

Revenue

South Africa  1 234 853  1 660 124 

Rest of Africa 1 862 195  1 454 147 

Rest of the world  71 526  22 247 

Total  3 168 574  3 136 518 

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

GROUP COMPANY

2019 2018 2019 2018

Reconciliation of share options
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  4 997 175  4 997 175  3 952 069  3 952 069 

Expired during the year  –    –    –    –   

Exercised during the year  –    –    –    –   

Outstanding at the end of the year  4 997 175  4 997 175  3 952 069  3 952 069 

R’000
Equity-settled share option payment expense recognised  

in employee costs  –    11 548  –    4 458 

Value of the equity-settled share options exercised  

during the year  –    –    –    –   

Value of the equity-settled share options included in  

the share-based payment reserve at year-end  60 958  60 958 24 318 24 318

First grant Second grant Third grant Fourth grant

Director share option scheme

Grant date 10 December 2010 1 September 2011 1 September 2012 1 September 2013

Number of options granted 2 563 158 900 465 637 380 466 667

Vesting period 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years

Vesting conditions 16% real growth 

in earnings to be 

achieved for 100% 

of options to vest

16% real growth 

in earnings to be 

achieved for 100% 

of options to vest

16% real growth 

in earnings to be 

achieved for 100% 

of options to vest

16% real growth 

in earnings to be 

achieved for 100% 

of options to vest

Expiry date 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years

The fair value of the options was 

calculated using the Black-Scholes 

option model and was based on the 

following inputs:

Weighted average share price 

at issue date R8,34 R8,56 R13,15 R19,80 

Expected volatility 30% 30% 30% 30%

Exercise price R5,38 R8,59 R12,52 R19,26 

Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil

Risk-free interest rate 5% 5% 5% 5%

Remaining vesting period Nil years Nil years Nil years Nil years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued

First grant Second grant Third grant Fourth grant

Non-director share option scheme

Grant date 11 April 2011

Number of options granted 1 050 000

Vesting period 4 years

Vesting conditions Continued 

employment 

required during 

vesting period

Expiry date 10 years

The fair value of the options was 

calculated using the Black-Scholes 

option model and was based on the 

following inputs:

Weighted average share price 

at issue date R8,00

Expected volatility 30% 

Exercise price R7,00

Expected dividends Nil

Risk-free interest rate 5%

Remaining vesting period Nil years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.

First grant Second grant Third grant

Conco employee option scheme

Grant date 11 April 2011 1 September 2012 1 September 2013

Number of options granted 1 010 000 1 000 000 948 227

Vesting period 4 years 4 years 4 years

Vesting conditions 15% real growth in Conco 

EBITDA to be achieved for 

100% of options to vest

15% real growth in Conco 

EBITDA to be achieved for 

100% of options to vest

15% real growth in Conco 

EBITDA to be achieved for 

100% of options to vest

Expiry date 10 years 10 years 10 years

The fair value of the options was 

calculated using the Black-Scholes 

option model and was based on the 

following inputs:

Weighted average share price 

at issue date R8,00 R13,15 R19,80 

Expected volatility 30% 30% 30%

Exercise price R8,00 R12,52 R19,26 

Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil

Risk-free interest rate 5% 5% 5%

Remaining vesting period Nil years Nil years Nil years

Expected volatility was based to a large extent on historical volatility.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued

Awards made under the 2014 share plan as at 31 August 2017.

First grant Second grant Third grant

Share appreciation rights
Grant date 1 August 2015 29 February 2016 28 February 2017
Number of rights granted 520 703 717 032 210 313
Strike price R31,13 R27,06 R23,29
Final expiry 7 years 7 years 7 years
Risk-free rate 6,0% 6,0% 6,0%
Dividend yield Nil Nil Nil
Portion vesting One third per annum One third per annum One third per annum
Exercisable On third, fourth and fifth 

anniversary after vesting
On third, fourth and fifth 
anniversary after vesting

On third, fourth and fifth 
anniversary after vesting

Performance criteria 15% growth in earnings 
per annum

15% growth in earnings 
per annum

15% growth in earnings 
per annum

Black-Scholes option model fair 
value using the above criteria R14,49 R9,93 R9,59

Performance shares
Grant date 1 August 2015 29 February 2016 28 February 2017
Number of shares granted 250 104 344 853 99 071
Strike price R31,13 R27,06 R23,29
Final expiry 3 years 3 years 3 years
Risk-free rate 6,0% 6,0% 6,0%
Dividend yield Nil Nil Nil
Portion vesting On third anniversary 

following award. 
An assessment of 
performance against peer 
group will be conducted 
to determine the number 
of performance shares 
earned

On third anniversary 
following award. 
An assessment of 
performance against peer 
group will be conducted 
to determine the number 
of performance shares 
earned

On third anniversary 
following award. 
An assessment of 
performance against peer 
group will be conducted 
to determine the number 
of performance shares 
earned

Black-Scholes option model fair 
value using the above criteria R32,70 R27,06 R23,29
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ANNEXURE A – INTEREST IN PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECT AND INDIRECT

Company Notes Country 

%
 shareholding

Building materials segment

Drift Supersand Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 74

Drift Supersand Mining Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Quarry Cats Mining License Laezonia Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Suldane Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

West End Claybrick Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Power segment – Conco

Consolidated Power Projects Group South Africa Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Consolidated Power Projects Energy Solutions Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Consolidated Power Projects & Investments Proprietary Limited Botswana 100

Consolidated Power Projects (Limited Liability Company) Saudi Arabia 100

Consolidated Power Projects Proprietary Limited -Swaziland branch Swaziland 100

Consolidated Power Swaziland Proprietary Limited Swaziland 100

Consolidated Power Projects DRC SPRL DRC 99.9

CPP South Africa Botswana Branch Botswana 100

Consolidated Power Projects (Burkina Faso) Limited SASU Burkina Faso 100

Consolidated Power Projects CI SASU Ivory Coast 100

Conco Power Projects Limited Kenya 100

Consolidated Power Projects Group Africa Limited Mauritius 100

Consolidated Power Projects Group Africa Limited  - Ethiopia branch Ethiopia 100

Conco Power Projects Tanzania Limited Tanzania 100

Consolidated Power Projects Namibia Proprietary Limited Nambia 80

Consolidated Power Projects (Zambia) Limited Zambia 100

Consolidated Power Projects International SA Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Consolidated Gulf Power Projects LLC UAE 49

Consolidated Gulf Power Project LLC Oman 100

Conco Power Projects (Ghana) Limited Ghana 100

Consolidated Power Projects International Proprietary Limited Mauritius 100

Consolidated Power Projects Procurement International Ltd Mauritius 100

Power segment – Conlog

Conlog Proprietary Limited (RF)* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Conlog International Mauritius 100

Conlog Meter Solutions Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100

Parmtro Investments No 11 Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Power segment – Other

CIGenCo SA Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Consolidated Power Maintenance Investments Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Consolidated Power Maintenance Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Oil & Gas segment

Consolidated Infrastructure Group Angola 1 Mauritius 100

Rail segment

Tractionel Maintenance Services Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Tension Overhead Electrification Proprietary Limited* 14 and 19 South Africa 100

Overhead Track Supplies Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Corporate

Consolidated Infrastructure Group International* 14 and 19 Mauritius 100

*  Direct subsidiary of the company.
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R’000

2019

Revenue EBITDA*

 Depreciation,
amortisation

and
impairments

Capital 
expenditure

Finance cost
– net

Building Materials  483 410  42 001  (95 671)  20 410  (10 010)

Power  2 446 243  (637 685)  (110 361)  97 800  (123 497)

Conco  1 923 173  (725 326)  (62 948)  3 034  (125 175)

Conlog  488 157  106 871  (36 502)  64 253  6 081 

Other  34 913  (19 230)  (3 422)  654  (4 404)

Rail  238 921  (107 338)  (4 566)  575  (13 579)

Corporate  –    (114 936)  (516)  412  (113 556)

Total  3 168 574  (817 958)  (211 113)  11 495 (260 642)

* Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

R’000

2019

Property,
plant and

equipment

Other
non-current

assets
 Current

assets
Total

assets
Non-current

liabilities
Current

liabilities
Total

liabilities

Building 

Materials  333 142 19 995  307 045 660 183  (52 232)  (100 470)  (152 702)

Power  153 931  745 882  1 963 298  2 863 111  (105 581)  (2 510 984)  (2 616 565)

Conco  78 200 1 816  1 555 523  1 635 539  (2 247)  (2 358 843)  (2 361 090)

Conlog  74 063  713 504  392 262  1 179 829  (103 057)  (147 535)  (250 592)

Other  1 668  30 562  15 513  47 743  (277)  (4 606)  (4 883)

Oil & Gas  –    532 031  –    532 031  –    –    –   

Rail  32 540 –  144 409 176 949  (3 553)  (116 176)  (119 729)

Corporate  1 455 –  588 714 590 169  (404 064)  (977 180)  (1 381 241)

Total 521 068  1 297 910 3 003 467 4 822 444  (565 430)  (3 704 810)  (4 270 738)

ANNEXURE B – GROUP SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
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R’000

2018

Revenue EBITDA*

 Depreciation,
amortisation

and
impairments

Capital 
expenditure

Finance cost
– net

Building Materials  515 701  76 175  (28 137)  66 171  (5 973)

Power  2 361 694  (459 506)  (99 240)  21 562  (98 384)

Conco  1 664 380  (702 267)  (75 497)  10 067  (100 131)

Conlog  656 075  232 430  (22 310)  11 122  5 069 

Other  41 239  10 331  (1 432)  373  (3 322)

Rail  259 123  (40 966)  (5 440)  2 527  (13 766)

Corporate  –    (169 002)  (455 420)  1 514  (104 005)

Total  3 136 518  (593 299)  (588 237)  91 774  (222 129)

* Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

R’000

2018

Property,
plant and

equipment

Other
non-current

assets
 Current

assets
Total

assets
Non-current

liabilities
Current

liabilities
Total

liabilities

Building 

Materials  343 186 97 748 297 975 738 909  (49 651)  (80 179)  (129 830)

Power  144 939 709 453 2 313 623 3 168 019 (165 891) (2 380 598) (2 546 489)

Conco  127 482 40 490 1 698 103 1 866 079 (41 006) (2 217 859) (2 258 865)

Conlog  14 980 624 562 563 156 1 202 698 (124 885) (146 666) (271 551)

Other  2 477 44 401 52 364 99 242 – (16 073) (16 073)

Oil & Gas  –   563 558  –   563 558 –  –   –

Rail  37 299 50 371 199 091 286 761 (6 941) (137 111) (144 052)

Corporate  1 560 59 646 513 475 574 681 (852 975) (568 007) (1 420 982)

Total  526 984  1 480 776  3 324 164  5 331 929  (1 075 458)  (3 165 895)  (4 241 353)

ANNEXURE B – GROUP SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS continued
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ANNEXURE C – ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
as at 31 August 2018

Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of issued
capital

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
1 – 1 000 1 351 48,61 423 792 0,11 

1 001 – 10 000 984 35,41 3 562 689 0,89 

10 001 – 100 000 336 12,09 10 184 940 2,53 

100 001 – 1 000 000 73 2,63 21 118 932 5,25 

Over 1 000 000 35 1,26 366 800 716 91,22 

Total 2 779 100,00 402 091 069 100,00 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Assurance companies 3 0,11 1 041 368 0,26 

Empowerment entity 1 0,03 15 060 112 3,75 

Close corporations 27 0,97 668 402 0,17 

Collective investment schemes 22 0,79 50 464 131 12,55 

Control accounts 1 0,03 2 0,00 

Custodians 12 0,43 188 981 693 47,00 

Foundations and charitable funds 10 0,36 2 299 289 0,57 

Hedge funds 1 0,03 360 000 0,09 

Insurance companies 1 0,03 2 249 568 0,56 

Investment partnerships 21 0,76 129 170 0,03 

Managed funds 13 0,47 5 869 066 1,46 

Private companies 97 3,49 76 218 108 18,96 

Public companies 2 0,07 28 488 0,01 

Retail shareholders 2 391 86,04 28 414 101 7,07 

Retirement benefit funds 10 0,36 6 927 375 1,72 

Scrip lending 2 0,07 471 325 0,12 

Sovereign funds 1 0,03 8 257 0,00 

Stockbrokers and nominees 17 0,61 11 264 907 2,80 

Treasury 1 0,03 5 932 055 1,48 

Trusts 146 5,25 5 703 652 1,42 

Total 2 779 100,00 402 091 069 100,00 

SHAREHOLDER TYPE
Non-public shareholders 7 0,24 320 689 053 79,76

Directors of the company 2 0,07 75 989 597 18,90 

Treasury shares 1 0,03 5 932 055 1,48 

Empowerment entity 1 0,03 15 060 112 3,75

Beneficial holder with a holding > 3% 3 0,11 223 707 289 55,64 

Public shareholders 2 772 99,76 81 402 016 20,24 

Total 2 779 100,00 402 091 069 100,00 
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Number of
shares

% of issued
capital

FUND MANAGERS WITH A HOLDING GREATER  
THAN 3% OF THE ISSUED SHARES
Fairfax Africa Investments Proprietary Limited 15 527 128 3,86 

Old Mutual Investment Group 15 443 346 3,84 

Investec Asset Management 14 953 777 3,72 

Total 45 924 251 11,42 

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS WITH A HOLDING GREATER 
THAN 3% OF THE ISSUED SHARES
Bank of New York (custodian on behalf of Fairfax) 178 995 353 44,52 

PGR 2 Investment Proprietary Limited 55 300 920 13,75 

Fairfax Africa Investments Proprietary Limited 15 527 128 3,86 

Investec 15 292 762 3,80 

Nala Empowerment Investment Company Proprietary Limited 15 060 112 3,75 

Old Mutual Group 13 892 046 3,45 

Melco Investments Limited 12 327 016 3,07 

Total 306 395 337 76,20 

NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS BREAKDOWN
Directors of the company

R Gamsu  4 960 999  1,23 

S Melnick  71 028 598  17,66 

 75 989 597  18,90 

Treasury shares

Consolidated Infrastructure Group Limited  5 932 055 1,48

Empowerment entity 

Nala Empowerment Investment Company Proprietary Limited  15 060 112  3,75 

Beneficial shareholder with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

Fairfax Africa Investments Proprietary Limited 15 527 128 3,86

Bank of New York (custodian on behalf of Fairfax) 178 995 353 44,52

Investec 15 292 762 3,80

Old Mutual Group 13 892 046 3,45

Total 223 707 289 55,64

ANNEXURE C – ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS continued



CONTACT DETAILS

COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION  
AND DOMICILE
Republic of South Africa

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND  
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Turnkey contractor for the electricity supply industry, 

supplier of heavy building materials to the construction 

industry and supplier of oil waste management services. 

DIRECTORS
RD Gamsu (Chief executive officer)
C Teixeira (Chief financial officer)
M Wilkerson (Chairman)**+

R Hogarth*

J Beck*&

K Bucknor#*

T Hudson**+

Dr K Kariuki*°

A Mazar**^

Q McLean**&

S Melnick**~

J Nwokedi*

* Independent non-executive
** Non-executive
# Ghanaian
° Kenyan
+ American
^ Pakistani
~ British
& Canadian

REGISTERED OFFICE
First Floor, 30 Melrose Boulevard

Melrose Arch 2196

PO Box 651455, Benmore 2010

COMPANY SECRETARY
CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited

Registration number: 2006/024994/07

Rosebank Towers 

15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

4 Lisbon Lane

Waterfall City

Jukskei View, 2090

SPONSOR
Java Capital Trustees and Sponsors Proprietary Limited

Registration number: 2006/005780/07

6A Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandton 2196

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

Registration number: 2004/003647/07

Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Singular Systems IR

25 Scott Street, Waverley 2090
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